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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

ý
QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the quarterly period ended June 30, 2018

or
o TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from _______________________to____________________________

Commission File No. 000-53177

Ridgewood Energy W Fund, LLC
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware
(State or other jurisdiction of
incorporation or organization)

26-0225130
(I.R.S. Employer

Identification No.)

14 Philips Parkway, Montvale, NJ 07645
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip code)

(800) 942-5550
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports),
and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.
Yes ☒ No ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive
Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12
months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes ☒ No ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting
company, or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting
company,” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer ☐ Accelerated filer ☐
Non-accelerated filer
(Do not check if a smaller reporting company) ☐ Smaller reporting company

Emerging growth company
☒
☐

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for
complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes ☐ No ☒
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As of August 14, 2018 there were 332.2918 shares of LLC Membership Interest outstanding.
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PART I – FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RIDGEWOOD ENERGY W FUND, LLC
UNAUDITED CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except share data)

June 30, 2018 December 31, 2017
Assets

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 3,762 $ 2,056
Salvage fund 37 1,623
Production receivable 820 1,175
Other current assets - 72

Total current assets 4,619 4,926
Salvage fund 2,423 699
Oil and gas properties:

Proved properties 44,586 42,646
Less: accumulated depletion and amortization (26,205) (23,119)

Total oil and gas properties, net 18,381 19,527
Total assets $ 25,423 $ 25,152

Liabilities and Members' Capital
Current liabilities:

Due to operators $ 1,226 $ 1,072
Accrued expenses 32 46
Current portion of long-term borrowings 2,932 3,051
Asset retirement obligations 37 1,623
Other current liabilities 60 60

Total current liabilities 4,287 5,852
Long-term borrowings 4,345 5,411
Asset retirement obligations 1,986 385

Total liabilities 10,618 11,648
Commitments and contingencies (Note 5)
Members' capital:

Manager:
Distributions (7,964) (7,964)
Retained earnings 9,408 8,730
Manager's total 1,444 766

Shareholders:
Capital contributions (625 shares authorized;

332.2918 issued and outstanding) 65,965 65,965
Syndication costs (7,823) (7,823)
Distributions (48,463) (48,463)
Retained earnings 3,682 3,059
Shareholders' total 13,361 12,738
Total members' capital 14,805 13,504
Total liabilities and members' capital $ 25,423 $ 25,152

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed financial statements.
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RIDGEWOOD ENERGY W FUND, LLC
UNAUDITED CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(in thousands, except per share data)

Three months ended June 30, Six months ended June 30,
2018 2017 2018 2017

Revenue
Oil and gas revenue $ 2,642 $ 1,862 $ 5,954 $ 3,901

Expenses
Depletion and amortization 1,508 1,872 3,086 3,585
Management fees to affiliate (Note 3) 225 225 450 450
Operating expenses 349 355 683 735
General and administrative expenses 50 50 98 93

Total expenses 2,132 2,502 4,317 4,863
Income (loss) from operations 510 (640) 1,637 (962)

Interest expense, net (168) (234) (336) (468)
Net income (loss) $ 342 $ (874) $ 1,301 $ (1,430)

Manager Interest
Net income $ 288 $ 169 $ 678 $ 363

Shareholder Interest
Net income (loss) $ 54 $ (1,043) $ 623 $ (1,793)
Net income (loss) per share $ 163 $ (3,137) $ 1,875 $ (5,393)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed financial statements.
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RIDGEWOOD ENERGY W FUND, LLC
UNAUDITED CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)

Six months ended June 30,
2018 2017

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income (loss) $ 1,301 $ (1,430)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash

provided by operating activities:
Depletion and amortization 3,086 3,585
Accretion expense 13 58
Amortization of debt discounts and deferred financing costs - 70
Changes in assets and liabilities:

Decrease in production receivable 355 175
Decrease in other current assets 72 137
(Decrease) increase in due to operators (121) 22
Decrease in accrued expenses (14) (132)
Net cash provided by operating activities 4,692 2,485

Cash flows from investing activities
Capital expenditures for oil and gas properties (1,663) (2,484)
Increase in salvage fund (138) (1)

Net cash used in investing activities (1,801) (2,485)

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of long-term borrowings (1,185) -

Net cash used in financing activities (1,185) -

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,706 -
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 2,056 2,794
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 3,762 $ 2,794

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Cash paid for interest, net of amounts capitalized $ 340 $ 526

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing activities
Due to operators for accrued capital expenditures for
oil and gas properties $ 1,025 $ 238

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed financial statements.
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RIDGEWOOD ENERGY W FUND, LLC
NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Organization
The Ridgewood Energy W Fund, LLC (the “Fund”), a Delaware limited liability company, was formed on May 17, 2007 and operates
pursuant to a limited liability company agreement (the “LLC Agreement”) dated as of June 15, 2007 by and among Ridgewood Energy
Corporation (the “Manager”) and the shareholders of the Fund, which addresses matters such as the authority and voting rights of the
Manager and shareholders, capitalization, transferability of membership interests, participation in costs and revenues, distribution of
assets and dissolution and winding up. The Fund was organized to primarily acquire interests in oil and gas properties located in the
United States offshore waters of Texas, Louisiana and Alabama in the Gulf of Mexico.

The Manager has direct and exclusive control over the management of the Fund’s operations. The Manager performs, or arranges for
the performance of, the management, advisory and administrative services required for the Fund’s operations. Such services include,
without limitation, the administration of shareholder accounts, shareholder relations, the preparation, review and dissemination of tax and
other financial information and the management of the Fund’s investments in projects. In addition, the Manager provides office space,
equipment and facilities and other services necessary for the Fund’s operations. The Manager also engages and manages contractual
relations with unaffiliated custodians, depositories, accountants, attorneys, corporate fiduciaries, insurers, banks and others as required.
See Notes 3, 4 and 5.

Basis of Presentation
These unaudited interim condensed financial statements have been prepared by the Fund’s management in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) and in the opinion of management, contain all adjustments
(consisting of only normal recurring adjustments) necessary to present fairly the Fund’s financial position, results of operations and cash
flows for the periods presented. Certain information and note disclosures normally included in annual financial statements prepared in
accordance with GAAP have been omitted in these unaudited interim condensed financial statements. The results of operations, financial
position, and cash flows for the periods presented herein are not necessarily indicative of future financial results. These unaudited interim
condensed financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Fund’s December 31, 2017 financial statements and notes thereto
included in the Fund’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (“2017 Annual Report”) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(“SEC”). The year-end condensed balance sheet data was derived from audited financial statements for the year ended December 31,
2017, but does not include all annual disclosures required by GAAP.

Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenue and expense during the reporting period. On an ongoing basis, the Manager reviews its estimates, including
those related to the fair value of financial instruments, depletion and amortization, determination of proved reserves, impairment of long-
lived assets and asset retirement obligations. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The Fund has provided discussion of significant accounting policies in Note 1 of “Notes to Financial Statements” – “Organization and
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” contained in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” within its 2017
Annual Report. There have been no significant changes to the Fund’s significant accounting policies during the three and six months
ended June 30, 2018, except as noted below for revenue recognition. See Note 2. “Revenue Recognition” for discussion of the Fund’s
updated accounting policies related to revenue recognition for revenue from contracts with customers.

Asset Retirement Obligations
For oil and gas properties, there are obligations to perform removal and remediation activities when the properties are retired. Upon the
determination that a property is either proved or dry, a retirement obligation is incurred. The Fund recognizes the fair value of a liability
for an asset retirement obligation in the period incurred. Plug and abandonment costs associated with unsuccessful projects are expensed
as dry-hole costs. Annually, or more frequently if an event occurs that would dictate a change in assumptions or estimates underlying the
obligations, the Fund reassesses its asset retirement obligations to determine whether any revisions to the obligations are necessary. The
Fund maintains a salvage fund to provide for the funding of future asset retirement obligations.
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Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
The Fund reviews the carrying value of its oil and gas properties for impairment whenever events and circumstances indicate that
the recorded carrying value of the assets may not be recoverable. Impairments are determined by comparing estimated future net
undiscounted cash flows to the carrying value of the assets at the time of the review. If the carrying value exceeds the estimated future
net undiscounted cash flows, the carrying value of the asset is written down to estimated fair value, which is determined using a valuation
technique that considers both market and income approaches and using Level 3 inputs. The fair value determinations require considerable
judgment and are sensitive to change. Different pricing assumptions, reserve estimates or discount rates could result in a different
calculated impairment.

There were no impairments of oil and gas properties during each of the three and six months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017. Fluctuations
in oil and natural gas prices may impact the fair value of the Fund’s oil and gas properties. If oil and natural gas prices decline, even if
only for a short period of time, it is possible that impairments of oil and gas properties will occur.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued accounting guidance on revenue recognition (“New Revenue
Standard”), which provides for a single five-step model to be applied to all revenue contracts with customers. In July 2015, the FASB
issued a deferral of the effective date of the New Revenue Standard to 2018, with early adoption permitted in 2017. In March 2016,
the FASB issued accounting guidance, which clarifies the implementation guidance on principal versus agent considerations in the New
Revenue Standard. In April 2016, the FASB issued guidance on identifying performance obligations and licensing and in May 2016, the
FASB issued final amendments which provided narrow scope improvements and practical expedients related to the implementation of the
New Revenue Standard. The New Revenue Standard may be applied either retrospectively or through the use of a modified-retrospective
method. Under the New Revenue Standard, the revenue associated with the Fund’s existing contracts will be recognized in the period
that control of the related commodity is transferred to the customer, which is generally consistent with the Fund’s previous revenue
recognition model. The Fund adopted the New Revenue Standard using the modified retrospective method on January 1, 2018. See Note
2. “Revenue Recognition” for the required disclosures related to the impact of adopting this guidance and a discussion of the Fund’s
updated policies related to revenue recognition for revenue from contracts with customers.

2. Revenue Recognition

The Fund adopted the New Revenue Standard on January 1, 2018 using the modified retrospective method for all new contracts entered
into after January 1, 2018 and all existing contracts for which revenues have not been recognized under the previous revenue guidance
as of December 31, 2017. Although the Fund did not identify changes to its revenue recognition that resulted in a cumulative adjustment
to retained earnings on January 1, 2018, the adoption of the accounting guidance resulted in enhanced disclosures related to revenue
recognition policies, the Fund’s performance obligations and significant judgments used in applying the New Revenue Standard.

Revenue from Contracts with Customers
Oil and gas revenues are recognized at the point when control of oil and natural gas is transferred to the customers. Natural gas liquid
(“NGL”) sales are included within gas sales. The Fund’s oil and natural gas generally is sold to its customers at prevailing market prices
based on an index in which the prices are published, adjusted for pricing differentials, quality of the oil and pipeline allowances.

Oil and Gas Revenue
Generally, the Fund sells oil and natural gas under two types of agreements, which are common in the oil and gas industry. In the first type
of agreement, or a netback agreement, the Fund receives a price, net of pricing differentials as well as transportation expense incurred by
the customer, and the Fund records revenue at the wellhead at the net price received where control transfers to the customer. In the second
type of agreement, the Fund delivers oil and natural gas to the customer at a contractually agreed-upon delivery point where the customer
takes control. The Fund pays a third-party to transport the oil and natural gas and receives a specific market price from the customer net
of pricing adjustments. The Fund records the transportation expense within operating expenses in the statements of operations.
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Under the Fund’s natural gas processing contracts, the Fund delivers natural gas to a midstream processing company at the inlet of
the midstream processing company’s facility. The midstream processing company gathers and processes the natural gas and remits the
proceeds to the Fund for the sale of NGLs. In this type of arrangement, the Fund evaluates whether it is the principal or agent in the
transaction. For those contracts where the Fund concluded that it is the principal and the ultimate third-party purchaser is the customer,
the Fund recognizes revenue on a gross basis, with transportation, gathering and processing fees recorded as an expense within operating
expenses in the statements of operations.

In certain instances, the Fund may elect to take its residue gas and NGLs in-kind at the tailgate of the midstream company’s processing
plant and subsequently market such volumes. Through its marketing process, the Fund delivers the residue gas and NGLs to the ultimate
third-party customer at a contractually agreed-upon delivery point and receives a specified market price from the customer. In this
arrangement, the Fund recognizes revenue when control transfers to the customer at the delivery point based on the market price received
from the customer. The transportation, gathering and processing fees are recorded as expense within operating expenses in the statements
of operations.

The Fund assesses the performance obligations promised in its oil and natural gas contracts based on each unit of oil and natural gas
that will be transferred to its customer because each unit is capable of being distinct. The Fund satisfies its performance obligation when
control transfers at a point in time when its customer is able to direct the use of, and obtain substantially all of the benefits from, the oil
and natural gas delivered. Under each of the Fund’s oil and natural gas contracts, contract prices are variable and based on an index in
which the prices are published, which fluctuate as a result of related industry variables, adjusted for pricing differentials, quality of the oil
and pipeline allowances. The use of index-based pricing with predictable differentials reduces the level of uncertainty related to oil and
gas prices. Additionally, any variable consideration is not constrained. Payments are received in the month following the oil and natural
gas production month. Adjustments that occur after delivery, such as quality bank adjustments, are reflected in revenue in the month
payments are received.

Transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations
Under the Fund’s oil and natural gas contracts, each unit of oil and natural gas represents a separate performance obligation, therefore,
future volumes are wholly unsatisfied and the transaction price related to the remaining performance obligations is the variable index-
based price attributable to each unit of oil and natural gas that is transferred to the customer.

Contract balances
The Fund invoices customers once its performance obligations have been satisfied, at which point the payment is unconditional.
Accordingly, the Fund’s oil and natural gas contracts do not give rise to contract assets or liabilities under the New Revenue Standard.
The receivables related to the Fund’s oil and gas revenue are included within “Production receivable” on the balance sheets.

Prior period performance obligations
The Fund records oil and gas revenue in the month production is delivered to its customers. However, settlement statements for residue
gas and NGLs sales may not be received for 30 to 60 days after the date production is delivered. As a result, the Fund is required to
estimate the amount of production delivered to the purchaser and the price that will be received for the sale of the residue gas and NGLs.
The Fund records the differences between its estimates and the actual amounts received in the month that the payment is received from
the customer. The Fund has an estimation process for revenue and related accruals, and any identified difference between its revenue
estimates and actual revenue historically have not been significant. There was no material revenue recognized in the current period from
performance obligations satisfied in previous periods.

3. Related Parties

Pursuant to the terms of the LLC Agreement, the Manager is entitled to receive an annual management fee, payable monthly, of 2.5% of
total capital contributions, net of cumulative dry-hole and related well costs incurred by the Fund, however, the Manager is permitted to
waive the management fee at its own discretion. Therefore, the management fee may be temporarily waived to accommodate the Fund’s
short-term commitments. Management fees during each of the three and six months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 were $0.2 million and
$0.5 million, respectively.

The Manager is also entitled to receive 15% of the cash distributions from operations made by the Fund. The Fund did not pay
distributions during the three and six months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017.
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The Fund utilizes Beta Sales and Transport, LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Manager, to facilitate the transportation and sale of
oil and natural gas produced from the Beta Project.

At times, short-term payables and receivables, which do not bear interest, arise from transactions with affiliates in the ordinary course of
business.

The Fund has working interest ownership in certain oil and natural gas projects, which are also owned by other entities that are likewise
managed by the Manager.

4. Credit Agreement – Beta Project Financing

On June 1, 2018, the Fund and other participating funds managed by the Manager, Rahr Energy Investments LLC, as administrative
agent and lender (and other lenders that may become a party thereto, collectively “Lenders”), entered into a third amendment (the “Third
Amendment”), effective as of September 1, 2018 (“Third Amendment Effective Date”), to the certain credit agreement, dated as of
November 27, 2012 (as amended by the first amendment to credit agreement, dated September 30, 2016, and the second amendment to
credit agreement and reaffirmation of waiver, dated September 15, 2017, the “Existing Credit Agreement”, and as amended by the Third
Amendment, the “Credit Agreement”).

The Third Amendment extends the loan maturity from December 31, 2020 to December 31, 2022, revises the interest rate and requires a
monthly payment amount based on a fixed percentage of the Fund’s Net Revenue, as defined in the Credit Agreement, derived from the
Beta Project. The fixed percentage and interest rate will be determined based on the Fund’s ratio of outstanding debt to working interest
ownership in the Beta Project. Beginning on September 1, 2018 up to and including March 31, 2019, the Fund’s fixed percentage will be
at a rate that is based on the ratio of outstanding debt to working interest determined at that time, as scheduled in the Credit Agreement.
Beginning on April 1, 2019 and each April 1st thereafter, the Fund’s fixed percentage will be the greater of (i) the rate determined on
September 1, 2018 or (ii) the Fixed Reassessment Percentage, as defined in the Credit Agreement. The Fixed Reassessment Percentage
is determined annually and will be based on the Fund’s ratio of its outstanding debt as of the reassessment date relative to 80% of third-
party reserve engineers’ proved plus probable future undiscounted cash flows attributable to the Beta Project through the maturity of the
loan. Beginning on the Third Amendment Effective Date and thereafter until the loan is repaid in full, in no event later than December
31, 2022, the loan will bear interest at a rate that is based on the ratio of outstanding debt to working interest determined at that time, as
scheduled in the Credit Agreement.

The Fund reviewed the terms of the Third Amendment and determined that the conditions have been met, pursuant to Accounting
Standard Codification 470-50 Debt: Modification and Extinguishments (“ASC 470-50”) guidance, to treat the Third Amendment as a
debt extinguishment in a non-troubled debt restructuring. Pursuant to ASC 470-50 guidance, the new debt instrument shall be initially
recorded at fair value and a gain or loss on extinguishment of debt will be recognized.

As of June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the Fund had borrowings of $7.3 million and $8.5 million, respectively, under the Existing
Credit Agreement. The loan may be prepaid by the Fund without premium or penalty.

There were no unamortized debt discounts and deferred financing costs as of June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017. Amortization
expense during the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 of $35 thousand and $0.1 million, respectively, were expensed and included
on the statements of operations within “Interest expense, net”. There were no such amounts recorded during the three and six months
ended June 30, 2018.

As of June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, there were no accrued interest costs outstanding. Interest costs incurred during each of the
three months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 of $0.2 million were expensed and included on the statements of operations within “Interest
expense, net”. Interest costs incurred during the six months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 of $0.3 million and $0.4 million, respectively,
were expensed and included on the statements of operations within “Interest expense, net”.
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As additional consideration to the Lenders, the Fund has agreed to convey an overriding royalty interest (“ORRI”) in its working interest
in the Beta Project to the Lenders. The Third Amendment fixes the Fund’s ORRI assigned to the Lenders at 8.16%. Such ORRI will not
become payable to the Lenders until January 1, 2023. The Existing Credit Agreement contains customary covenants, with which the Fund
was in compliance as of June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017.

5. Commitments and Contingencies

Capital Commitments
As of June 30, 2018, the Fund’s estimated capital commitments related to its oil and gas properties were $5.4 million (which include
asset retirement obligations for the Fund’s projects of $3.1 million), of which $1.4 million is expected to be spent during the next twelve
months, primarily related to the continued development of the Beta Project. Future results of operations and cash flows are dependent on
the continued successful development and the related production of oil and gas revenues from the Beta Project.

Based upon its current cash position and its current reserve estimates, the Fund expects cash flow from operations to be sufficient to cover
its commitments, borrowing repayments and ongoing operations. Reserve estimates are projections based on engineering data that cannot
be measured with precision, require substantial judgment, and are subject to frequent revision. However, if cash flow from operations is
not sufficient to meet the Fund’s commitments, the Manager will temporarily waive all or a portion of the management fee as well as
provide short-term financing to accommodate the Fund’s short-term commitments if needed.

Environmental and Governmental Regulations
Many aspects of the oil and gas industry are subject to federal, state and local environmental laws and regulations. The Manager and
operators of the Fund’s properties are continually taking action they believe appropriate to satisfy applicable federal, state and local
environmental regulations. However, due to the significant public and governmental interest in environmental matters related to those
activities, the Manager cannot predict the effects of possible future legislation, rule changes, or governmental or private claims. As of
June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, there were no known environmental contingencies that required adjustment to, or disclosure in,
the Fund’s financial statements.

Oil and gas industry legislation and administrative regulations are periodically changed for a variety of political, economic, and other
reasons. Any such future laws and regulations could result in increased compliance costs or additional operating restrictions, which could
have a material adverse effect on the Fund’s operating results and cash flows. It is not possible at this time to predict whether such
legislation or regulation, if proposed, will be adopted as initially written, if at all, or how legislation or new regulation that may be adopted
would impact the Fund’s business.

BOEM Notice to Lessees on Supplemental Bonding
On July 14, 2016, the Bureau of Ocean Energy Management (“BOEM”) issued a Notice to Lessees (“NTL”) that discontinued and
materially replaced existing policies and procedures regarding financial security (i.e. supplemental bonding) for decommissioning
obligations of lessees of federal oil and gas leases and owners of pipeline rights-of-way, rights-of use and easements on the Outer
Continental Shelf (“Lessees”). Generally, the new NTL (i) ended the practice of excusing Lessees from providing such additional security
where co-lessees had sufficient financial strength to meet such decommissioning obligations, (ii) established new criteria for determining
financial strength and additional security requirements of such Lessees, (iii) provided acceptable forms of such additional security and
(iv) replaced the waiver system with one of self-insurance. The new rule became effective as of September 12, 2016; however on January
6, 2017, the BOEM announced that it was suspending the implementation timeline for six months in certain circumstances. On June 22,
2017, the BOEM announced that the implementation timeline extension will remain in effect pending the completion of its review of the
new NTL. The Fund, as well as other industry participants, are working with the BOEM, its operators and working interest partners to
determine and agree upon the correct level of decommissioning obligations to which they may be liable and the manner in which such
obligations will be secured. The impact of the NTL, if enforced without change or amendment, may require the Fund to fully secure all
of its potential abandonment liabilities to the BOEM’s satisfaction using one or more of the enumerated methods for doing so. Potentially
this could increase costs to the Fund if the Fund is required to obtain additional supplemental bonding, fund escrow accounts or obtain
letters of credit.
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Insurance Coverage
The Fund is subject to all risks inherent in the oil and natural gas business. Insurance coverage as is customary for entities engaged in
similar operations is maintained, but losses may occur from uninsurable risks or amounts in excess of existing insurance coverage. The
occurrence of an event that is not insured or not fully insured could have a material adverse impact upon earnings and financial position.
Moreover, insurance is obtained as a package covering all of the entities managed by the Manager. Depending on the extent, nature and
payment of claims made by the Fund or other entities managed by the Manager, yearly insurance coverage may be exhausted and become
insufficient to cover a claim by the Fund in a given year.

6. Subsequent Events

On August 10, 2018, the Fund entered into a purchase and sale agreement (“PSA”) to sell a portion of the Fund’s working interest in
the Beta Project to Walter Oil & Gas Corporation and Gordy Oil Company (collectively the “Buyers”) with an effective date of January
1, 2018. Certain other funds managed by the Manager were also parties to the PSA. The Fund has a 3.0% working interest in the Beta
Project and sold a 0.11% working interest to the Buyers for a total purchase price of $1.0 million in cash, subject to purchase price
and customary post-closing adjustments. The transaction closed on August 10, 2018 and the Fund received $0.9 million in cash, which
included preliminary purchase price adjustments primarily related to the net cash flows from the effective date to the closing date.

The net carrying value of the working interest sold as of the closing date was approximately $0.7 million and the related asset retirement
obligation was approximately $12 thousand. A gain to the Fund of approximately $0.3 million will be recognized in third quarter 2018,
subject to customary post-closing adjustments. The proceeds from the sale are required to be utilized to repay a portion of the Existing
Credit Agreement.

In conjunction with the sale and the repayment of the existing agreement, on August 10, 2018, the Fund and other participating funds
managed by the Manager, entered into a fourth amendment (the “Fourth Amendment”) effective as of September 1, 2018 (“Fourth
Amendment Effective Date”), to the Credit Agreement. The Fourth Amendment principally reduces the schedule of fixed percentage
depending on the Fund’s ratio of outstanding debt to working interest ownership, which is the basis for the calculation of the monthly
payment amount, and amends the interest calculation. The Fund is currently evaluating the impact of the Fourth Amendment on its
financial statements.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (“Quarterly Report”) and the documents Ridgewood Energy W Fund, LLC
(the “Fund”) has incorporated by reference into this Quarterly Report, other than purely historical information, including estimates,
projections, statements relating to the Fund’s business plans, strategies, objectives and expected operating results, and the assumptions
upon which those statements are based, are “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the U.S. Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995 that are based on current expectations and assumptions and are subject to risks and uncertainties that may cause
actual results to differ materially from the forward-looking statements. You are therefore cautioned against relying on any such forward-
looking statements. Forward-looking statements can generally be identified by words such as “believe,” “project,” “expect,” “anticipate,”
“estimate,” “intend,” “strategy,” “plan,” “target,” “pursue,” “may,” “will,” “will likely result,” and similar expressions and references to
future periods. Examples of events that could cause actual results to differ materially from historical results or those anticipated include
weather conditions, such as hurricanes, changes in market and other conditions affecting the pricing, production and demand of oil
and natural gas, the cost and availability of equipment, and changes in domestic and foreign governmental regulations. Examples of
forward-looking statements made herein include statements regarding projects, investments, insurance, capital expenditures and liquidity.
Forward-looking statements made in this document speak only as of the date on which they are made. The Fund undertakes no obligation
to update or revise publicly any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as
required by law.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

There were no changes to the Fund’s critical accounting policies and estimates from those disclosed in its Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2017, except for the revenue recognition for revenue from contracts with customers. See Note 2 of
“Notes to Unaudited Condensed Financial Statements” - “Revenue Recognition” contained in Item 1. “Financial Statements” within Part
I of this Quarterly Report for a discussion of the Fund’s updated accounting policies on revenue recognition upon adoption of the related
new standard.

Overview of the Fund’s Business

The Fund was organized primarily to acquire interests in oil and natural gas properties located in the United States offshore waters of
Texas, Louisiana and Alabama in the Gulf of Mexico. The Fund’s primary investment objective is to generate cash flow for distribution
to its shareholders by generating returns across a portfolio of oil and natural gas projects. Distributions to shareholders are made in
accordance with the Fund’s limited liability company agreement (the “LLC Agreement”).

Ridgewood Energy Corporation (the “Manager”) is the Manager, and as such, has direct and exclusive control over the management of
the Fund’s operations. The Manager performs, or arranges for the performance of, the management, advisory and administrative services
required for the Fund’s operations. As compensation for its services, the Manager is entitled to an annual management fee, payable
monthly, equal to 2.5% of the total capital contributions made by the Fund’s shareholders, net of cumulative dry-hole and related well
costs incurred by the Fund. The Fund does not currently, nor is there any plan to, operate any project in which the Fund participates. The
Manager enters into operating agreements with third-party operators for the management of all exploration, development and producing
operations, as appropriate. The Manager also participates in distributions.

Subsequent Events

On August 10, 2018, the Fund entered into a purchase and sale agreement (“PSA”) to sell a portion of the Fund’s working interest in
the Beta Project to Walter Oil & Gas Corporation and Gordy Oil Company (collectively the “Buyers”) with an effective date of January
1, 2018. Certain other funds managed by the Manager were also parties to the PSA. The Fund has a 3.0% working interest in the Beta
Project and sold a 0.11% working interest to the Buyers for a total purchase price of $1.0 million in cash, subject to purchase price
and customary post-closing adjustments. The transaction closed on August 10, 2018 and the Fund received $0.9 million in cash, which
included preliminary purchase price adjustments primarily related to the net cash flows from the effective date to the closing date.

The net carrying value of the working interest sold as of the closing date was approximately $0.7 million and the related asset retirement
obligation was approximately $12 thousand. A gain to the Fund of approximately $0.3 million will be recognized in third quarter 2018,
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subject to customary post-closing adjustments. The proceeds from the sale are required to be utilized to repay a portion of the existing
credit agreement.

In conjunction with the sale and repayment of the existing agreement, on August 10, 2018, the Fund and other participating funds
managed by the Manager, entered into a fourth amendment (the “Fourth Amendment”) effective as of September 1, 2018 (“Fourth
Amendment Effective Date”), to the credit agreement. The Fourth Amendment principally reduces the schedule of fixed percentage
depending on the Fund’s ratio of outstanding debt to working interest ownership, which is the basis for the calculation of the monthly
payment amount, and amends the interest calculation. The Fund is currently evaluating the impact of the Fourth Amendment on its
financial statements.

10

Copyright © 2018 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

https://www.secdatabase.com


Table of Contents

Commodity Price Changes

Changes in oil and natural gas commodity prices may significantly affect liquidity and expected operating results. Declines in oil and
natural gas commodity prices not only reduce revenues and profits, but could also reduce the quantities of reserves that are commercially
recoverable and result in non-cash charges to earnings due to impairment.

Oil and natural gas commodity prices have been subject to significant fluctuations during the past several years. The Fund anticipates
price cyclicality in its planning and believes it is well positioned to withstand price volatility. Despite operating in a volatile oil and natural
gas commodity price environment, the Fund continued to advance the development of the Beta Project, which commenced production
in 2016. The Fund has suspended distributions and continues to conserve cash to provide for the continued development of the Beta
Project. See “Results of Operations” under this Item 2. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” of this Quarterly Report for more information on the average oil and natural gas prices received by the Fund during the three
and six months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 and the effect of such average prices on the Fund’s results of operations. If oil and natural
gas commodity prices decline, even if only for a short period of time, the Fund’s results of operations and liquidity will be adversely
impacted.

Market pricing for oil and natural gas is volatile, and is likely to continue to be volatile in the future. This volatility is caused by numerous
factors and market conditions that the Fund cannot control or influence. Therefore, it is impossible to predict the future price of oil and
natural gas with any certainty. Factors affecting market pricing for oil and natural gas include:

· weather conditions;
· economic conditions, including demand for petroleum-based products;
· actions by OPEC, the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries;
· political instability in the Middle East and other major oil and gas producing regions;
· governmental regulations, both domestic and foreign;
· domestic and foreign tax policy;
· the pace adopted by foreign governments for the exploration, development, and production of their national reserves;
· the supply and price of foreign oil and gas;
· the cost of exploring for, producing and delivering oil and gas;
· the discovery rate of new oil and gas reserves;
· the rate of decline of existing and new oil and gas reserves;
· available pipeline and other oil and gas transportation capacity;
· the ability of oil and gas companies to raise capital;
· the overall supply and demand for oil and gas; and
· the price and availability of alternate fuel sources.
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Business Update

Information regarding the Fund’s current projects, all of which are located in the United States offshore waters in the Gulf of Mexico, is
provided in the following table. See “Liquidity Needs” under this Item 2. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations” of this Quarterly Report for information regarding the funding of the Fund’s capital commitments.

Total Spent Total
Working through Fund

Project Interest June 30, 2018 Budget Status
(in thousands)

Producing Properties

Beta Project 3.0% $ 27,520 $ 31,271

The Beta Project is expected to include the
development of six wells. Wells #1 and #2
commenced production in 2016. Wells
#3 and #4 commenced production in
second quarter 2017 and third quarter
2017, respectively. Well #5 commenced
production in first quarter 2018. Well #6,
which began drilling in second quarter 2018,
is expected to commence production in third
quarter 2018. The Fund expects to spend
$2.4 million for additional development
costs and $1.4 million for asset retirement
obligations.
On August 10, 2018, the Fund sold a
portion of its working interest in the Beta
Project. See “Subsequent Events” under this
Item 2. “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations” of this Quarterly Report for
more information.

Cobalt Project 5.0% $ 2,368 $ 2,436

The Cobalt Project, a single-well project,
commenced production in 2009. The Fund
went non-consent to a lease saving
operation, which has not yet been performed
by the operator. Once the recompletion work
is performed, the Fund will no longer
participate in the recompleted zone's
revenue. The Fund expects to spend $0.1
million for asset retirement obligations.

Liberty Project 12.0% $ 13,387 $ 14,974

The Liberty Project, a single-well project,
commenced production in 2010. The Fund
expects to spend $1.6 million for asset
retirement obligations.

Results of Operations

The following table summarizes the Fund’s results of operations during the three and six months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, and
should be read in conjunction with the Fund’s financial statements and notes thereto included within Item 1. “Financial Statements” in
Part I of this Quarterly Report.

Three months ended June 30, Six months ended June 30,
2018 2017 2018 2017

(in thousands)
Revenue

Oil and gas revenue $ 2,642 $ 1,862 $ 5,954 $ 3,901
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Expenses
Depletion and amortization 1,508 1,872 3,086 3,585
Management fees to affiliate 225 225 450 450
Operating expenses 349 355 683 735
General and administrative expenses 50 50 98 93

Total expenses 2,132 2,502 4,317 4,863
Income (loss) from operations 510 (640) 1,637 (962)

Interest expense, net (168) (234) (336) (468)
Net income (loss) $ 342 $ (874) $ 1,301 $ (1,430)
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Overview. The following table provides information related to the Fund’s oil and natural gas production and oil and gas revenue during
the three and six months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017. Natural gas liquid (“NGL”) sales are included within gas sales.

Three months ended June 30, Six months ended June 30,
2018 2017 2018 2017

Number of wells producing 6 5 7 5
Total number of production days 419 410 877 757
Oil sales (in thousands of barrels) 39 38 89 78
Average oil price per barrel $ 65 $ 43 $ 62 $ 44
Gas sales (in thousands of mcfs) 67 65 177 138
Average gas price per mcf $ 3.23 $ 2.92 $ 3.12 $ 2.94

The increases in the number of wells producing and production days primarily related to the commencement of production of two
additional wells in the Beta Project. The increases in sales volume primarily related to the Liberty Project, which experienced increased
production as a result of recompletion work in third quarter 2017. See additional discussion in “Business Update” section above.

Oil and Gas Revenue. Oil and gas revenue during the three months ended June 30, 2018 was $2.6 million, an increase of $0.8 million
from the three months ended June 30, 2017. The increase was primarily attributable to increased oil and gas prices.

Oil and gas revenue during the six months ended June 30, 2018 was $6.0 million, an increase of $2.1 million from the six months ended
June 30, 2017. The increase was attributable to increased oil and gas prices totaling $1.6 million coupled with increased sales volume
totaling $0.6 million.

See “Overview” above for factors that impact the oil and gas revenue volume and rate variances.

Depletion and Amortization. Depletion and amortization during the three months ended June 30, 2018 was $1.5 million, a decrease of
$0.4 million from the three months ended June 30, 2017. The decrease was primarily attributable to a decrease in the average depletion
rate.

Depletion and amortization during the six months ended June 30, 2018 was $3.1 million, a decrease of $0.5 million from the six months
ended June 30, 2017. The decrease was attributable to a decrease in the average depletion rate totaling $1.1 million, partially offset by an
increase in production volumes totaling $0.6 million.

The decreases in the average depletion rates were primarily attributable to lower cost of reserves from the Beta Project. See “Overview”
above for certain factors that impact the depletion and amortization volume and rate variances. Depletion and amortization rates may also
be impacted by changes in reserve estimates provided annually by the Fund’s independent petroleum engineers.

Management Fees to Affiliate. An annual management fee, totaling 2.5% of total capital contributions, net of cumulative dry-hole
and related well costs incurred by the Fund, is paid monthly to the Manager. Such fee may be temporarily waived by the Manager to
accommodate the Fund’s short-term commitments.

Operating Expenses. Operating expenses represent costs specifically identifiable or allocable to the Fund’s wells, as detailed in the
following table.

Three months ended June 30, Six months ended June 30,
2018 2017 2018 2017

(in thousands)
Lease operating expense $ 276 $ 244 $ 545 $ 515
Insurance expense 49 61 89 103
Transportation and processing expense 15 16 27 23
Accretion expense 6 29 13 58
Workover expense and other 3 5 9 36

$ 349 $ 355 $ 683 $ 735
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Lease operating expense and transportation and processing expense, relate to the Fund’s producing properties. Insurance expense
represents premiums related to the Fund’s properties, which vary depending upon the number of wells producing or drilling. Accretion
expense relates to the asset retirement obligations established for the Fund’s oil and gas properties. Workover expense represents costs to
restore or stimulate production of existing reserves.

The average production cost, which includes lease operating expense, transportation and processing expense and insurance expense,
was $6.74 per barrel of oil equivalent (“BOE”) and $5.56 per BOE during the three and six months ended June 30, 2018, respectively,
compared to $6.52 per BOE and $6.32 per BOE during the three and six months ended June 30, 2017, respectively. The decrease in
the average production cost per BOE during the six months ended June 30, 2018 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2017 was
primarily attributable to the Beta Project. The Beta Project has lower cost per BOE as compared to other projects due to the processing of
production through its standalone facility. The production costs per BOE may decline over time as throughput increases from the project
or other projects expected to tie-in to the facility.

General and Administrative Expenses. General and administrative expenses represent costs specifically identifiable or allocable to the
Fund, such as accounting and professional fees and insurance expenses.

Interest Expense, Net. Interest expense, net is comprised of interest expense and amortization of debt discounts and deferred financing
costs related to the Fund’s long-term borrowings (see “Liquidity Needs” below for additional information), and interest income earned
on cash and cash equivalents and salvage fund.

Capital Resources and Liquidity

Operating Cash Flows
Cash flows provided by operating activities during the six months ended June 30, 2018 were $4.7 million, primarily related to revenue
received of $6.3 million, partially offset by operating expenses of $0.7 million, management fees of $0.5 million, interest payments of
$0.3 million and general and administrative expenses of $0.1 million.

Cash flows provided by operating activities during the six months ended June 30, 2017 were $2.5 million, primarily related to revenue
received of $4.1 million, partially offset by interest payments of $0.5 million, operating expenses of $0.5 million, management fees of
$0.5 million and general and administrative expenses of $0.1 million.

Investing Cash Flows
Cash flows used in investing activities during the six months ended June 30, 2018 were $1.8 million, related to capital expenditures for
oil and gas properties of $1.7 million and investments in salvage fund of $0.1 million.

Cash flows used in investing activities during the six months ended June 30, 2017 were $2.5 million, primarily related to capital
expenditures for oil and gas properties.

Financing Cash Flows
Cash flows used in financing activities during the six months ended June 30, 2018 were $1.2 million, related to the repayment of long-
term borrowings.

There were no cash flows from financing activities during the six months ended June 30, 2017.

Estimated Capital Expenditures

Capital expenditures for oil and gas properties have been funded with the capital raised by the Fund in its private placement offering and
through debt financing. The Fund’s remaining capital has been fully allocated to its projects. As a result, the Fund will not invest in any
new projects and will limit its investment activities, if any, to those projects in which it currently has a working interest. See “Business
Update” under this Item 2. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” of this Quarterly
Report for information regarding the Fund’s current projects. See “Liquidity Needs” below for additional information.
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Liquidity Needs

The Fund’s primary short-term liquidity needs are to fund its operations, capital expenditures for its oil and gas properties and borrowing
repayments. Such needs are funded utilizing operating income and existing cash on-hand.

As of June 30, 2018, the Fund’s estimated capital commitments related to its oil and gas properties were $5.4 million (which include
asset retirement obligations for the Fund’s projects of $3.1 million), of which $1.4 million is expected to be spent during the next twelve
months, primarily related to the continued development of the Beta Project. Future results of operations and cash flows are dependent on
the continued successful development and the related production of oil and gas revenues from the Beta Project.

Based upon its current cash position and its current reserve estimates, the Fund expects cash flow from operations to be sufficient to cover
its commitments, borrowing repayments and ongoing operations. Reserve estimates are projections based on engineering data that cannot
be measured with precision, require substantial judgment, and are subject to frequent revision. However, if cash flow from operations is
not sufficient to meet the Fund’s commitments, the Manager will temporarily waive all or a portion of the management fee as well as
provide short-term financing to accommodate the Fund’s short-term commitments if needed.

The Manager is entitled to receive an annual management fee from the Fund regardless of the Fund’s profitability in that year. However,
pursuant to the terms of the LLC Agreement, the Manager is also permitted to waive the management fee at its own discretion.

Distributions, if any, are funded from available cash from operations, as defined in the LLC Agreement, and the frequency and amount are
within the Manager’s discretion. Due to the significant capital required to develop the Beta Project, distributions have been impacted, and
may be impacted in the future, by amounts reserved to provide for its ongoing development costs, borrowing repayments, and funding its
estimated asset retirement obligations.

Credit Agreement
On June 1, 2018, the Fund and other participating funds managed by the Manager, Rahr Energy Investments LLC, as administrative
agent and lender (and other lenders that may become a party thereto, collectively “Lenders”), entered into a third amendment (the “Third
Amendment”), effective as of September 1, 2018 (“Third Amendment Effective Date”), to the certain credit agreement, dated as of
November 27, 2012 (as amended by the first amendment to credit agreement, dated September 30, 2016, and the second amendment
to credit agreement and reaffirmation of waiver, dated September 15, 2017, the “Existing Credit Agreement”, and as amended by the
Third Amendment, the “Credit Agreement”). The Existing Credit Agreement provided for an aggregate loan commitment to the Fund of
approximately $9.4 million to provide capital towards the funding of the Fund’s share of development costs on the Beta Project. As of
June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the Fund had borrowings of $7.3 million and $8.5 million, respectively, under the Existing Credit
Agreement.

The Third Amendment extends the loan maturity from December 31, 2020 to December 31, 2022, revises the interest rate and requires a
monthly payment amount based on a fixed percentage of the Fund’s Net Revenue, as defined in the Credit Agreement, derived from the
Beta Project. The fixed percentage and interest rate will be determined based on the Fund’s ratio of outstanding debt to working interest
ownership in the Beta Project. Beginning on September 1, 2018 up to and including March 31, 2019, the Fund’s fixed percentage will be
at a rate that is based on the ratio of outstanding debt to working interest determined at that time, as scheduled in the Credit Agreement.
Beginning on April 1, 2019 and each April 1st thereafter, the Fund’s fixed percentage will be the greater of (i) the rate determined on
September 1, 2018 or (ii) the Fixed Reassessment Percentage, as defined in the Credit Agreement. The Fixed Reassessment Percentage
is determined annually and will be based on the Fund’s ratio of its outstanding debt as of the reassessment date relative to 80% of third-
party reserve engineers’ proved plus probable future undiscounted cash flows attributable to the Beta Project through the maturity of the
loan. Beginning on the Third Amendment Effective Date and thereafter until the loan is repaid in full, in no event later than December
31, 2022, the loan will bear interest at a rate that is based on the ratio of outstanding debt to working interest determined at that time, as
scheduled in the Credit Agreement. See “Subsequent Events” under this Item 2. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” of this Quarterly Report for additional information.

The loan may be prepaid by the Fund without premium or penalty. As additional consideration to the Lenders, the Fund has agreed to
convey an overriding royalty interest (“ORRI”) in its working interest in the Beta Project to the Lenders. The Third Amendment fixes the
Fund’s ORRI assigned to the Lenders at 8.16%. Such ORRI will not become payable to the Lenders until January 1, 2023.
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The Existing Credit Agreement contains customary negative covenants including covenants that limit the Fund’s ability to, among other
things, grant liens, change the nature of its business, or merge into or consolidate with other persons. The events which constitute events
of default are also customary for credit facilities of this nature and include payment defaults, breaches of representations, warrants and
covenants, insolvency and change of control. Upon the occurrence of a default, in some cases following a notice and cure period, the
Lenders under the Existing Credit Agreement may accelerate the maturity of the loan and require full and immediate repayment of all
borrowings under the Existing Credit Agreement. The Fund believes it is in compliance with all covenants under the Existing Credit
Agreement as of June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

The Fund had no off-balance sheet arrangements as of June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017 and does not anticipate the use of such
arrangements in the future.

Contractual Obligations

The Fund enters into participation and joint operating agreements with operators. On behalf of the Fund, an operator enters into
various contractual commitments pertaining to exploration, development and production activities. The Fund does not negotiate such
contracts. No contractual obligations exist as of June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, other than those discussed in “Estimated Capital
Expenditures” and “Liquidity Needs – Credit Agreement” above.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 1 of “Notes to Unaudited Condensed Financial Statements” - “Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies”
contained in Item 1. “Financial Statements” within Part I of this Quarterly Report for a discussion of recent accounting pronouncements.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Not required.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

In accordance with Rules 13a-15 and 15d-15 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), the Fund’s
management, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of the Fund’s disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this
report. Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Fund’s disclosure controls
and procedures were effective as of June 30, 2018.

There has been no change in the Fund’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the three months ended June 30,
2018 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Fund’s internal control over financial reporting.

PART II – OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

None.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Not required.

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

None.

Copyright © 2018 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

https://www.secdatabase.com


16

Copyright © 2018 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

https://www.secdatabase.com


Table of Contents

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

None.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

None.

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

EXHIBIT
NUMBER TITLE OF EXHIBIT METHOD OF FILING

31.1 Certification of Robert E. Swanson, Chief Executive Officer of
the Fund, pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a) Filed herewith

31.2
Certification of Kathleen P. McSherry, Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer of the Fund, pursuant to Exchange
Act Rule 13a-14(a)

Filed herewith

32

Certifications pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
signed by Robert E. Swanson, Chief Executive Officer of the
Fund and Kathleen P. McSherry, Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer of the Fund

Filed herewith

10.4

Third Amendment to Credit Agreement dated June 1, 2018 by and among
Ridgewood Energy O Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy Q Fund, LLC,
Ridgewood Energy S Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy T Fund, LLC,
Ridgewood Energy V Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy W Fund, LLC,
Ridgewood Energy A-1 Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy B-1 Fund, LLC, Rahr
Energy Investments LLC, as Administrative Agent, and certain Lenders party
thereto

Incorporated by reference to the Fund’s
Form 8-K filed on June 7, 2018

10.5

Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement dated August 10, 2018 by and
among Ridgewood Energy O Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy Q Fund, LLC,
Ridgewood Energy S Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy T Fund, LLC,
Ridgewood Energy V Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy W Fund, LLC,
Ridgewood Energy A-1 Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy B-1 Fund, LLC,
Rahr Energy Investments LLC, as Administrative Agent, and certain Lenders
party thereto

Filed herewith

10.6

Purchase and Sale Agreement dated August 10, 2018 by and among
Ridgewood Energy O Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy S Fund, LLC,
Ridgewood Energy T Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy V Fund, LLC,
Ridgewood Energy W Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy A-1 Fund, LLC,
Ridgewood Energy B-1 Fund, LLC, as Sellers and each individually a Seller
and Walter Oil & Gas Corporation and Gordy Oil Company as Buyers and
each individually a Buyer

Filed herewith

101.INS XBRL Instance Document Filed herewith
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101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Filed herewith

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Filed herewith

101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document Filed herewith

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Filed herewith

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Filed herewith
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf
by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

RIDGEWOOD ENERGY W FUND, LLC

Dated: August 14, 2018 By: /s/ ROBERT E. SWANSON
Name: Robert E. Swanson

Title: Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Dated: August 14, 2018 By: /s/ KATHLEEN P. MCSHERRY
Name: Kathleen P. McSherry

Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 10.5

FOURTH AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT

This Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement (this “Amendment”) is entered into on August 10th, 2018, by and among the
following entities, as borrowers (each, a “Borrower” and, collectively, the “Borrowers”):

Ridgewood Energy O Fund, LLC a Delaware limited liability company
Ridgewood Energy Q Fund, LLC a Delaware limited liability company
Ridgewood Energy S Fund, LLC a Delaware limited liability company
Ridgewood Energy T Fund, LLC a Delaware limited liability company
Ridgewood Energy V Fund, LLC a Delaware limited liability company
Ridgewood Energy W Fund, LLC a Delaware limited liability company
Ridgewood Energy A-1 Fund, LLC a Delaware limited liability company
Ridgewood Energy B-1 Fund, LLC a Delaware limited liability company

and Rahr Energy Investments, LLC a Delaware limited liability company, as Administrative Agent (“Administrative Agent”), and each
of the Lenders party hereto.

RECITALS

A.

The Borrowers, the Administrative Agent, and the Lenders have entered into that certain Credit Agreement, dated as of
November 27, 2012, as amended by that certain First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2016, that
certain Second Amendment to Credit Agreement and Reaffirmation of Waiver, dated as of September 15, 2017, and that certain
Third Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of June 1, 2018 (as may be further amended, supplemented, or otherwise
modified prior to the date hereof, the “Credit Agreement”).

B. Pursuant to the Credit Agreement, the Lenders have made loans to the Borrowers.

C. The Borrowers have requested that the Lenders enter into this Amendment to make certain amendments to the Credit Agreement.

D. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, the parties hereto have agreed to enter into this Amendment.

E.
NOW THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements herein contained and other good and
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Borrowers, Administrative Agent,
and the Lenders party hereto hereby agree as follows:

SECTION 1. Definitions

1.1 Unless otherwise defined herein, all capitalized terms used herein will have the meaning given such terms in the Credit
Agreement.

SECTION 2. Amendments to Credit Agreement. In reliance on the representations, warranties, covenants and agreements
contained in this Amendment, and subject to the satisfaction of the conditions precedent set forth in Section 3 hereof, the parties hereto
hereby agree to amend the Credit Agreement as follows:

2.1 Amendment to Section 1.02. Section 1.02 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by amending and restating the
definition of “Capital Expenditure Offsets” in its entirety to read as follows:
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“Capital Expenditure Offsets” means an amount equal to the product of (i) Borrower’s working interest
share of Exploratory Costs or Development Costs pursuant to an AFE issued by the operator and (ii) such
Borrower’s Fixed Percentage; provided that (y) Capital Expenditure Offsets shall not apply to any Exploratory
Costs or Development Costs in excess of $1.8 million per each point of working interest (pre-offset) in the
Project Properties owned by such Borrower and (z) no Capital Expenditure Offsets shall be made by Borrower
unless and until the Administrative Agent and the Lenders have received from Borrower (A) a schedule
describing Borrower’s proposed Capital Expenditure Offset, (B) a copy of the applicable AFE and (C) any
other documentation or information reasonably requested by the Administrative Agent and the Lenders. For
purposes of this definition, all Exploratory and Development Costs will be deemed to have been incurred for
each Borrower on a pro-rata basis evenly for each day during the period beginning on the day on which the
AFE for such costs is received by Borrowers and ending on the final day of the period of activity for such
costs set forth in the AFE (or, if no period of activity is specified, the date that is ninety (90) days after receipt
of such AFE). Any AFE received between June 1, 2018 and September 1, 2018 will be deemed to have been
received on September 1, 2018.

2.2 Amendment to Section 3.02(a). Section 3.02(a) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety
to read as follows:

Base Interest Rate. The total outstanding balance of each Borrower’s Loan shall bear interest at a rate equal to the
amount set forth on Schedule 3.02 based on such Borrower’s Debt to WI Ratio as of the Third Amendment Effective
Date compounded monthly. For the avoidance of doubt, interest will accrue on each Borrower’s Loans hereunder only
on the total outstanding loan balance of such Borrower’s for such month.

2.3 Amendment to Schedule 1.01(a). Schedule 1.01(a) of the Credit Agreement is hereby replaced in its entirety with
Schedule 1.01(a) attached hereto.

2.4 Amendment to Schedule 1.01(i). Schedule 1.01(i) of the Credit Agreement is hereby replaced in its entirety with
Schedule 1.01(i) attached hereto.

SECTION 3. Conditions Precedent. The amendment to the Credit Agreement contained in Section 2 of this Amendment will
become effective on September 1, 2018 (the “Fourth Amendment Effective Date”) if each of the conditions precedent contained in this
Section 3 are satisfied on or before such date:

3.1 Third Amendment Effective. The Third Amendment to Credit Agreement dated June 1, 2018, must have become
effective pursuant to the terms thereof.

3.2 Signature Pages. The Administrative Agent must have received counterparts of this Amendment executed on behalf of
each Borrower, the Administrative Agent and each of the Lenders.

3.3 Other Documents. The Administrative Agent must have been provided with any other documents, instruments, and
agreements, and each Borrower must have taken such actions, in each case, as the Administrative Agent may reasonably require in
connection with this Amendment and the transactions contemplated hereby.
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SECTION 4. Representations and Warranties of Borrower. To induce the Lenders and the Administrative Agent to enter into
this Amendment, each Borrower hereby represents and warrants to the Lenders and Administrative Agent as follows:

4.1 Reaffirm Existing Representations and Warranties. Each representation and warranty of such Borrower contained in the
Credit Agreement, and the other Loan Documents is true and correct on the date hereof and will be true and correct after giving effect
to this Amendment, except to the extent any such representation and warranty is expressly limited to an earlier date, in which case, such
representation and warranty is true and correct as of such specified earlier date.

4.2 Due Authorization; No Conflict. The execution, delivery and performance by such Borrower of this Amendment are
within such Borrower’s corporate powers, have been duly authorized by all necessary action, require no action by or in respect of, or
filing with, any governmental body, agency or official and do not violate or constitute a default under any provision of applicable law or
any material agreement binding upon such Borrower or result in the creation or imposition of any Lien upon any of the assets of such
Borrower.

4.3 Validity and Enforceability. This Amendment constitutes the valid and binding obligation of such Borrower enforceable
in accordance with its terms, except as (a) the enforceability thereof may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, or similar laws affecting
creditor’s rights generally and (b) the availability of equitable remedies may be limited by equitable principles of general application.

4.4 No Material Adverse Effect. Since September 30, 2017, there has been no event or circumstance, either individually or
in the aggregate, that has had, or could be reasonably expected to have, a Material Adverse Effect.

4.5 No Default or Event of Default. After giving effect to this Amendment, no Default or Event of Default has occurred
which is continuing.

SECTION 5. Miscellaneous.

5.1 Reaffirmation of Loan Documents; Extension of Liens. Any and all of the terms and provisions of the Credit Agreement
and the Loan Documents will, except as modified hereby, remain in full force and effect. The amendment contemplated hereby will not
limit or impair any Liens securing the Obligations, each of which are hereby ratified, affirmed, and extended to secure the Obligations
after giving effect to this Amendment.

5.2 Payment of Legal Fees. The Borrowers acknowledge and agree that they must, and hereby agree to, pay all fees,
expenses, and other amounts of Vinson & Elkins LLP, counsel to the Administrative Agent in connection with the execution and delivery
of this Amendment and the transactions related hereto, including any real property filing fees incurred by the Administrative Agent and
the Holders in connection with such transactions.

5.3 Parties in Interest. All of the terms and provisions of this Amendment will bind and inure to the benefit of the parties
hereto and their respective successors and assigns.

5.4 Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in counterparts and all parties need not execute the same counterpart.
No party will be bound by this Amendment until each Borrower, the Administrative Agent, and each of the Lenders have executed a
counterpart. Facsimiles or other electronic transmission (e.g. .pdf) will be effective as originals.
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5.5 Complete Agreement. This Amendment, the Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents represent the
final agreement among the parties and may not be contradicted by evidence of prior, contemporaneous or oral agreements
of the parties. There are no unwritten oral agreements between or among the parties.

5.6 Headings. The headings, captions, and arrangements used in this Amendment are, unless otherwise specified, for
convenience only and will not be deemed to limit, amplify or modify the terms of this Amendment, nor affect the meaning thereof.

5.7 Effectiveness. This Amendment will be effective automatically and without necessity of any further action by Borrower,
Administrative Agent, or the Lenders when counterparts hereof have been executed by Borrower, Administrative Agent, and each of the
Lenders and all conditions to the effectiveness hereof set forth herein have been satisfied.

5.8 Governing Law. This Amendment will be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of New
York.

5.9 RELEASE. As part of the consideration for each Lender’s and the Administrative Agent’s execution of
this Amendment, each Borrower, on behalf of itself and its successors, assigns, parents, subsidiaries, affiliates, officers,
directors, employees, agents and attorneys hereby forever, fully, unconditionally and irrevocably waives and releases
the Lenders, the Administrative Agent and each of their successors, assigns, parents, subsidiaries, limited partners,
shareholder(s), affiliates, officers, directors, employees, attorneys and agents (collectively, the “Releasees”) from any
and all claims, liabilities, obligations, debts, causes of action (whether at law or in equity or otherwise), defenses,
counterclaims, setoffs, of any kind, whether known or unknown, whether liquidated or unliquidated, matured or
unmatured, fixed or contingent, directly or indirectly arising out of, connected with, resulting from or related to any
act or omission by any Lender or the Administrative Agent or any other Releasee prior to the date hereof (collectively, the
“Claims”). Each Borrower further agrees that it may not commence, institute, or prosecute any lawsuit, action or other
proceeding, whether judicial, administrative or otherwise, to collect or enforce any Claim.

[Signature Pages Follow]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment to be duly executed on the date and year first above
written.

BORROWERS: RIDGEWOOD ENERGY O FUND, LLC

By: /s/ Daniel V. Gulino
Daniel V. Gulino
Senior Vice President – Legal

RIDGEWOOD ENERGY Q FUND, LLC

By: /s/ Daniel V. Gulino
Daniel V. Gulino
Senior Vice President – Legal

RIDGEWOOD ENERGY S FUND, LLC

By: /s/ Daniel V. Gulino
Daniel V. Gulino
Senior Vice President – Legal

RIDGEWOOD ENERGY T FUND, LLC

By: /s/ Daniel V. Gulino
Daniel V. Gulino
Senior Vice President – Legal

RIDGEWOOD ENERGY V FUND, LLC

By: /s/ Daniel V. Gulino
Daniel V. Gulino
Senior Vice President – Legal

RIDGEWOOD ENERGY W FUND, LLC

By: /s/ Daniel V. Gulino
Daniel V. Gulino
Senior Vice President – Legal

RIDGEWOOD ENERGY A-1 FUND, LLC

By: /s/ Daniel V. Gulino
Daniel V. Gulino
Senior Vice President – Legal

RIDGEWOOD ENERGY B-1 FUND, LLC

By: /s/ Daniel V. Gulino
Daniel V. Gulino
Senior Vice President – Legal

Signature Page to Fourth Amendment
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ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT: RAHR ENERGY INVESTMENTS, LLC,
as Administrative Agent

By: /s/ Lawrence J. Fossi
Lawrence J. Fossi
Manager

LENDER: RAHR ENERGY INVESTMENTS, LLC,
as a Lender

By: /s/ Lawrence J. Fossi
Lawrence J. Fossi
Manager

Signature Page to Fourth Amendment
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Schedule 1.01(a) – Borrower Net Revenue Interests

EWING BANK
BLOCK 834

EWING BANK
BLOCK 835

FUND WI NRI WI NRI

O 2.93000% 2.40846% 2.93000% 2.325568%
Q 2.25000% 1.80000% 2.25000% 1.74085%
S 1.77800% 1.46152% 1.77800% 1.411221%
T 1.65600% 1.32480% 1.65600% 1.28126%
V 1.94000% 1.59468% 1.94000% 1.539796%
W 2.89000% 2.37558% 2.89000% 2.293822%

A-1 1.63600% 1.30880% 1.63600% 1.26579%
B-1 2.17000% 1.78374% 2.17000% 1.72235%

TOTALS: 17.25000% 14.05758% 17.25000% 13.580657%

EWING BANK
BLOCK 790

MISSISSIPPI CANYON
BLOCK 793

FUND WI NRI WI NRI

O 2.93000% 2.225335% 2.93000% 2.32558%
Q 2.25000% 1.65938% 2.25000% 1.78585%
S 1.77800% 1.350391% 1.77800% 1.41122%
T 1.65600% 1.22130% 1.65600% 1.31438%
V 1.94000% 1.47343% 1.94000% 1.539800%
W 2.89000% 2.194955% 2.89000% 2.29382%

A-1 1.63600% 1.20655% 1.63600% 1.29851%
B-1 2.17000% 1.648115% 2.17000% 1.72235%

TOTALS: 17.25000% 12.979456% 17.25000% 13.69151%

Schedule 1.01(a)
Page 1 of 2
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Schedule 1.01(a) – Borrower Net Revenue Interests

EWING BANK
BLOCK 789

FUND WI NRI

O 2.93000% 2.38062%
Q 2.25000% 1.82813%
S 1.77800% 1.444620%
T 1.65600% 1.34550%
V 1.94000% 1.57625%
W 2.89000% 2.34812%

A-1 1.63600% 1.32925%
B-1 2.17000% 1.76312%

TOTALS: 17.25000% 14.01561%

Schedule 1.01(a)
Page 2 of 2
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Schedule 1.01(i)

Borrower’s Debt to WI Ratio
(as of Third Amendment Effective Date) Fixed Percentage

< 2,000,000 to 1.00 30.0%
≥ 2,000,000 to 1.00 < 2,250,000 to 1.00 33.0%
≥ 2,250,000 to 1.00 < 2,500,000 to 1.00 42.0%
≥ 2,500,000 to 1.00 < 3,000,000 to 1.00 50.0%
≥ 3,000,000 to 1.00 < 3,500,000 to 1.00 55.0%
≥ 3,500,000 to 1.00 < 4,250,000 to 1.00 70.0%

≥ 4,250,000 to 1.00 75.0%

Schedule 1.01(i)
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Exhibit 10.6

PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT

BY AND AMONG

Ridgewood ENERGY O FUND, LLC,
RIDGEWOOD ENERGY S FUND, LLC,
RIDGEWOOD ENERGY T FUND, LLC,
RIDGEWOOD ENERGY V FUND, LLC,
RIDGEWOOD ENERGY W FUND, LLC,

RIDGEWOOD ENERGY A-1 FUND, LLC and
RIDGEWOOD ENERGY B-1 LLC

AS SELLERS and each individually a SELLER

AND

WALTER OIL & GAS CORPORATION and
GORDY OIL COMPANY

AS BUYERS and each individually a BUYER.

EXECUTED ON AUGUST 10, 2018
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SCHEDULE OF EXHIBITS AND SCHEDULES

Exhibit A Leases, Easements and Wells
Exhibit A-1 Net Revenue Interests in the Leases
Exhibit A-2 Scheduled Contracts
Exhibit A-3 Burdens
Exhibit B Allocated Values
Exhibit C Form of Assignment and Bill of Sale
Exhibit D Form of FIRPTA Certificate
Exhibit E Retained Liabilities
Schedule 2.01(j) Consents
Schedule 2.01(k) Preferential Rights
Schedule 2.01(l) Lawsuits
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PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT

THIS PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is entered into this 10th day of August, 2018 (the
“Execution Date” or “Closing Date”), by and among Ridgewood Energy O Fund, LLC (“O Fund”), a Delaware limited liability
company, Ridgewood Energy S Fund, LLC (“S Fund”), a Delaware limited liability company, Ridgewood Energy T Fund, LLC (“T
Fund”), a Delaware limited liability company, Ridgewood Energy V Fund, LLC (“V Fund”), a Delaware limited liability company,
Ridgewood Energy W Fund, LLC (“W Fund”), a Delaware limited liability company, Ridgewood Energy A-1 Fund, LLC (“A-1 Fund”),
a Delaware limited liability company, and Ridgewood Energy B-1 Fund, LLC (“B-1 Fund”), a Delaware limited liability company, (each
a “Seller” and collectively the “Sellers”) on the one hand and Walter Oil & Gas Corporation, a Texas corporation, (“Walter”) and Gordy
Oil Company, a Texas corporation, (“Gordy”) (each a “Buyer” and collectively the “Buyers”) on the other hand Buyers and Sellers may
be referred to collectively as the “Parties” or each individually as a “Party.”

W I T N E S S E T H:

WHEREAS Sellers collectively own or hold the Properties (as defined below) and desire to sell, assign and convey to Buyers the
Transferred Interest (as defined below) in such Properties and Buyers desires to purchase and accept the Transferred Interest, all subject
to the terms and conditions set forth below;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements contained herein, the benefits to be derived by
Sellers and Buyers hereunder, and other good and valuable cause and consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby
acknowledged, Sellers and Buyers hereby agree as follows:

Article I.
Purchase and Sale

1.1 Purchase and Sale. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, Buyers agree to purchase and acquire
from each Seller, and each Seller agrees to sell, transfer, assign, convey and deliver to each Buyer, at the Closing, but effective as
of the Effective Time, an undivided one-half of such Seller’s Transferred Interest, free and clear of all Liens, except for Permitted
Encumbrances, and subject to all Burdens as set forth on Exhibit A-3 hereto. The term “Transferred Interest” with respect to a Seller
means the following undivided interest (expressed as a percentage on an 8/8ths basis) in and to the Properties:

(i) Ridgewood Energy O Fund, LLC - 2.070%
(ii) Ridgewood Energy S Fund, LLC - 0.722%
(iii) Ridgewood Energy T Fund, LLC - 0.344%
(iv) Ridgewood Energy V Fund, LLC - 1.060%
(v) Ridgewood Energy W Fund, LLC - 0.110%
(vi) Ridgewood Energy A-1 Fund, LLC - 0.364%
(vii)Ridgewood Energy B-1 Fund, LLC - 0.830%
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The term “Transferred Interest” with respect to a Seller also includes without limitation such Seller’s undivided net revenue interests in
the Leases as set forth in Exhibit A-1 hereto. Each Seller shall retain the following undivided interest (expressed as a percentage on an
8/8ths basis) in and to the Properties: Ridgewood Energy O Fund, LLC, 2.93%; Ridgewood Energy S Fund, LLC, 1.778%; Ridgewood
Energy T Fund, LLC, 1.656%; Ridgewood Energy V Fund, LLC, 1.940%, Ridgewood Energy W Fund, LLC, 2.890%, Ridgewood Energy
A-1 Fund, LLC, 1.636%; and Ridgewood Energy B-1 Fund, LLC, 2.170% (collectively, the “Retained Interests”).

1.2 Properties. The term “Properties” means the following assets (less and except the Excluded Assets):

(a) All of the oil, gas, other Hydrocarbon and mineral leases (or portions thereof) described in Part 1 of Exhibit A
hereto (collectively, the “Leases”); all subleases, working interests, record title interests, operating rights interests, royalty
interests, overriding royalty interests, production payments, net profit interests, reversionary interests, carried interest, rights to
take royalties in-kind and all other interests of any kind or character in Hydrocarbons in place and the leasehold estates (together
with all other mineral interests of every nature) in or related to any Leases or any lands covered by the Leases or lands pooled
or unitized with any portions of any Lease; and all corresponding interests in and to all the property and rights of any nature
that arise by Law or otherwise and are incident to any of the foregoing, including all rights in any pooled or unitized acreage by
virtue of the Leases having been pooled into such pools or units; all production from any pool or unit allocated to any such lands;
and all interests in any wells within any pool or unit associated with any such lands; and all reversionary interests, convertible
interests and net profits interests applicable to any Lease or any such lands (collectively, “Leasehold Interests”);

(b) all units (whether formed by voluntary agreement or under the rules, regulations, orders or other official acts of
any Governmental Entity having appropriate jurisdiction) to the extent they relate to any or all of the Leasehold Interests or any
lands covered thereby or pooled or unitized with any portion thereof (collectively, the “Units”);

(c) all wells and wellbores (whether producing, plugged and abandoned, shut-in, injection, disposal, water supply
or otherwise) located in whole or in part on any lands covered by or subject to any Leasehold Interest or Unit (including the
wellbores described in Part 3 of Exhibit A hereto) (the “Wells”);

(d) all easements, rights-of-way, servitudes, surface leases, subsurface leases, other interests in production of
Hydrocarbons and similar rights and privileges directly related to or used in connection with any or all of the Leasehold Interests,
Units and Wells (including those described in Part 2 of Exhibit A hereto) (collectively, the “Easements”);

(e) all movable property, improvements, appurtenances, fixtures, platforms, caissons, facilities, umbilicals,
gathering lines, flow lines, injection lines, pipelines, tanks, boilers, buildings, machinery, equipment (surface and downhole),
inventory and vessels to the extent the same are situated upon or used or held for use in connection with any or all of the
Leasehold Interests, Units, Wells or Easements (collectively, the “Equipment”);
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(f) all of the presently existing and valid farm-out contracts, farm-in contracts, balancing contracts, operating
agreements, areas of mutual interest, unit agreements, unit operating agreements, pooling or unit orders and other contracts,
agreements and instruments, to the extent they relate to any or all of the Leasehold Interests, Units, Wells, Easements, Equipment
or any lands covered or subject to by any Leasehold Interests, Units or Easements (collectively, the “Lands”) or the production
of oil, gas or other Hydrocarbon and non-Hydrocarbon substances attributable thereto (including those described on Exhibit A-2
hereto (the “Scheduled Contracts”)) (collectively with the contracts described in described in clauses (a) and (d) above, the
“Contracts”);

(g) all Hydrocarbons produced at or after the Effective Time (and all Hydrocarbons in storage (or otherwise present
in any Equipment as line fill or otherwise) at or after the Effective Time) that are attributable to any Leasehold Interests,
Units, Wells or Easements; and all imbalances as of the Effective Time with respect to all Hydrocarbons produced from or
attributable to any Leasehold Interests, Units, Wells or Easements (the “Imbalances”) and all rights and benefits associated with
any Imbalances;

(h) all environmental and other governmental (whether federal, state or local) permits, licenses, orders,
authorizations, franchises and related instruments or rights relating to the ownership, operation, production or use of any or all
of the foregoing assets (collectively, the “Permits”);

(i) all records, files, documents, information and data (including without limitation production records, well records,
severance Tax records, lease files and accounting records) directly related to any or all of the foregoing assets (collectively,
excluding any Excluded Assets, the “Records”);

(j) all Claims (whether for adjustments, refunds, in warranty or otherwise) (i) accruing at or after the Effective
Time to the extent attributable to any or all of the foregoing assets and/or (ii) to the extent attributable to any of the Assumed
Liabilities; and

(k) all accounts receivable for which the Purchase Price is adjusted pursuant to Section 1.7 and all Claims and rights
under Liens related thereto.

1.3 Excluded Assets. Notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement, Sellers shall reserve and retain, and the
Properties and Transferred Interests do not include, the following assets (the “Excluded Assets”):

(a) all credits, refunds, accounts, instruments and general intangibles of Sellers attributable to any Properties with
respect to any period of time prior to the Effective Time;

(b) all Claims of Sellers for refunds of, and all rights of Sellers to loss carry forwards or to receive funds from any
Governmental Entity with respect to, (i) ad valorem, severance, production or other Taxes attributable to any period prior to the
Effective Time, (ii) income or franchise Taxes or (iii) any Taxes attributable to the other Excluded Assets; and all Claims of
Sellers for such other refunds, and rights thereto, for amounts paid (including refunds of amounts paid under any gas gathering
or transportation agreement) in connection with any Properties and attributable to the period prior to the Effective Time;
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(c) all proceeds, income and revenues (and any security or other deposits made) attributable to (i) any Seller’s share
of any Properties for any period prior to the Effective Time or (ii) any other Excluded Assets;

(d) all of Sellers’ proprietary computer software, technology, patents, trade secrets, copyrights, names, trademarks,
logos and other intellectual property;

(e) all of Sellers’ rights and interests in geological and geophysical data that Sellers cannot transfer without the
consent of or payment to any Third Party and have been identified in writing to Buyers before the Closing Date and for which
Sellers cannot obtain such consent with reasonable commercial efforts;

(f) all documents and instruments of Sellers (i) that contain markings designating them as protected under the
attorney-client privilege or (ii) prepared by or for counsel;

(g) all data and other information of Sellers that cannot be disclosed or assigned to Buyers as a result of
confidentiality or similar arrangements under agreements with Persons unaffiliated with Sellers that Sellers have identified in
writing to Buyers before the Closing Date and for which Sellers cannot obtain a waiver with reasonable commercial efforts;

(h) all audit rights of Sellers arising under any of the Contracts or otherwise with respect to any period prior to the
Effective Time or to any of the Excluded Assets;

(i) all corporate, partnership and limited liability company financial and income tax records of Sellers;

(j) all rights of Sellers in contracts and agreements that are subject to material restrictions for the transfer of a
Seller’s right therein to Buyers and have been identified in writing by Sellers to Buyers before the Closing Date and for which
Sellers cannot obtain a consent or waiver with reasonable commercial efforts;

(j) all rights, Claims, and benefits of Sellers under or with respect to any Contract that are attributable to periods
prior to the Effective Time;

(k) all rights and interests of Sellers (i) under any policy or agreement of insurance or indemnity, (ii) under any
bond or (iii) to any insurance or condemnation proceeds or awards to the extent arising, in each case, from acts, omissions or
events related to, or damage to or destruction of, the Properties occurring prior to the Effective Time;

(l) all amounts due or payable to Sellers as adjustments to insurance premiums related to the Properties with respect
to any period prior to the Effective Time;

(m) all proceeds, income, revenues or other benefits not otherwise enumerated above, as well as any security or
other deposits made, to the extent attributable to (i) the Transferred Interest for any period prior to the Effective Time or (ii) any
other Excluded Assets;
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(n) the Retained Interests; and

(o) those agreements listed on Exhibit E hereto.

1.4 Assumed Liabilities. Without limiting Buyers’ rights to indemnity under Article IX, on and after the Closing Date, each
Buyer will assume from Sellers and shall timely pay, discharge, perform or otherwise satisfy and indemnify Sellers from the following
Liabilities TO THE EXTENT AND ONLY TO THE EXTENT such Liabilities are attributable to such Buyer’s one-half share of the
Transferred Interests:

(a) all Liabilities of Sellers under or arising out of the Contracts actually transferred to Buyers at the Closing to the
extent such Liabilities arise at or after the Effective Time;

(b) all Liabilities of Sellers under the Permits (including those associated with the renewals thereof, or arising from
the failure to renew or to operate in accordance with such Permits), whether arising before, at or after the Effective Time;

(c) all Liabilities of Sellers pursuant to any Environmental Law arising from or relating to any action, event or
circumstance, including any release of any Hazardous Substances or any violation of any Environmental Law with respect to the
Properties, whether known or unknown, fixed or contingent, whether arising before, at or after the Effective Time;

(d) all Liabilities of Sellers related to or associated with or resulting from the Decommissioning Obligations,
whether arising before, at or after the Effective Time;

(e) any Liability for Taxes allocated to Buyers pursuant to Section 1.11;

(f) any gas Imbalances as of the Effective Time (including without limitation with respect to Taxes or royalties due
or payable on the value of any such underproduced or overproduced gas);

(g) obligations to pay Property Costs and other costs and expenses attributable to the ownership or operation of
such Buyer’s share of Transferred Interest at or after the Effective Time;

(h) obligations to pay working interests, royalties and overriding royalties, including those interests held in
suspense, with respect to production at or after the Effective Time;

(i) all Liabilities both identified in that Statement of Privilege and Notice of Claim of Lien filed with the BOEM
on March 2, 2016 and related to the Claims asserted in the lawsuit listed in Schedule 2.01(l) hereto; and

(j) any Claims regarding the general method, manner or practice of calculating or making royalty payments (or
payments for overriding royalties or similar burdens on production) with respect to such Buyer’s share of the Transferred Interest
with respect to production at or after the Effective Time;
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(collectively, such Buyer’s “Assumed Liabilities”); provided, however, that the Assumed Liabilities do not include, and Buyers do not
assume, any Liabilities to the extent that they are Retained Liabilities.

1.5 Retained Liabilities. Each Seller shall pay, discharge, perform or otherwise satisfy its share of the following Liabilities,
whether express or implied (collectively, the “Retained Liabilities”):

(a) all Liabilities (whether arising before, at or after the Effective Time) related to an Excluded Asset;

(b) all Liabilities pursuant to any Environmental Law arising from or relating to any action, event, or circumstance
occurring or existing prior to the Effective Time, including any release of any Hazardous Substances or any violation of any
Environmental Laws with respect to the Properties, whether known or unknown, fixed or contingent;

(c) any Liability for Taxes allocated to Sellers pursuant to Section 1.11;

(d) all Liabilities (whether arising before, at or after the Effective Time) of such Seller attributable to any hedging
activities; and

(e) all Liabilities (whether arising before, at or after the Effective Time) of such Seller (i) owing to Sellers’ Lender
(or any successor or assignee thereof) and/or (ii) attributable to any agreement listed on Exhibit E hereto.

1.6 Purchase Price. In consideration for the purchase of the Transferred Interests, Buyers will, at the Closing, (a) pay and
deliver to Sellers cash in the aggregate amount of Forty-Nine Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($49,500,000.00) (the “Purchase
Price”) as adjusted hereunder and (b) assume, in accordance with Section 1.4, the Assumed Liabilities.

(i) Ridgewood Energy O Fund, LLC - $18,630,000.
(ii) Ridgewood Energy S Fund, LLC - $6,498,000.
(iii) Ridgewood Energy T Fund, LLC - $3,096,000.
(iv) Ridgewood Energy V Fund, LLC - $9,540,000.
(v) Ridgewood Energy W Fund, LLC - $990,000.
(vi) Ridgewood Energy A-1 Fund, LLC - $3,276,000.
(vii)Ridgewood Energy B-1 Fund, LLC - $7,470,000.

The Purchase Price shall be subject to the following adjustments (as so adjusted, the “Adjusted Purchase Price”):
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(a) Subject to Section 1.7, the Purchase Price shall be adjusted upward (increased) without duplication by the
following:

(1) the amount of (i) gross proceeds received by Buyers, or offset by Third Parties against amounts owed
by Buyers, from the sale of Hydrocarbons produced before the Effective Time from or attributable to the Transferred
Interests and (ii) any other income, revenues, credits, refunds, deposits, accounts receivable and proceeds that are paid
to or received by Buyers, or offset by Third Parties against amounts owed by Buyers, with respect to the Transferred
Interests and are, in accordance with GAAP, attributable to the period of time before the Effective Time;

(2) all costs, expenses, expenditures, payments and payables (including without limitation capital
expenditures, royalties, rentals, Taxes, deposits, billings under an operating agreement, prepaid insurance premiums
(provided that the Purchase Price shall not be adjusted upward for any insurance premium allocable to any period
after the Closing as to which Buyers are not insureds on such insurance), utility charges, processing, gathering or
transportation charges) and Losses that are based on, relate to or arise out of (in whole or in part) the ownership,
operation or use of any Transferred Interest and are, in accordance with GAAP, attributable to the period of time at or
after the Effective Time, to the extent they are paid by or on behalf of Sellers, or offset by Third Parties against amounts
owed to Sellers;

(3) the value of all Hydrocarbons in storage (or otherwise present in any Equipment as line fill or
otherwise) as of the Effective Time that are credited to the Transferred Interests, such value to be the actual price
received for such Hydrocarbons upon the first sale thereof or, absent a sale, then such value to be based upon the
average market price posted in the area for Hydrocarbons of similar quality and grade in effect as of the Effective Time
and upon the quantity as gauged or measured by the operator of the affected Properties, in each case net of royalties
and severance Taxes not yet paid thereon; and

(4) any other amounts agreed upon by Sellers and Buyers.

(b) Subject to Section 1.7, the Purchase Price shall be adjusted downward (decreased) without duplication by the
following:

(1) the amount of (i) gross proceeds received by any Seller, or offset by one or more Third Parties against
amounts owed by any Seller, from the sale of Hydrocarbons produced at or after the Effective Time from or attributable
to the Transferred Interests and (ii) any other income and proceeds actually received by any Seller, or offset by one or
more Third Parties against amounts owed by any Seller, that are, in accordance with GAAP, attributable to the period
of time at or after the Effective Time with respect to the Transferred Interests;

(2) all costs, expenses, expenditures, payments and payables (including without limitation capital
expenditures, royalties, rentals, Taxes, deposits, billings under an operating agreement, prepaid insurance premiums,
utility charges, processing, gathering or transportation charges) and Losses that are based on, relate to or arise out of
(in whole or in part) the ownership, operation or use of any Transferred Interests and are, in accordance with GAAP,
attributable to the period of time before the Effective Time, to the extent they are paid by a Buyer (or offset by one or
more Third Parties against amounts owed to a Buyer);
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(3) the aggregate Allocated Value of any Transferred Interests withheld from Closing pursuant to the terms
of this Agreement, including any reductions of the Purchase Price required pursuant to Section 4.1 (Casualty Loss);

(4) the aggregate amount of all Indebtedness that encumbers the Transferred Interests as of the Closing
Date; and

(5) any other amounts agreed upon by Sellers and Buyers.

1.7 Closing Statements and Post-Closing Adjustments.

(a) Preliminary Settlement Statement. At least five (5) Business Days before the Closing and using the best
information then available, Sellers shall prepare and deliver to Buyers a settlement statement (the “Preliminary Settlement
Statement”) that shall set forth the Purchase Price adjusted as of the Closing as provided in Section 1.6 (the “Closing Amount”)
and each adjustment to the Purchase Price and the calculation of such adjustments used to determine the Closing Amount. Within
three (3) Business Days after its receipt of the Preliminary Settlement Statement, Buyers shall submit to Sellers in writing any
objections or proposed changes thereto; Buyers shall be deemed to have agreed with all adjustments, other than as set forth
in a timely submission. Sellers and Buyers shall attempt to resolve any differences before the Closing; the final Preliminary
Settlement Statement shall consist only of those adjustments agreed to (or deemed agreed to) at or before the Closing. All other
adjustments to the Purchase Price not determined as of Closing shall be taken into account as provided in Section 1.7(b).

(b) Post-Closing Adjustments.

(1) Within one hundred twenty (120) days from the Closing, Sellers shall prepare and deliver to Buyers, in
accordance with this Agreement and GAAP, a statement (herein called the “Final Settlement Statement”) setting forth
each adjustment to the Purchase Price that was not included in the Preliminary Settlement Statement and showing the
calculation of such adjustment. At any Buyer’s request, Sellers shall supply reasonable documentation to support any
credit, charge, receipt or other item. Within thirty (30) days of receipt of the Final Settlement Statement, Buyers shall
deliver to Sellers a written report containing (1) any changes that a Buyer proposes be made to the Final Settlement
Statement and (2) supporting documentation for such changes; if Buyers do not timely deliver such report, Buyers shall
be deemed to have agreed with the Final Settlement Statement. The Parties shall negotiate in good faith and undertake
to agree with respect to the amounts due pursuant to such post-Closing adjustment(s) no later than thirty (30) days after
Buyers’ submission of their written report hereunder to Sellers.
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(2) In the event the Parties do not reach agreement within the period provided in Section 1.7(b)(1), then
any Party may refer the matter in dispute for review and determination by any “Big 4” accounting firm (or any other
nationally-recognized, independent accounting firm mutually agreed by the Parties) that has not been engaged by any
Party for at least five (5) years before the Closing Date. The accounting firm shall conduct the proceedings in Houston,
Texas in accordance with the Commercial Arbitration Rules of the AAA to the extent such rules do not conflict with
the terms of this Section. The accounting firm’s determination shall be in writing and made within thirty (30) days after
submission of the matters in dispute and shall be final and binding on the Parties, without right of appeal. In determining
the proper amount of any adjustment to the Purchase Price, the accounting firm shall not increase the Purchase Price
more than the increase proposed by Sellers nor decrease the Purchase Price more than the decrease proposed by Buyers,
as applicable. The accounting firm shall act as an arbitrator for the limited purpose of determining the specific disputed
matters submitted by any Party and may not award damages or penalties to any Party with respect to any matter. Each
Party shall bear its own legal fees and other costs of presenting its case. The affected Buyer(s) shall bear one-half of the
costs and expenses of the accounting firm, and the affected Seller(s) shall bear the other half.

(3) The date of final determination of the Adjusted Purchase Price (whether by agreement of the Parties
under subsection (b)(1) above or upon an arbitrator’s award pursuant to subsection (b)(2) above) is referred to as the
“Final Settlement Date”. Within five (5) Days after the Final Settlement Date, (i) if the Adjusted Purchase Price is less
than the Closing Amount, the affected Seller(s) shall pay to the affected Buyer(s) in immediately available funds the
amount of such difference (without interest) or (ii) if the Adjusted Purchase Price is more than the Closing Amount,
the affected Buyer(s) shall pay to the affected Seller(s) in immediately available funds the amount of such difference
(without interest).

(c) Amount to be Paid at Closing. The amount paid by Buyers at Closing will include all (i) undisputed amounts
from the Preliminary Closing Statement and (ii) any changes to the Closing Statement agreed on by Buyers and Sellers based on
such discussions pursuant to this Agreement.

(d) Disposition of Imbalances and Make-Up Obligations. An undivided one-half of any and all benefits,
obligations and liabilities associated with any Imbalances respect to any Seller’s Transferred Interests from and after the
Effective Time shall accrue to, and be the responsibility of, each Buyer. Neither the Closing Statement nor the Final Settlement
Statement shall include any adjustment for any Imbalances as of the Effective Time. Notwithstanding the actual amounts or
proceeds that a Buyer may receive from the Imbalances due to underproduced positions of one or more Sellers or where
Hydrocarbons or proceeds therefor are owed to one or more Sellers for any Hydrocarbons produced from any Leasehold Interest,
Unit or Well, or the actual amounts that a Buyer must pay with respect to Imbalances due to overproduced positions of one or
more Sellers or where Hydrocarbons or proceeds therefor are owing by one or more Sellers for any Hydrocarbons produced from
any Leasehold Interest, Unit or Well, the following shall apply: the Parties shall settle such Imbalances as between themselves,
in the ordinary course of business following the Closing.
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(e) Limitation in Adjustments. Notwithstanding anything else contrary contained herein, in no event shall any
downward adjustments (decreases) to the Purchase Price as set forth in the Preliminary Settlement Statement in the aggregate
exceed Three Million ($3,000,000) Dollars. For clarity, (i) neither this limit nor the provisions in Section 1.09(f) shall apply to
or affect any settlement/adjustment under Section 1.7(d) for any Imbalances and (ii) this limit shall not apply to any adjustments
for the Final Settlement Statement.

1.8 Allocated Values; Allocation of Purchase Price.

(a) Solely for the purposes of determining the value of the Transferred Interest in connection with any breach of
the Special Warranty under this Agreement, Buyers and Sellers have allocated the Purchase Price among the Properties set forth
on Exhibit A and Exhibit A-1 hereto, as applicable. The value so allocated to a particular Property identified on Exhibit A or
Exhibit A-1 hereto may be referred to as “Allocated Value” for that Property, as set forth in Exhibit B hereto. Buyers and Sellers
agree that such allocation is reasonable and shall not take any position inconsistent therewith. No Party, however, makes any
representations or warranties as to the accuracy of such value or allocation.

(b) Buyers and Sellers shall use commercially reasonable efforts to agree to an allocation of the Purchase Price and
any other items properly treated as consideration for U.S. federal income Tax purposes among the classes of assets provided for
in Treasury Regulations § 1.338-6 with respect to the Transferred Interests and, to the extent allowed by applicable Law, in a
manner consistent with the Allocated Values (the “Allocation Schedule”), within thirty (30) days after the date that the Final
Settlement Statement is finally determined pursuant to Section 1.7(b). If Sellers and Buyers reach an agreement with respect to
the Allocation Schedule, (i) Buyers and Sellers shall use commercially reasonable efforts to update the Allocation Schedule in
accordance with Section 1060 of the Code following any adjustment to the Purchase Price pursuant to this Agreement, and (ii)
Buyers and Sellers shall report consistently with the Allocation Schedule on all Tax Returns, including Internal Revenue Service
Form 8594 (Asset Acquisition Statement under Section 1060); provided, however, that no Party shall be unreasonably impeded
in its ability and discretion to negotiate, compromise and/or settle any Tax audit, Claim or similar Proceeding in connection with
such allocation.

1.9 Effective Time; Proration of Costs and Revenues.

(a) Possession of the Transferred Interests shall be transferred from Sellers to Buyers at the Closing, but the title to
and risk of loss in and certain financial benefits and obligations of the Transferred Interest shall be transferred from Sellers to
Buyers effective as of January 1, 2018, at 7:00 a.m., Central Time Zone (the “Effective Time”).
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(b) Buyers shall be entitled to all production of Hydrocarbons from or attributable to the Transferred Interest at
and after the Effective Time (and all products and proceeds attributable thereto), and to all other income, proceeds, receipts and
credits earned with respect to the Transferred Interest at or after the Effective Time and shall be responsible for (and entitled to
any refunds with respect to) all Property Costs incurred at and after the Effective Time.

(c) Sellers shall be entitled to all production of Hydrocarbons from or attributable to Transferred Interest prior to the
Effective Time (and all products and proceeds attributable thereto), and to all other income, proceeds, receipts and credits earned
with respect to the Transferred Interest prior to the Effective Time and shall be responsible for (and entitled to any refunds with
respect to) all Property Costs incurred prior to the Effective Time.

(d) Should a Buyer receive after Closing any proceeds or other income to which any Seller is entitled under
Section 1.9(c), such Buyer shall fully disclose, account for and promptly remit the same to such Seller. Should a Seller receive
after Closing any proceeds or other income with respect to the Transferred Interests to which a Buyer is entitled pursuant to
Section 1.9(b), such Seller shall fully disclose, account for, and promptly remit same to such Buyer.

(e) Should a Buyer pay after Closing any Property Costs for which a Seller is responsible under Section 1.9(c), such
Seller shall reimburse such Buyer promptly after receipt of an invoice with respect to such Property Costs. Should a Seller pay
after Closing any Property Costs for which a Buyer is responsible under Section 1.9(b), such Buyer shall reimburse such Seller
promptly after receipt of an invoice with respect to such Property Costs.

(f) Sellers shall have no further entitlement to amounts earned from the sale of Hydrocarbons produced from
or attributable to the Transferred Interest and other income earned with respect to the Transferred Interest and no further
responsibility for Property Costs with respect to the Transferred Interest following the final determination and payment of the
Adjusted Purchase Price in accordance with Section 1.7(b).

1.10 Transferred Interest Subject to Existing Agreements and Legal Requirements. The sale of the Transferred Interests
to Buyers is subject to (and Buyers agree to accept the Transferred Interest subject to) all Burdens listed on Exhibit A-3 and all Permitted
Encumbrances; provided however, that notwithstanding anything contrary contained herein the Transferred Interests shall not be subject
to any overriding royalty interest, production payment, net profits interest, Lien or otherwise of Sellers’ Lender (or any successor or
assignee).
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1.11 Taxes. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, it is acknowledged and agreed by and between Sellers and
Buyers that the Purchase Price excludes any sales Taxes or other Taxes in connection with the sale of the Transferred Interest pursuant
to this Agreement. If a determination is ever made that sales, use, gross receipts, transfer, real property transfer, documentary stamp,
recording and other similar Taxes arising from and with respect to the purchase and sale hereunder applies, Buyers and Sellers shall each
be liable for fifty percent (50%) of such Tax. Buyers shall indemnify and hold Sellers harmless with respect to the payment of any of
such Taxes, including any interest or penalties assessed thereon, for which Buyers are responsible and Sellers shall indemnify and hold
Buyers harmless with respect to the payment of any of such Taxes, including any interest or penalties assessed thereon, for which Sellers
are responsible, each pursuant to this section. The indemnity and hold harmless obligation contained in the preceding sentence shall
survive the Closing. All ad valorem real property and personal property Taxes, fees or assessments due with respect to the Transferred
Interests (collectively, “Property Taxes”) shall be prorated between Sellers, on the one hand, and Buyers, on the other hand, as of the
Effective Time on a calendar year basis based upon the number of days in the calendar year prior to the Effective Time and following
the Effective Time, using the calendar year 2017 Tax rates and assessments by the appropriate Governmental Entity. Such proration shall
be recalculated at such time as the calendar year 2018 tax assessments are available, and the Parties shall cooperate with each other in
all respects in connection with such recalculation and promptly pay any sums due in consequence thereof to the Party or Parties entitled
to recover the same. If any Party pays Taxes for which it is entitled to be reimbursed pursuant to this Section 1.11, the Party responsible
therefor shall promptly reimburse such Party so paying upon notice of the amount paid by such Party. Each Party shall be responsible for
its own income, franchise and margin Taxes, if any, that may result from the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

Article II.
Sellers’ Representations And Warranties

2.1 Sellers’ Representations and Warranties. Each Seller represents and warrants to Buyers as of both the Effective Time,
if applicable, and Execution Date as follows.

(a) Such Seller is a limited liability company duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws
of Delaware and is duly qualified to carry on its business in those states where the conduct of its business or ownership or leasing
of its Properties is such as to require such Seller to be so qualified.

(b) Such Seller has all requisite power and authority to carry on its business as presently conducted, to enter into this
Agreement and the other documents and agreements contemplated hereby, and to perform its obligations under this Agreement
and the other documents and agreements contemplated hereby. The consummation of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement will not violate, or be in conflict with, (i) any provision of such Seller’s governing agreements, (ii) any material
agreement or instrument to which Seller is a party or by which Seller is bound or (iii) any judgment, decree, order, statute,
rule, or regulation applicable to such Seller. This Agreement and all agreements, contracts, documents and instruments required
hereunder to be executed and delivered at Closing (“Ancillary Documents”) by such Seller constitute such Seller’s legal, valid
and binding obligations in accordance with their respective terms, subject to applicable bankruptcy and other similar Laws of
general application with respect to creditors.

(c) The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the Ancillary Documents and the transactions
contemplated hereby and thereby have been duly and validly authorized by all requisite authorizing action, company or
otherwise, on the part of such Seller and such Seller’s affiliates that are parties thereto.
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(d) There are no bankruptcy, reorganization or receivership Proceedings pending by or against, being contemplated
by, or, to Sellers’ Knowledge, threatened against, any Seller.

(e) No broker’s or finder’s fees have been incurred or are owed with respect to the transactions contemplated by
this Agreement other than obligations that are the sole responsibility of one or more Sellers.

(f) To Sellers’ Knowledge, there is no order, Proceeding or Claim pending, or threatened in writing, against any
Seller that relates to the Transferred Interests or that challenges, or that may have the effect of preventing, delaying, making
illegal, or otherwise interfering with, the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

(g) Each Seller (i) has timely filed all Tax returns for non-income Taxes with respect to the Transferred Interest
required to be filed by such Seller (taking into account any extension of time to file granted or obtained) and all such Tax returns
are true, correct and complete in all material aspects; (ii) has paid all non-income Taxes with respect to the Transferred Interest
that have become due; (iii) is not currently subject to an extension or waiver of the statute of limitations applicable to any Tax
return or with respect to a non-income Tax assessment or deficiency with respect to the Transferred Interest, which period has
not yet expired; and (iv) is not currently subject to any Proceeding with respect to non-income Taxes, and no such Proceeding
has been threatened in writing with respect to any non-income Taxes with respect to the Transferred Interest.

(h) Upon the Closing (but effective at all times from the Effective Time to the Closing), none of such Transferred
Interests shall be subject to any Lien or any Indebtedness or to any overriding royalty interests or reversionary interests (or other
interest in any Lease) that burden any or all of the Transferred Interests other than the Burdens shown on Exhibit A-3 hereto.

(i) To Sellers’ Knowledge, Sellers have been in compliance in all material respects with, and have maintained
the Transferred Interests (to the extent such activities have been performed by any Seller or its affiliates) in compliance in all
material respects with, all Contracts and all applicable Laws.

(j) Except for (i) Consents that are customarily obtained post-closing from Governmental Entities, (ii) such written
Consents that have been obtained and delivered to Buyers at or before the Closing and (iii) those Consents listed on Schedule
2.1(j) hereto, no Consent is required to be made or obtained.

(k) Except as identified on Schedule 2.1(k) hereto, no Person holds a preferential right to purchase or acquire any
or all portions of such Seller’s Transferred Interests or any interest therein as a result of or in connection with the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement.

(l) Except as identified on Schedule 2.1(l) hereto, no Proceeding relating to any or all portions of the Properties is
pending against such Seller or, to such Seller’s Knowledge, threatened against such Seller or any or all portions of the Properties.
No Proceeding affecting the execution and delivery of this Agreement by such Seller or the consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby by such Seller is pending against such Seller or, to such Seller’s Knowledge, threatened against such Seller.
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(m) All lessor’s royalties, overriding royalty interests and similar burdens owing by such Seller with respect to
such Seller’s Transferred Interests have been, and are being, paid timely.

(n) Neither such Seller nor, to such Seller’s Knowledge, any other party to any Contract is in material breach of
any Contract. The Scheduled Contracts include all Contracts to which such Seller is a party and that are of any type described
below:

(i) any Contract that can reasonably be expected to result in aggregate payments by such Seller of more
than Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars ($25,000) at or after the Effective Time;

(ii) any Hydrocarbon purchase and sale, transportation, processing, gathering, storage, marketing or similar
Contract that cannot be terminated at or after the Closing on notice of thirty (30) days or less without penalty or payment
of any fee;

(iii) any Contract (whether evidencing a sale-leaseback, Indebtedness for borrowed money or otherwise)
granting a Lien on such Seller’s Transferred Interest;

(iv) any Contract by which such Seller leases or subleases any of its Transferred Interest to or from another
Person (other than another Party);

(v) any participation agreement, joint development agreement, area of mutual interest agreement,
exploration agreement, asset purchase agreement, farmin agreement, farmout agreement, partnership agreement, joint
venture agreement, operating agreement, unit agreement, production handling agreement, processing agreement,
gathering agreement or acreage dedication agreement;

(vi) any Contract a default by such Seller under which will (1) have a material adverse effect as to the
transaction hereunder between such Seller and a Buyer, (2) prevent or materially delay such Seller from receiving the
proceeds or production attributable to such Seller’s Transferred Interests or (3) result in cancellation or reduction of
such Seller’s interest in any Property; or

(vii) any Contract by which such Seller guarantees any obligation of any other Person.
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Article III.
Buyers’ Representations and Warranties

3.1 Buyers’ Representations and Warranties. Each Buyer represents and warrants to Sellers as of both the Effective Time
and Execution Date as follows.

(a) Such Buyer is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the State
of Texas and is duly qualified to carry on its business in those states where the conduct of its business or ownership or leasing of
its properties is such as to require such Buyer to be so qualified.

(b) Such Buyer has all requisite power and authority to carry on its business as presently conducted, to enter into this
Agreement and the other documents and agreements contemplated hereby, and to perform it obligations under this Agreement
and the other documents and agreements contemplated hereby. The consummation of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement will not violate, or be in conflict with, (i) any provision of such Buyer’s governing documents, (ii) any material
agreement or instrument to which such Buyer is a party or by which such Buyer is bound or (iii) any judgment, decree, order,
statute, rule, or regulation applicable to such Buyer. This Agreement and the Ancillary Documents to be executed and delivered
by such Buyer at Closing constitute such Buyer’s legal, valid and binding obligations in accordance with their respective terms,
subject to applicable bankruptcy and other similar Laws of general application with respect to creditors.

(c) The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the Ancillary Documents and the transactions
contemplated hereby and thereby have been duly and validly authorized by all requisite authorizing action, corporate or
otherwise, on the part of such Buyer and each of such Buyer’s affiliates that is a party thereto.

(d) There are no bankruptcy, reorganization or receivership Proceedings pending by or against, being contemplated
by, or, to the actual knowledge of such Buyer, threatened against such Buyer.

(e) No broker’s or finder’s fees have been incurred or are owed with respect to the transactions contemplated by
this Agreement other than obligations that are the sole responsibility of such Buyer.

(f) To such Buyer’s knowledge, there is no order, Proceeding or Claim pending, or threatened in writing, against
such Buyer that challenges, or that may have the effect of preventing, delaying, making illegal, or otherwise interfering with, the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

(g) Such Buyer acknowledges that neither the solicitation of an offer for, nor the sale of, the Transferred Interests
by any Seller has been registered under any securities Laws. Such Buyer intends to acquire its share of the Transferred Interests
for its own benefit and account and is not acquiring any Transferred Interest with the intent of distributing fractional undivided
interests in any Transferred Interest in a manner that would violate any federal or state securities Laws. At no time has such
Buyer been solicited by or through any public promotion in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
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(h) Such Buyer is eligible under all applicable Laws to own leases covering the Leases and has the financial
resources available to close the transactions contemplated by this Agreement without financing that is subject to any material
contingency.

(i) Such Buyer is a sophisticated, experienced and knowledgeable purchaser, owner and operator of oil and gas
properties and related facilities (with sufficient financial resources, technical expertise and personnel), is knowledgeable of the
usual and customary practices of prudent oil and gas operators, is able to evaluate (and has in fact evaluated) the Transferred
Interests for purchase and the merits and economic and other risks of acquiring and owning its share of the Transferred
Interests and assuming its share of the Assumed Liabilities and such Buyer’s other obligations under this Agreement and is
not a “consumer” within the meaning of the Texas Deceptive Trade Practices-Consumer Protection Act, Tex. Bus. & Com.
Code art. 17.41 et seq., the Louisiana Unfair Trade Practices and Consumer Protection Law, La. R.S. 51:1401 et seq., or any
comparable Law. In making its decision to enter into this Agreement and to consummate the transactions contemplated herein,
such Buyer (i) has satisfied itself, based upon the representations and warranties of Sellers set forth in this Agreement and its
own independent investigation, as to the physical and environmental condition of the Properties, which includes access to the
Properties, the officers and employers of Sellers, and the books, records and files of Sellers relating to the Properties, (ii) has
relied on no representations or warranties of Sellers (other than as expressly set forth in this Agreement) and otherwise has relied
solely on its own independent investigation, evaluation, appraisal and judgment of the Transferred Interests, (iii) has, with its
legal counsel and other advisers, carefully reviewed all of the provisions of this Agreement and (iv) fully understands the legal
effects of this Agreement, including the meaning and effect of each provision of this Agreement. Such Buyer acknowledges
that Sellers have not made, and that Sellers expressly disclaim and negate, any representation or warranty
(other than those express representations and warranties made in this Agreement), whether express, statutory,
implied or otherwise.

Article IV.
Casualty Loss

4.1 Casualty Loss.

(a) If prior to the Closing, any Property (or any part thereof) is damaged or destroyed (including any well,
platform or other infrastructure) as a result of flood, wind, hurricane or other act of God, fire, theft, vandalism, terrorism, act of war,
explosion or other casualty event (each a “Casualty Event”), this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect notwithstanding any
such Casualty Event.

16

Copyright © 2018 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

https://www.secdatabase.com


(b) In the event of any loss described in Section 4.1(a), Sellers must elect, by written notice to Buyer prior
to the Closing Date, either to (i) cause the Property affected by the Casualty Event to be repaired, restored or replaced, at Sellers’ sole
cost, as promptly as reasonably practicable, but only up to the Allocated Value thereof (which work may extend after the Closing Date),
(ii) indemnify Buyers, pursuant to an agreement to be executed at the Closing reasonably acceptable to the Parties, against any costs or
expenses that Buyers reasonably incur to repair, restore or replace the Property, but only up to the Allocated Value thereof, or (iii) deem
the Transferred Interest affected by the Casualty Event to be an Excluded Asset that shall be excluded from the Transferred Interests
to be conveyed to Buyers at the Closing and reduce the Purchase Price by the Allocated Value of such Transferred Interests pursuant
to Section 1.6(b)(4). In each case, Sellers shall retain all rights to insurance and other Claims against Third Parties with respect to the
Casualty Events, except to the extent the Parties otherwise agree in writing.

Article V.
Title

5.1 Special Warranty of Title. EACH SELLER WILL CONVEY TITLE TO ITS TRANSFERRED INTERESTS TO
BUYERS WITHOUT ANY WARRANTY OF TITLE, EXPRESS, STATUTORY OR IMPLIED, NOT EVEN FOR RETURN OF
THE PURCHASE PRICE, except that each Seller shall warrant and defend title to such Seller’s Transferred Interest unto Buyers (and
their respective successors and assigned) against (a) every Person whomsoever lawfully claiming or to claim the same or any part thereof
by, through or under such Seller, but not otherwise, subject, however, to the Permitted Encumbrances and the other matters set forth
herein and (b) any overriding royalty interest, reversionary interest or other burden of any kind to such Seller’s Transferred Interest other
than those Burdens set forth on Exhibit A-3 hereto (the “Special Warranty”). In no event shall the foregoing warranty extend to or be
enforceable by any Third Party other than Buyers, specifically excluding Buyers’ successors and assigns in all or part of the Transferred
Interests.

5.2 Limitations on Special Warranty. Recovery by Buyers for any breach by a Seller of the Special Warranty shall be
limited to an amount (without any interest accruing thereon) equal to the reduction to the Purchase Price to which Buyer would have been
entitled had Buyer asserted the defect giving rise to such breach of the Special Warranty in the Preliminary Settlement Statement and in
no event shall that recovery together with any other recovery for any breach of the Special Warranty related to the affected Transferred
Interest exceed the Allocated Value of such Transferred Interest.
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5.3 Consents to Assignment. Sellers shall use all reasonable efforts to obtain all necessary Consents from Third Parties to
assign the Transferred Interests. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, no Seller shall be liable for failure to obtain any such
consents or waivers. At Closing, Sellers shall notify Buyers in writing of all such required non-governmental third-party Consents to the
assignment of the Transferred Interests to Buyers which have not been obtained and the Properties to which they pertain. In no event shall
there be included in the Assignment at Closing the Transferred Interest in any Property subject to an unsatisfied consent requirement that
would be triggered by the purchase and sale contemplated by this Agreement and provides that transfer of the Property without consent
will result in a termination or other material impairment of any rights in relation to such Property (a “Consent Requirement”). In cases
where the Transferred Interest subject to such a Consent Requirement is a Contract and Buyers are assigned the Transferred Interests in
the Properties to which the Contract relates, but the Transferred Interest in the Contract is not transferred due to the unwaived Consent
Requirement, Sellers shall use commercially reasonable efforts after Closing to obtain the applicable consent so that the Transferred
Interest in such Contract can be transferred to Buyers upon receipt of such consent. In cases where the Property subject to a Consent
Requirement is a Property and the applicable consent is not obtained on or prior to the Closing Date, Buyers may elect to exclude such
Transferred Interest from the Properties for purposes of Closing, in which event the Purchase Price payable at Closing shall be reduced
by an amount equal to the Allocated Value of such Transferred Interest in such Property. If such an unsatisfied Consent Requirement for
which a Purchase Price adjustment is made is subsequently satisfied prior to the date of the determination of the final adjustment to the
Purchase Price under Section 1.7(b), Sellers shall receive an additional upward adjustment to the Purchase Price in the final adjustments
made under Section 1.7(b) equal to the amount of the previous reduction in the Purchase Price on account of the Consent Requirement.
Within two days of the Final Settlement Date, Sellers shall assign to Buyers using the form attached hereto as Exhibit C, to the extent
previously unassigned, the Transferred Interest in each Property subject to an aforementioned Consent Requirement that was subsequently
satisfied prior to the Final Settlement Date.

5.4 Waiver of Preferential Rights. Each Party waives any preferential right it may have with respect to the purchase and
sale hereunder as to any other Party.

Article VI.
Closing

6.1 Date and Place of Closing. The purchase by Buyers and the sale by Sellers of the Transferred Interests as
contemplated by this Agreement (the “Closing”) shall take place at the offices of Sellers at 1254 Enclave Parkway, Suite 600, Houston,
Texas 77077, contemporaneously with the execution and delivery of this Agreement.

6.2 Post Closing. In addition to the obligations of the Parties as set forth in Section 1.7, after the Closing, each Party, at the
request of another Party and without any additional compensation, shall execute and deliver, or shall cause to be executed and delivered,
from time to time such further instruments of conveyance and transfer and shall take such other action as any other Party may reasonably
request to convey and deliver the Transferred Interests and to accomplish the orderly transfer of Transferred Interests, amendments to or
assignments of Contracts, to the extent necessary, all in a manner contemplated or required by this Agreement. Upon a Buyer’s request,
Sellers shall make any specified Records available to such Buyer for inspection and copying.
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Article VII.
Closing Obligations

At the Closing, the following events shall occur, each being a condition precedent to the others and each being deemed to have
occurred simultaneously with the others:

7.1 Sellers’ Obligations.

(a) Sellers shall execute, acknowledge and deliver multiple counterparts of one or more Assignments in
substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit C (each, an “Assignment”) that collectively assign the Transferred Interests to
Buyers effective as of the Effective Time.

(b) Sellers shall execute and deliver multiple counterparts of the following assignment forms (with an executed
copy of the Assignment attached as Exhibit “A” to each):

(i) Form BOEM-0150 for the EW 834 RT;

(ii) Form BOEM-0151 for the Deep EW 834 OR;

(iii) Form BOEM-0150 for OCS-G 33140 (as to all of Block 790, Ewing Bank);

(iv) Form BOEM-0150 for OCS-G 33177 (as to all of Block 793, Mississippi Canyon);

(v) Form BOEM-0150 for OCS-G 33707 (as to all of Block 835, Ewing Bank); and

(vi) Form BOEM-0150 for OCS-G 35805 (as to all of Block 789, Ewing Bank).

(c) Sellers shall deliver or cause to be delivered an executed statement described in Treasury Regulation
§ 1.1445-2(b)(2) certifying that each such Seller is not a foreign Person within the meaning of the Code, in substantially the
form attached hereto as Exhibit D.

(d) Sellers shall deliver or cause to be delivered a certificate duly executed by an authorized representative of
Sellers, dated as of the Closing, (i) certifying that Sellers’ representations and warranties contained in this Agreement are true
and correct, (ii) certifying on behalf of Sellers that this Agreement, the Ancillary Documents and the transactions contemplated
hereunder have been duly authorized by each Seller and (iii) certifying on behalf of Sellers the incumbency of each individual
executing this Agreement or any Ancillary Document on behalf of any Seller.

(e) Sellers shall deliver to Buyers written evidence, satisfactory to Buyers and their counsel:

(1) that, upon the Closing, the Transferred Interests shall not be burdened by any Lien, overriding royalty
interest or other burden in favor of Sellers’ Lenders;

(2) that Fieldwood Energy LLC has consented to the assignment hereunder (and all prior assignments in
Sellers’ chain-of-title) with respect to the Noble Farmout Agreement;
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(3) that each party to the Operating Agreement has waived its preferential right as to the assignment
hereunder as to any or all portions of the Transferred Interests; and

(4) that the holders of any overriding royalty interest granted by Hall-Houston Exploration III, LP in any
Lease hold collectively no more than 2% of 12.5% of 8/8ths as to any portion of any Lease.

(f) Sellers shall execute and deliver the remaining documents, instruments and materials required of Sellers by
this Agreement or otherwise reasonably requested by Buyers or Buyers’ counsel.

7.2 Buyers’ Obligations.

(a) Each Buyer shall deliver by wire transfer of immediately available funds to Sellers (through each’s manager,
Ridgewood Energy Corporation), in accordance with Sellers’ written wire transfer instructions, which have been provided by
Sellers to Buyers, an amount equal to such Buyer’s share of the Closing Amount. Upon the receipt of any amounts into such
account of Ridgewood Energy Corporation (whether as part of the Closing, under the Final Settlement Statement or otherwise),
Sellers shall release, indemnify and defend the pertinent Buyer from any Claims relating to the payment of such amounts and/or
the allocation of any or all of such amounts among Sellers.

(b) Buyers shall execute, acknowledge and deliver each counterpart of each Assignment and each assignment
form referenced in Section 7.1(b) above.

(c) Each Buyer shall deliver or cause to be delivered a certificate duly executed by an authorized representative of
such Buyer, dated as of the Closing, (i) certifying that such Buyer’s representations and warranties contained in this Agreement
are true and correct, (ii) certifying on behalf of such Buyer that this Agreement, the Ancillary Documents and the transactions
contemplated hereby have been duly authorized by such Buyer and (iii) certifying on behalf of such Buyer the incumbency of
each representative of such Buyer executing this Agreement or any Ancillary Document on behalf of such Buyer.

(d) Buyers shall execute and deliver the remaining documents, instruments and materials required of Buyers by
this Agreement or otherwise reasonably requested by Sellers or Sellers’ counsel.

Article VIII.
[intentionally blank]
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Article IX.
Indemnification

9.1 Indemnification.

(a) Indemnification by Sellers. From and after Closing, Sellers shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless each
Buyer, its current and future affiliates and its and their Representatives (collectively, the “Buyers Indemnified Parties”) from
and against any and all Losses, including Environmental Losses, actually incurred or suffered by the Buyers Indemnified Parties
as a result of, relating to or arising out of (i) any breach of any representation or warranty made by any Seller contained in this
Agreement or in any Ancillary Document, (ii) any breach of any covenant or agreement made or to be performed by any Seller
under this Agreement or any Ancillary Document and/or (iii) the Retained Liabilities.

(b) Indemnification by Buyers. From and after Closing, each Buyer shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless each
Seller, its current and future affiliates and its and their Representatives (collectively, the “Sellers Indemnified Parties”) from
and against any and all Losses, including Environmental Losses, actually incurred or suffered by the Sellers Indemnified Parties
as a result of, relating to or arising out of (i) any breach of any representation or warranty made by such Buyer contained in this
Agreement or any Ancillary Document, (ii) the breach of any covenant or agreement made or to be performed by such Buyer
under this Agreement and (iii) such Buyer’s share of the Assumed Liabilities.

9.2 Limitations on Liability.

(a) Survival.

(1) All of the representations and warranties of Sellers contained in Article II (other than in Section 2.1(a)-
(e)) shall continue in full force and effect for a period of two (2) years after the Closing Date and expire thereafter. All
other representations, warranties, covenants and obligations of Sellers and all representations, warranties, covenants
and obligations of Buyers under this Agreement shall indefinitely survive the Closing.

(2) Sellers’ indemnities in Sections 9.1(a)(i) and 9.1(a)(ii) and Buyers’ indemnities in Sections 9.1(b)(i)
and 9.1(b)(ii) shall terminate as of the termination date of each respective representation, warranty, covenant or
agreement that is subject to indemnification, except in each case as to matters for which a specific written claim for
indemnity has been delivered to the applicable Party on or before such termination date. Sellers’ indemnity in Section
9.1(a)(iii) for (y) the Retained Liabilities described in Sections 1.5(a), 1.5(c), 1.5(d) and 1.5(e) shall continue without
time limit, and (z) the Retained Liabilities described in Section 1.5(b) shall terminate two (2) years after the Closing
Date. Buyers’ indemnities in Section 9.1(b)(iii) shall continue without time limit.

(b) Indirect and Punitive Damages. Under no circumstances shall any Party be liable to another Party for any
indirect, consequential, contingent, unforeseen, special, exemplary or punitive damages of any nature (including lost profits);
provided, however, that any such damages recovered by any Third Party for which a Party owes another Party an indemnity
under this Agreement shall not be waived.
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(c) Insurance and Duplication. The Parties will make appropriate adjustments for any insurance proceeds actually
received by any Buyers Indemnified Party or Sellers Indemnified Party in determining Losses for purposes of this Article IX.
Any Liability for indemnification under this Agreement shall be determined without duplication of recovery by reason of the
state of facts giving rise to such Liability constituting a breach of more than one representation, warranty, covenant or agreement.

9.3 Indemnification Procedures. All claims for indemnification under this Agreement related to Third Party Claims shall
be asserted and resolved pursuant to this Section 9.3.

(a) Promptly after the receipt by any Person seeking indemnification hereunder (an “Indemnified Party”) of a
notice of any Claim by any Third Party that may be subject to indemnification hereunder (a “Third Party Claim”), such
Indemnified Party shall give written notice of such Third Party Claim to the indemnifying Party (the “Indemnifying Party”)
stating the nature and basis of the Third Party Claim and the amount thereof, to the extent known, along with copies of the
relevant documents evidencing the Third Party Claim and the basis for indemnification sought. Failure of the Indemnified Party
to give such notice shall not relieve the Indemnifying Party from liability on account of this indemnification, except if and to the
extent that the Indemnifying Party is actually prejudiced thereby.

(b) The Indemnifying Party, at its own expense, shall have the right, exercisable within thirty (30) days of receipt of
notice of the Third Party Claim, to assume the defense of the Indemnified Party against the Third Party Claim so long as (i) the
Indemnifying Party proceeds in good faith and in a timely manner and (ii) such Third Party Claim involves (and continues to
involve) solely monetary damages.

(c) So long as the Indemnifying Party has assumed the defense of the Third Party Claim in accordance with
Section 9.3(b), (i) the Indemnified Party may retain separate co-counsel at its sole cost and expense and participate in the defense
of the Third Party Claim, it being understood that the Indemnifying Party shall pay all costs and expenses of counsel for the
Indemnified Party (A) for all periods prior to such time as the Indemnifying Party has notified the Indemnified Party that it has
assumed the defense of such Third Party Claim and (B) if there is a conflict of interest between the Indemnifying Party and
the Indemnified Party, (ii) the Indemnified Party shall not consent to the entry of any judgment or enter into any settlement
with respect to the Third Party Claim without the prior written consent of the Indemnifying Party (which consent shall not be
unreasonably withheld or delayed), and (iii) the Indemnifying Party shall not consent to the entry of any judgment or enter into
any settlement with respect to the Third Party Claim without the prior written consent of the Indemnified Party (which consent
shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed).
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(d) The Parties shall use commercially reasonable efforts to minimize Losses from Third Party Claims and shall act
in good faith and in a timely manner in responding to, defending against, settling or otherwise dealing with Third Party Claims.
The Parties shall also cooperate in any such defense and give each other reasonable access to all information relevant thereto.
Whether or not the Indemnifying Party shall have assumed the defense of a Third Party Claim, the Indemnifying Party shall
not be obligated to indemnify the Indemnified Party hereunder for any settlement entered into without the Indemnifying Party’s
prior written consent, which consent shall not unreasonably withheld or delayed. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Indemnified
Party shall have the sole and exclusive right to settle any Third Party Claim, on such terms and conditions as it deems reasonably
appropriate, to the extent such claim involves equitable or other non-monetary relief.

9.4 Fault of Parties. THE INDEMNIFICATION PROVIDED FOR IN THIS ARTICLE IX SHALL BE
APPLICABLE WHETHER OR NOT THE CLAIMS IN QUESTION AROSE FROM THE SOLE, CONCURRENT, ACTIVE
OR PASSIVE FAULT, NEGLIGENCE OR STRICT LIABILITY OF ANY PARTY OR OTHER PERSON AND REGARDLESS
OF WHO MAY BE AT FAULT OR OTHERWISE RESPONSIBLE UNDER ANY OTHER CONTRACT, OR ANY STATUTE,
RULE, OR THEORY OF LAW, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, THEORIES OF STRICT LIABILITY OR
UNSEAWORTHINESS OF ANY VESSEL BUT EXCLUDING GROSS NEGLIGENCE AND WILLFUL MISCONDUCT OF
THE PARTY (OR OTHER PERSON) TO BE INDEMNIFIED. THE PARTIES ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THE FOREGOING
INDEMNITIES TOGETHER WITH THIS STATEMENT COMPLY WITH THE EXPRESS NEGLIGENCE RULE AND ARE
CONSPICUOUS.

9.5 Exclusive Remedies. The Parties agree that the indemnification provisions of this Article IX shall be the exclusive
remedies of the Parties and their respective Indemnified Parties after the Closing for any breach or inaccuracy of any representation or
warranty or breach of any covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement or any other Claim, whether in law or in equity, arising out
of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby, and the Parties shall not be entitled to a rescission of this Agreement or to any
further indemnification or other rights or claims of any nature whatsoever in respect thereof, all of which the Parties hereto hereby waive.

(a) Each Party acknowledges and agrees that such Party may not avoid such limitation on liability by (x) seeking
damages for breach of contract, tort or pursuant to any other theory of liability, all of which are hereby waived, or (y) asserting
or threatening any claim against any Person who is not a party hereto (or a successor to a party hereto) for any breach of any
representation, warranty or covenant contained in this Agreement.

(b) Except as set forth in this Agreement, each Buyer (on behalf of itself, each of its other Buyers Indemnified
Parties and their respective insurers and successors in interest) waives, releases, remises and forever discharges, to the fullest
extent permitted by applicable Law, the Sellers Indemnified Parties from any and all Claims, Losses or Liabilities, in Law
or in equity, known or unknown, which such parties might now or subsequently may have, based on, relating to or arising
out of this Agreement, Sellers’ ownership, use or operation of the Transferred Interests, or the condition, quality, status or
nature of the Transferred Interests, including rights to contribution under CERCLA and under other Environmental Laws,
breaches of statutory or implied warranties, nuisance or other tort actions, rights to punitive damages and common law rights
of contribution, rights under agreements between Sellers and any Persons who are affiliates of Sellers, and rights under
insurance maintained by Sellers or any Person who is an affiliate of Sellers, EVEN IF CAUSED IN WHOLE OR IN PART
BY THE NEGLIGENCE (WHETHER SOLE, JOINT OR CONCURRENT, BUT EXCLUDING GROSS NEGLIGENCE AND
WILLFUL MISCONDUCT) OF ANY RELEASED PERSON, excluding, however, any existing contractual rights between (i)
any Buyer or any of its affiliates and (ii) any Seller or any of its affiliates under contracts between them relating to the Transferred
Interests, other than this Agreement.
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(c) Except as set forth in this Agreement, each Seller (on behalf of itself, each of its other Sellers Indemnified
Parties and their respective insurers and successors in interest) waives, releases, remises and forever discharges, to the fullest
extent permitted by applicable Law, the Buyers Indemnified Parties from any and all Claims, Losses or Liabilities, in Law or
in equity, known or unknown, which such parties might now or subsequently may have, based on, relating to or arising out
of this Agreement, breaches of statutory or implied warranties, nuisance or other tort actions, rights to punitive damages and
common law rights of contribution, rights under agreements between any Buyer and any Person who is an affiliate of such
Buyer, and rights under insurance maintained by any Buyer or any Person who is an affiliate of any Buyer, EVEN IF CAUSED
IN WHOLE OR IN PART BY THE NEGLIGENCE (WHETHER SOLE, JOINT OR CONCURRENT, BUT EXCLUDING
GROSS NEGLIGENCE AND WILLFUL MISCONDUCT) OF ANY RELEASED PERSON, excluding, however, any existing
contractual rights between (i) any Seller or any of its affiliates and (ii) any Buyer or any of its affiliates under contracts between
them relating to the Transferred Interests, other than this Agreement.

(d) EACH PARTY EXPRESSLY WAIVES ALL RIGHTS AFFORDED BY ANY LAW WHICH LIMITS THE
EFFECT OF A RELEASE WITH RESPECT TO UNKNOWN CLAIMS. EACH PARTY UNDERSTAND THE
SIGNIFICANCE OF THIS RELEASE OF UNKNOWN CLAIMS AND WAIVER OF STATUTORY PROTECTION
AGAINST A RELEASE OF UNKNOWN CLAIMS. EACH PARTY ALSO ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT THIS
WAIVER IS AN ESSENTIAL AND MATERIAL TERM OF THIS AGREEMENT.

9.6 Bargaining Position. The Parties agree that this Article IX and the limits imposed on each Party’s remedies with
respect to this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby were specifically bargained for between sophisticated parties and
were specifically taken into account in the determination of the amount of the Purchase Price.

Article X.
Notices

10.1 Notice. All communications required or permitted under this Agreement shall be in writing and any communication or
delivery hereunder shall be deemed to have been fully made if actually delivered, or if mailed by registered or certified mail, postage
prepaid, to the address as set forth below (or such other address for a Party as such Party may specify by written notice in accordance
with this Section 10.1):
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If to a SELLER:

Ridgewood Energy Corporation
1254 Enclave Parkway, Suite 600
Houston, Texas 77077
W. Gregory Tabor
Phone: (281) 293-8449
Fax: (281) 293-7705
E-mail: gtabor@ridgewoodenergy.com

If to Walter:

Walter Oil & Gas Corporation
1100 Louisiana Street, Suite 200
Houston, Texas 77002-5299
Attention: Chad Elias
Phone: (713) 659-1221
Fax: (713) 756-1177
E-mail: celias@walteroil.com

If to Gordy:

Gordy Oil Company
100 Waugh Drive, Suite 400Houston, Texas 77007
Attention: Brianne Gravatt
Phone: (713) 951-0100
Fax: (713) 951-0191
E-mail: bgravatt@sginterests.com

Article XI.
Warranties

11.1 Disclaimer of Warranties. The express representations and warranties contained in this Agreement are exclusive
and are in lieu of all other representations and warranties, express, implied or statutory. EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY PROVIDED
OTHERWISE IN THIS AGREEMENT:

(a) EACH BUYER REPRESENT THAT IT HAS INSPECTED, OR HAS HAD THE OPPORTUNITY TO
INSPECT, THE PROPERTIES AND ACCEPTS THE PHYSICAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITION OF THE
PROPERTIES ON AN “AS IS-WHERE IS” AND “WITH ALL FAULTS” BASIS AND IN PRESENT CONDITION AND
STATE OF REPAIR.
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(b) EACH BUYER (i) FOREVER RELEASES EACH SELLER FROM ANY LIABILITY WITH RESPECT TO
THE PHYSICAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITION OF THE PROPERTIES COMPRISING THE TRANSFERRED
INTEREST AT THE CLOSING WHETHER OR NOT CAUSED BY OR ATTRIBUTABLE TO SELLERS’ NEGLIGENCE,
FAULT, OR STRICT LIABILITY, AND WHETHER OR NOT ARISING DURING THE PERIOD OF, OR FROM, OR IN
CONNECTION WITH SELLERS’ OWNERSHIP OR USE OF THE PROPERTIES PRIOR TO OR AT THE CLOSING
AND (ii) WAIVES ANY RIGHT TO RECOVER FROM ANY SELLER ANY AND ALL DAMAGES, CLAIMS, LOSSES,
LIABILITIES, PENALTIES, FINES, LIENS, JUDGMENTS, COSTS AND EXPENSES WHATSOEVER, (INCLUDING
WITHOUT LIMITATION, ATTORNEYS' FEES AND COSTS), WHETHER DIRECT OR INDIRECT, KNOWN OR
UNKNOWN, FORESEEN OR UNFORESEEN, THAT MAY ARISE ON ACCOUNT OF OR IN ANY WAY BE
CONNECTED WITH THE PHYSICAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITION OF THE PROPERTIES COMPRISING
THE TRANSFERRED INTEREST AT AND AFTER THE CLOSING OR ANY LAW OR REGULATION APPLICABLE
THERETO, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION, THE COMPREHENSIVE ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSE,
COMPENSATION AND LIABILITY ACT OF 1980, AS AMENDED (42 U.S.C. § 9601 et seq.), THE RESOURCE
CONSERVATION AND RECOVERY ACT OF 1976 (42 U.S.C. ¤ 6901 et seq.), THE CLEAN WATER ACT (33 U.S.C.
§ § 466 et seq.), THE SAFE DRINKING WATER ACT (14 U.S.C. § 1401-1450), THE HAZARDOUS MATERIALS
TRANSPORTATION ACT (49 U.S.C. § 7401 et seq.), AS AMENDED, THE CLEAN AIR ACT AMENDMENTS OF 1990,
AND ANY OTHER APPLICABLE FEDERAL, STATE OR LOCAL LAW, WHETHER OR NOT ARISING DURING
THE PERIOD OF, OR FROM, OR IN CONNECTION WITH, SELLERS’ OWNERSHIP OR USE OF THE PROPERTIES
COMPRISING THE TRANSFERRED INTEREST PRIOR TO OR AT THE CLOSING, AND WHETHER OR NOT
ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE STRICT LIABILITY OF SELLERS OR TO THE SOLE, JOINT OR CONCURRENT, ACTIVE
OR PASSIVE, NEGLIGENCE OF SELLERS, EVEN IF CAUSED BY THE GROSS NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL
MISCONDUCT OF SELLERS PRIOR TO CLOSING.

(c) SELLERS MAKE NO WARRANTY OR REPRESENTATION, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, AS TO THE
ACCURACY OR COMPLETENESS OF ANY DATA, INFORMATION OR MATERIALS HERETOFORE OR
HEREAFTER FURNISHED TO BUYERS IN CONNECTION WITH THE PROPERTIES, OR AS TO THE QUALITY
OR QUANTITY OF HYDROCARBON RESERVES (IF ANY) ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE PROPERTIES OR THE
ABILITY OF THE PROPERTIES TO PRODUCE HYDROCARBONS OR THE AMOUNT OF HYDROCARBONS
THE PROPERTIES MAY PRODUCE. ANY AND ALL SUCH DATA, INFORMATION AND OTHER MATERIALS
FURNISHED BY SELLERS IS PROVIDED TO BUYERS AS A CONVENIENCE AND ANY RELIANCE ON OR USE
OF THE SAME SHALL BE AT BUYERS’ SOLE RISK.
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(d) BUYERS ACKNOWLEDGE THAT, EXCEPT FOR PURPOSES OF SELLERS’ INDEMNITY
OBLIGATIONS UNDER THIS AGREEMENT AND OTHER MATTERS AS TO WHICH SELLERS HAVE REPRESENTED
AND WARRANTED OR OTHERWISE AGREED, SELLERS HAVE NOT MADE, AND SELLERS HEREBY EXPRESSLY
DISCLAIMS AND NEGATES, ANY COVENANT, REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED,
RELATING TO THE CONDITION OF ANY EQUIPMENT (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, (i) ANY IMPLIED
OR EXPRESS WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY, (ii) ANY IMPLIED OR EXPRESS WARRANTY OF FITNESS
FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, (iii) ANY IMPLIED OR EXPRESS WARRANTY OF CONFORMITY TO MODELS
OR SAMPLES OF MATERIALS, (iv) ANY RIGHTS OF BUYERS UNDER APPROPRIATE STATUTES TO CLAIM
DIMINUTION OF CONSIDERATION OR RETURN OF THE PURCHASE PRICE, (v) ANY IMPLIED OR EXPRESS
WARRANTY OF FREEDOM FROM PATENT OR TRADEMARK INFRINGEMENT, (vi) ANY IMPLIED OR EXPRESS
WARRANTY OF FREEDOM FROM REDHIBITORY VICES OR DEFECTS OR OTHER VICES OR DEFECTS, WHETHER
KNOWN OR UNKNOWN, AND (vii) ANY AND ALL IMPLIED WARRANTIES EXISTING UNDER APPLICABLE LAW
NOW OR HEREAFTER IN EFFECT), IT BEING THE EXPRESS INTENTION OF SELLERS AND BUYERS THAT THE
TRANSFERRED INTEREST WITH RESPECT TO THE EQUIPMENT SHALL BE CONVEYED TO BUYERS AS IS AND
IN THEIR PRESENT CONDITION AND STATE OF REPAIR. EACH BUYER REPRESENTS TO SELLERS THAT SUCH
BUYER HAS MADE OR CAUSED TO BE MADE SUCH INSPECTIONS WITH RESPECT TO THE EQUIPMENT AS
SUCH BUYER DEEMS APPROPRIATE AND SUCH BUYER WILL ACCEPT ITS SHARE OF THE TRANSFERRED
INTEREST WITH RESPECT TO THE EQUIPMENT AS IS, IN THEIR PRESENT CONDITION AND STATE OF REPAIR.

11.2 Waiver of Consumer Rights. Each Buyer hereby expressly waives its rights under Texas Deceptive Trade Practices-
Consumer Protection Act, Section 17.41 et seq. of the Texas Business & Commerce Code, a law that gives consumer special rights and
protections. After consultation with an attorney of its own selection, each Buyer voluntarily consents to this waiver. In order to evidence
its ability to grant the above waiver, each Buyer represents and warrants to Sellers all of the following:

(a) Such Buyer is in the business of seeking or acquiring by purchase or lease, goods or services for commercial
business use matters that enable such Buyer to evaluate the merits and risks contemplated herein;

(b) Such Buyer has knowledge and experience in financial and business matters that enable such Buyer to evaluate
the merits and risks of the transaction contemplated herein; and

(c) Such Buyer is not in a significantly disparate bargaining position with Sellers.
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Article XII.
Miscellaneous

12.1 Several Liability.

(a) Each Seller shall be severally (and not jointly or solidarily) liable for Sellers’ obligations of under this
Agreement and any Ancillary Documents, including without limitation all indemnity obligations of Sellers, in accordance with
each such Seller’s undivided Transferred Interest (expressed as a percentage on an 8/8ths basis with respect to the Properties) in
the Properties as follows:

(i) Ridgewood Energy O Fund, LLC - 2.070%
(ii) Ridgewood Energy S Fund, LLC - 0.722%
(iii) Ridgewood Energy T Fund, LLC - 0.344%
(iv) Ridgewood Energy V Fund, LLC - 1.060%
(v) Ridgewood Energy W Fund, LLC - 0.110%
(vi) Ridgewood Energy A-1 Fund, LLC - 0.364%
(vii)Ridgewood Energy B-1 Fund, LLC - 0.830%

Under no circumstances shall one Seller be liable to Buyers under this Agreement or Ancillary Document for any obligations of
another Seller or for obligations or damages in excess of its percentage interest set forth above. Buyers specifically acknowledge
that each Seller is an entity separate and independent of every other Seller.

(b) Each Buyer shall be severally (and not jointly or solidarily) liable for the obligations of such Buyer under this
Agreement and any Ancillary Documents, including without limitation all indemnity obligations of such Buyer, in accordance
with the undivided one-half share that it is acquiring hereunder in and to the Transferred Interests. Under no circumstances shall
one Buyer be liable to any Seller under this Agreement or Ancillary Document for any obligations of the other Buyer or for
obligations or damages in excess of its one-half share of the Transferred Interests. Sellers specifically acknowledge that each
Buyer is an entity separate and independent of the other Buyer.

12.2 Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the Ancillary Documents state the entire agreement between the Parties and
may be supplemented, altered, amended, modified or revoked by writing only, signed by all of the affected Parties. This Agreement
supersedes any prior agreements between the Parties (or any of them) concerning the sale of the Transferred Interests.
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12.3 Governing law; Jurisdiction; Venue; Jury Waiver. THIS AGREEMENT AND ANY CLAIM, CONTROVERSY OR
DISPUTE ARISING UNDER OR RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY
OR THE RIGHTS, DUTIES AND THE LEGAL RELATIONS AMONG THE PARTIES HERETO AND THERETO SHALL BE
GOVERNED AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF LOUISIANA, EXCLUDING ANY
CONFLICTS OF LAW RULE OR PRINCIPLE THAT MIGHT REFER CONSTRUCTION OF SUCH PROVISIONS TO THE LAWS
OF ANOTHER JURISDICTION. ALL PARTIES HERETO CONSENT TO THE EXERCISE OF JURISDICTION IN PERSONAM
BY THE FEDERAL COURTS OF THE UNITED STATES LOCATED IN HOUSTON, TEXAS OR THE STATE COURTS LOCATED
IN HOUSTON, TEXAS FOR ANY ACTION ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT, THE ANCILLARY DOCUMENTS OR
ANY TRANSACTION CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR THEREBY, PROVIDED THAT NOTHING IN THIS SECTION WAIVES
A PARTY’S RIGHT TO REMOVE A PROCEEDING FROM STATE COURT TO FEDERAL COURT. ALL PROCEEDINGS WITH
RESPECT TO, ARISING DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY IN CONNECTION WITH, OUT OF, RELATED TO OR FROM THIS
AGREEMENT, THE ANCILLARY DOCUMENTS OR ANY TRANSACTION CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR THEREBY SHALL
BE EXCLUSIVELY LITIGATED IN SUCH COURTS DESCRIBED ABOVE HAVING SITUSES IN HOUSTON, TEXAS AND EACH
PARTY IRREVOCABLY SUBMITS TO THE JURISDICTION OF SUCH COURTS SOLELY IN RESPECT OF ANY PROCEEDING
ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT. EACH PARTY HERETO VOLUNTARILY, INTENTIONALLY AND
IRREVOCABLY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO
A TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT OF ANY PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, THE
ANCILLARY DOCUMENTS OR ANY TRANSACTION CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR THEREBY. THE PARTIES FURTHER
AGREE, TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, THAT A FINAL AND NONAPPEALABLE JUDGMENT AGAINST A PARTY
IN ANY PROCEEDING CONTEMPLATED ABOVE SHALL BE CONCLUSIVE AND MAY BE ENFORCED IN ANY OTHER
JURISDICTION WITHIN OR OUTSIDE THE UNITED STATES BY SUIT ON THE JUDGMENT, A CERTIFIED OR EXEMPLIFIED
COPY OF WHICH SHALL BE CONCLUSIVE EVIDENCE OF THE FACT AND AMOUNT OF SUCH JUDGMENT. TO THE
EXTENT THAT ANY PARTY OR ANY OF ITS AFFILIATES HAS ACQUIRED, OR HEREAFTER MAY ACQUIRE, ANY
IMMUNITY FROM JURISDICTION OF ANY COURT OR FROM ANY LEGAL PROCESS (WHETHER THROUGH SERVICE OR
NOTICE, ATTACHMENT PRIOR TO JUDGMENT, ATTACHMENT IN AID OF EXECUTION, EXECUTION OR OTHERWISE)
WITH RESPECT TO ITSELF OR ITS PROPERTY, SUCH PARTY (ON ITS OWN BEHALF AND ON BEHALF OF ITS
AFFILIATES) HEREBY IRREVOCABLY (I) WAIVES SUCH IMMUNITY IN RESPECT OF ITS OBLIGATIONS WITH RESPECT
TO THIS AGREEMENT AND (II) SUBMITS TO THE PERSONAL JURISDICTION OF ANY COURT DESCRIBED IN THIS
SECTION 12.3.

12.4 Press Release. No Party shall issue a press release or public communication concerning this purchase and sale, except
as required by Law or with the written consent of the other Parties. Such consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. Each Party will
endeavor to consult with the other Parties in a timely manner on all press releases required by Law.

12.5 NORM. Buyers acknowledge that some oilfield production equipment comprising the Properties may contain asbestos
and/or naturally occurring radioactive material (“NORM”). In this regard, Buyers specifically acknowledge that NORM may affix or
attach itself to the inside of wellbores, materials and equipment as scale or in other forms and that wells, materials and equipment
comprising the Properties may contain NORM and that NORM containing materials may have been disposed of on a Lease. Buyers
expressly understand that special procedures may be required for the removal and disposal of asbestos and NORM from the Properties if
and where they may be found.

12.6 Insurance Matters. Buyers acknowledge and agree that, after the Closing, (a) no insurance coverage for the Properties
shall be provided under any of Sellers’ insurance policies with respect to the Transferred Interest; (b) all rights or claims, known or
unknown, which may arise under or with respect to Sellers’ insurance policies shall be deemed assigned to Sellers; and (c) no claims
regarding any matter whatsoever (whether arising from events occurring prior to, at or after the Closing) with respect to the Transferred
Interests may be made against or with respect to Sellers’ insurance policies by a Buyer or its successors, assigns or any Persons subrogated
to the rights of any of them.
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12.7 Waiver. Any Party may (a) extend the time for the performance of any of the obligations or other acts of another Party or
(b) waive with respect to such Party compliance with any of the agreements of another Party or with any conditions to its own obligations.
Any agreement on the part of a Party to any such extension or waiver will be valid if set forth in an instrument in writing signed on behalf
of such Party.

12.8 Amendment. This Agreement may not be amended except by an instrument in writing signed by each affected Party.
No supplement, alteration or modification of this Agreement will be binding on a Party unless executed in writing by such Party.

12.9 Assignment. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns of each Party.

12.10 Expenses. Each Party shall bear its own costs and expenses in connection with the negotiation, execution and delivery
of this Agreement except as otherwise provided herein.

12.11 Counterpart Execution. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, and each counterpart shall
constitute a binding agreement as if the Parties had executed a single document.

12.12 Severance of Invalid Provisions. If, for any reason and for so long as, any clause or provision of this Agreement is
held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal, invalid, unenforceable or unconscionable under any present or future Law (or
interpretation thereof), the remainder of this Agreement shall not be affected by such illegality or invalidity. Any such invalid provision
shall be deemed severed from this Agreement as if this Agreement had been executed with the invalid provision eliminated. The surviving
provisions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect unless the removal of the invalid provision destroys the legitimate
purpose of this Agreement; in which event this Agreement shall be null and void. The Parties shall negotiate in good faith for any required
modifications to this Agreement.

12.13 Interpretive Matters. The headings of the Articles and Sections in this Agreement are for guidance only and shall
have no significance in the interpretations of this Agreement. Capitalized terms shall have the meanings provided as defined herein. All
defined terms include both the singular and the plural of such terms. When the term “herein” is used, reference is made to the entire
document and not to any particular Article, Section or Subsection. The term “including” means “including without limitation.” Unless
otherwise specified herein, all amounts and payments shall be in United States dollars, and all references to “$” or dollar amounts will be
to lawful currency of the United States of America. All references to “$” or dollar amounts shall be to precise amounts and not rounded
up or down. All references to “day” or “days” will mean calendar days.
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Article XIII.
Defined Terms

13.1 Definitions. Unless otherwise defined in this Agreement, the following terms have the meanings specified or referred
to in this Article XIII:

“BOEM” means the United States Department of the Interior, Bureau of Ocean Energy Management or any successor thereof.

“BOEMRE” means the former United States Department of the Interior, Bureau of Ocean Energy Management, Regulation and
Enforcement.

“BSEE” means the United States Department of the Interior, Bureau of Safety and Environmental Enforcement or any successor
thereof.

“Business Day” means each calendar day except Saturdays, Sundays, and days on which banks in Houston, Texas are authorized
or required by Law to close.

“Burdens” means any and all lessor’s royalties and overriding royalty interests listed on Exhibit A-3 hereto.

“Claims” shall include claims, demands, causes of action, Liabilities, damages and judgments of any kind or character and all
costs, expenses, fines, penalties and fees in connection therewith, including attorney’s fees.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

“Consent” means any consent, approval, order, authorization, waiver or declaration required to be obtained from, or filing,
registration or notice required to be made with, any Governmental Entity or other third Person for any assignment (to any Seller, Buyer
or otherwise) of any or all portions of the Transferred interests or the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of
the transaction contemplated hereunder.

“Decommissioning Obligations” means any and all existing and future Liabilities relating to abandoning, decommissioning,
removing or making safe all Wells, Equipment, Leases and Easements, whether incurred under or pursuant to any agreement, Lease,
Contract or applicable Law (including Environmental Laws), including any residual liability for anticipated or necessary continuing
insurance, maintenance and monitoring costs. Decommissioning Obligations shall also include all of the following:

(a) The plugging, replugging and abandonment of all Wells, either active or inactive.

(b) The removal, abandonment, dismantling and disposal of Equipment of any nature located on or used in
connection with the Leasehold Interests, Units, Wells or Easements.

(c) The clearance, restoration and remediation of the lands, groundwater and waterbottoms covered or burdened by
any Lease or Units or otherwise affected by any Lease, Unit, Well or Easement and the cleanup and complete reclamation of the
sea floor portion of Lands associated with the Transferred Interests.

(d) The removal, remediation and abatement of any petroleum material, any contamination or pollution (including
spilling, leaking, pumping, pouring, emitting, emptying, discharging, leaching, dumping, disposing or other release of any
chemical substance, pollutant, contaminant, toxic substance, radioactive material, hazardous substance, NORM, waste,
saltwater, cuttings, muds, crude oil, or petroleum product) of surface soils and water, subsurface soils, air, groundwater, or
any vessel, piping, equipment, tubing or subsurface structure or strata associated with the Leases, Units, Wells, Easements or
Equipment.
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“Environmental Laws” means any and all laws (including common law), legislation, regulation, order, permit, license, code
or governmental policy having the force of law that is applicable to the Properties concerning (a) the environment, including pollution,
contamination, environmental response, environmental investigations, environmental monitoring, clean-up, decontamination, abatement,
preservation, protection, management and reclamation of the environment, (b) human health or safety relating to workplace requirements
or conditions or the exposure of employees, workers or other Persons to any chemical or substance, or (c) the production and management
or release or threatened release of any chemical or substance (including waste and Hazardous Substances), including purchase,
manufacture, generation, use, treatment, processing, handling, storage, disposal, transportation, re-use, recycling or reclamation of any
chemical or substance (including waste and Hazardous Substances).

“Environmental Losses” means all Losses and Liabilities resulting from, associated with or related to the breach or violation of
an Environmental Law.

“GAAP” means U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

“Governmental Entity” means any governmental authority or entity, including any agency, board, bureau, commission, court,
municipality, official, department, subdivision or instrumentality thereof, or any arbitrator or arbitration panel.

“Hazardous Substances” means any pollutants, contaminants, toxic or hazardous or extremely hazardous substances, materials,
wastes, constituents, compounds, or chemicals that are regulated by, or may form the basis of Liability under, any Environmental Laws;
provided, however, NORM shall not constitute a “Hazardous Substance.”

“Hydrocarbons” means all of the oil, liquid hydrocarbons, gas and any and all other liquid or gaseous hydrocarbons, as well
as their respective constituent products (including condensate, casinghead gas, distillate and natural gas liquids) and, to the extent useful
for the exploration for and production of the foregoing, any other minerals produced in association therewith (including elemental sulfur,
helium, carbon dioxide and other non-hydrocarbon substances produced in association with any of the above described items).

“Indebtedness” means, with respect to any Person, without duplication, (a) borrowed money or with respect to deposits or
advances of any kind, (b) all obligations of such Person evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or similar instruments, (c) all obligations
of such Person under conditional sale or other title retention agreements relating to property acquired by such Person, (d) all obligations
of such Person in respect of the deferred purchase price of property or services (excluding current accounts payable incurred in the
ordinary course of business), (e) all indebtedness of others secured by (or for which the holder of such indebtedness has an existing right,
contingent or otherwise, to be secured by) any Lien on property owned or acquired by such Person, whether or not the indebtedness
secured thereby has been assumed, (f) guarantee and other contingent obligations of such Person with respect to indebtedness of others,
(g) all capital lease obligations of such Person, (h) all obligations, contingent or otherwise, of such Person as an account party in respect
of letters of credit and letters of guaranty, (i) all obligations, contingent or otherwise, of such Person in respect of bankers’ acceptances
and (j) any lease of (or other arrangement conveying the right to use) real or personal property, or a combination thereof, which lease or
other arrangement is required or is permitted to be classified and accounted for as an operating lease under GAAP but which is intended
by the parties thereto for tax, bankruptcy, regulatory, commercial Law, real estate Law and all other purposes as a financing arrangement.
The Indebtedness of any Person shall include the Indebtedness of any other Person (including any partnership in which such Person is a
general partner) to the extent such Person is liable therefor as a result of such Person’s ownership interest in or other relationship with
such entity, except to the extent the terms of such Indebtedness provide that such Person is not liable therefor.
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“Knowledge” with respect to Party means the actual knowledge of any person who is identified on such Party’s qualification
card on file with the BOEM as of either the Effective Time or the Closing Date as being authorized to execute documents on behalf of
such Party.

“Laws” means all laws, statutes, common law, rules, codes, regulations, restrictions, ordinances, orders, decrees, approvals,
directives, judgments, rulings, injunctions, writs, awards and decrees of, or issued or entered by, all Governmental Entities.

“Liabilities” means any debt, liabilities or obligations of any nature (whether accrued or fixed, absolute or contingent, matured
or not matured, determined or determinable, or as a guarantor or otherwise).

“Lien” means any charge, Claim, mortgage, lien, option, pledge, security interest or other restriction of any kind.

“Losses” means any Liabilities, damages, losses, Claims, payments, charges, assessments, awards, settlements, Taxes, Liens,
deficiencies, costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ and consultants’ fees and expenses) net of any: (a) insurance proceeds
realized by and paid to the Person suffering such Loss in respect of or related to the event, cause or condition giving rise thereto (as used
in this definition the “Cause”), (b) Tax benefits in respect of or related to the Cause and (c) amounts actually recovered from third parties
with respect to such Cause, in any case, after giving effect to any expenditures to obtain such payments and any applicable deductible or
retention and resulting retrospective premium adjustment.

“Permitted Encumbrances” means:

(a) the Leases and Scheduled Contracts;

(b) any undetermined or inchoate liens or charges securing the payment of expenses that are not yet due and payable
and were incurred incidental to the maintenance, development, production or operation of the Properties or for the purpose of
developing, producing or processing Hydrocarbons therefrom or therein;

(c) any liens for Taxes and assessments not yet delinquent or, if delinquent, that are being contested in good faith in
the ordinary course of business, which liens, taxes and assessments Sellers hereby agree to assume and pay at or in connection
with the Closing or thereafter, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement;

(d) any obligations or duties affecting the Properties to any municipality or public authority with respect to any
franchise, grant, license or permit and all applicable laws, rules, regulations and orders of any Governmental Entity;

(e) any (1) Easements, rights-of-way, servitudes, permits, and other rights in respect of, pipelines, reservoirs or the
like, and (2) Easements for rights-of-way on, over or in respect of Property owned or leased by Sellers or over which Sellers
owns rights-of-way, easements, permits or licenses, to the extent that same do not materially interfere with the oil and gas
operations to be conducted on the Properties;
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(f) the Burdens;

(g) required Third Party consents to assignments or similar agreements with respect to which (1) waivers or
consents are obtained at or before the Closing from the appropriate parties for the transaction contemplated hereby, or (2)
required notices have been given at or before the Closing for the transaction contemplated hereby to the holders of such rights
and the appropriate period for asserting such rights has expired without an exercise of such rights;

(h) all rights to consent by, required notices to, filings with, or other actions by Governmental Entities in connection
with the sale or conveyance of oil and gas leases or interests therein that are customarily obtained subsequent to such sale or
conveyance;

(i) rights reserved to or vested in any Governmental Entity to control or regulate any of the Properties and the
applicable laws, rules, and regulations of such Governmental Entities;

(l) all defects and irregularities affecting the Transferred Interest which individually or in the aggregate (1) do not
operate to (A) reduce a Seller’s net revenue interest below that shown on Exhibit A-1 hereto for such Seller as to any Lease,
or (B) increase a Seller’s working interest above that shown on Exhibit A-1 hereto for such Seller as to any Lease without a
corresponding increase in the net revenue interest for such Seller as to such Lease, or (C) otherwise interfere materially with the
operation, value or use of the Properties and (2) would not be considered material when applying general industry standards; and

(m) any failure to record the Leases, or any assignments thereof, in county or parish records.

“Person” means any individual, firm, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, incorporated or unincorporated
association, joint venture, joint stock company, trust, Governmental Entity or other entity of any kind.

“Proceeding” means any proceeding, litigation, action, claim, suit, investigation or inquiry by or before any arbitrator or
Governmental Entity.

“Property Costs” means (i) all operating costs and prepaid expenses attributable to the ownership or operation of the Transferred
Interests (including costs of insurance, royalty disbursements, rentals and similar payments, and Property Taxes, but excluding any other
Taxes), (ii) capital expenditures incurred in the ownership or operation of the Transferred Interests, and (iii) where applicable, such costs
and capital expenditures, and any overhead costs, charged in accordance with the relevant operating agreement, unit agreement, pooling
agreement, pre-pooling agreement, pooling order or similar instrument.

“Representatives” with respect to a Person means such Person’s directors, officers, partners, stockholders, members, managers,
employees, agents, investors or advisors (including attorneys, accountants, consultants, bankers and financial advisors) and any
representatives of those advisors.

“Sellers’ Lender” means Rahr Energy Investments LLC.
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“Taxes” means (a) all taxes, including any foreign, federal, state or local income tax, surtax, remittance tax, presumptive tax,
net worth tax, special contribution, production tax, pipeline transportation tax, freehold mineral tax, value added tax, withholding tax,
gross receipts tax, windfall profits tax, profits tax, severance tax, personal property tax, real property tax, ad valorem tax, sales tax, goods
and services tax, service tax, transfer tax, use tax, excise tax, premium tax, stamp tax, motor vehicle tax, entertainment tax, insurance
tax, capital stock tax, franchise tax, occupation tax, payroll tax, employment tax, unemployment tax, disability tax, alternative or add on
minimum tax and estimated tax, imposed by a Governmental Entity, including any Liability under any state abandonment or unclaimed
property, escheat or similar Laws, together with any interest, fine, additions to tax or penalty thereon, (b) any Liability for the payment
of any amounts of any of the foregoing types as a result of being a member of an affiliated, consolidated, combined or unitary group,
or being a party to any agreement or arrangement whereby Liability for payment of such amounts was determined or taken into account
with reference to the Liability of any other Person, (c) any Liability for the payment of any amounts as a result of being a party to any tax
sharing or allocation agreements or arrangements (whether or not written) or with respect to the payment of any amounts of any of the
foregoing types as a result of any express or implied obligation to indemnify any other Person, and (d) any Liability for the payment of
any of the foregoing types as a successor, transferee Liability or otherwise.

“Third Party” means any Person other than a Party to this Agreement and includes any Governmental Entity.

13.2 Further Definitions. The following terms are defined in the following portions of this Agreement:

A-1 Fund preamble
Adjusted Purchase Price Section 1.6
Agreement preamble
Allocated Value Section 1.8(a)
Allocation Schedule Section 1.8(b)
Assignment Section 7.1(a)
Assumed Liabilities Section 1.4
B-1 Fund preamble
Buyer and Buyers preamble
Buyers Indemnified Parties Section 9.1(a)
Casualty Event Section 4.1(a)
Closing Section 6.1
Closing Amount Section 1.7(a)
Closing Date preamble
Consent Requirement Section 5.3
Contracts Section 1.2(f)
Deep EW 834 OR Exhibit A, Part 1, item 1(b)
Easements Section 1.2(d)
Effective Time Section 1.9(a)
Equipment Section 1.2(e)
EW 834 RT Exhibit A, Part 1, item 1(a)
Excluded Assets Section 1.3
Execution Date preamble
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Final Settlement Date Section 1.7(b)(3)
Final Settlement Statement Section 1.7(b)(1)
Gordy preamble
Hall-Houston Clarification Exhibit A-2, item 36
Hall-Houston ORRI Allocation Exhibit A-2, item 37
Imbalances Section 1.2(g)
Indemnified Party Section 9.3(a)
Indemnifying Party Section 9.3(a)
Leases Section 1.2(a)
Leasehold Interests Section 1.2(a)
Noble Farmout Agreement Exhibit A-2, item 39
O Fund preamble
Operating Agreement Exhibit A-2, item 42
Party and Parties preamble
Permits Section 1.2(h)
Preliminary Settlement Statement Section 1.7(a)
Prior EW 790 OR Exhibit A-2, item 22
Properties Section 1.2
Property Taxes Section 1.11
Purchase Price Section 1.6
Records Section 1.2(i)
Retained Interests Section 1.1
Retained Liabilities Section 1.5
S Fund preamble
Seller and Sellers preamble
Sellers Indemnified Parties Section 9.1(b)
Shallow EW 790 Depths Exhibit A-3, item 12
Shallow EW 834 OR Exhibit A, Part 1, item 1(c)
Special Warranty Section 5.1
T Fund preamble
Third Party Claim Section 9.3(a)
Transferred Interest Section 1.1
Unit Agreement Exhibit A-2, item 45
Units Section 1.2(b)
W Fund preamble
Walter preamble
Walter ORRI Allocation Exhibit A-2, item 38
Wells Section 1.2(c)

REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK

36

Copyright © 2018 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

https://www.secdatabase.com


Copyright © 2018 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

https://www.secdatabase.com


Copyright © 2018 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

https://www.secdatabase.com


STATE OF TEXAS COUNTY OF HARRIS THUS DONE AND SIGNED on the Execution Date by each Seller (appearing through its duly authorized Secretary, Daniel V. Gulino) in the presence of me, the undersigned Notary Public in and for the foregoing jurisdiction, and the undersigned competent witnesses, who sign their names below together with each Seller and me, Notary, after a due reading of the whole. WITNESSES to all signatures on this page: Ridgewood Energy O Fund, LLC Ridgewood Energy S Fund, LLC Ridgewood Energy T Fund, LLC Ridgewood Energy V Fund, LLC Signature: Ridgewood Energy W Fund, LLC Ridgewood Energy A-1 Fund, LLC Name printed: Ridgewood Energy B-1 Fund, LLC Signature: By: /s/ Daniel V. Gulino Name printed: Name: Daniel V. Gulino Title: Secretary NOTARY PUBLIC, State of Texas Full name printed: Commission No. My commission expires . [SEAL] [Signature Page to Purchase and Sale Agreement] STATE OF TEXAS COUNTY OF HARRIS THUS DONE AND SIGNED on the Execution Date by Walter in the presence of me, the undersigned Notary Public in and for the foregoing jurisdiction, and the undersigned competent witnesses, who sign their names below together with Walter and me, Notary, after a due reading of

the whole. WITNESSES to all signatures on this page: Walter Oil & Gas Corporation By: /s/ Daniel V. Gulino Signature: Name: Daniel V. Gulino Name printed: Title: Secretary Signature: Name printed: NOTARY PUBLIC, State of Texas Full name printed: Commission No. My commission expires . [SEAL] [Signature Page to Purchase and Sale Agreement] STATE OF TEXAS COUNTY OF HARRIS THUS DONE AND SIGNED on the Execution Date by Gordy in the presence of me, the undersigned Notary Public in and for the foregoing jurisdiction, and the undersigned competent witnesses, who sign their names below together with Gordy and me, Notary, after a due reading of the whole. WITNESSES to all signatures on this page: Gordy Oil Company By: /s/ Thomas R. Speck Signature: Name: Thomas R. Speck Name printed: Title: Vice President Signature: Name printed: NOTARY PUBLIC, State of Texas Full name printed: Commission No. My commission expires . [SEAL] [Signature Page to Purchase and Sale Agreement] Andrew M. Adams Chad Elias General Counsel Fritz L. Spencer, III Ann M Hebert 11038209 07-16-2022 Ann M. Hebert 11038209 07-16-2022
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Exhibit A

Part 1: Leases

1. Oil and Gas Lease of Submerged Lands under the Outer Continental Shelf Lands Act, bearing serial number OCS-G
27982, effective July 1, 2006, by and between the United States of America, as lessor, and Walter Oil & Gas Corporation, as lessee,
covering all of Block 834, Ewing Bank, OCS Official Protraction Diagram, NH 15-12, LIMITED SOLELY AS TO:

(a) the E/2, N/2NW/4, N/2SE/4NW/4, S/2SW/4 and S/2N/2SW/4 of Block 834, Ewing Bank (the “EW 834 RT”);

(b) the operating rights as to the SW/4NW/4, S/2SE/4NW/4 and N/2N/2SW/4 of Block 834, Ewing Bank, as to
depths from 9,701' to 99,999' SSTVD (the “Deep EW 834 OR”); and

(c) the operating rights as to the SW/4NW/4, S/2SE/4NW/4 and N/2N/2SW/4 of Block 834, Ewing Bank, from the
surface of the earth down to 8,600' TVD (the “Shallow EW 834 OR”).

2. Oil and Gas Lease of Submerged Lands under the Outer Continental Shelf Lands Act, bearing serial number OCS-G
33140, effective July 1, 2009, by and between the United States of America, as lessor, and Noble Energy, Inc., as lessee, covering all of
Block 790, Ewing Bank, OCS Official Protraction Diagram, NH 15-12, LESS AND EXCEPT:

(a) the operating rights as to the N1/2, N1/2S1/2, SE1/4SE1/4, N1/2SW1/4SE1/4 and NE1/4SE1/4SW1/4 of Block
790, Ewing Bank, limited to depths from the surface to 99,999' TVDSS; and

(b) the operating rights as to the SW1/4SW1/4, S1/2SE1/4SW1/4, S1/2SW1/4SE1/4 and NW1/4SE1/4SW1/4 of Block
790, Ewing Bank, limited to depths from below 26,000' TVDSS to 99,999' TVDSS.

3. Oil and Gas Lease of Submerged Lands under the Outer Continental Shelf Lands Act, bearing serial number OCS-G
33177, effective July 1, 2009, by and between the United States of America, as lessor, and BP Exploration & Production Inc., covering
all of Block 793, Mississippi Canyon, OCS Official Protraction Diagram, NH 16-10.

4. Oil and Gas Lease of Submerged Lands under the Outer Continental Shelf Lands Act, bearing serial number OCS-G
33707, effective May 1, 2010, by and between the United States of America, as lessor, and Walter Oil & Gas Corporation, as lessee,
covering all of Block 835, Ewing Bank, OCS Official Protraction Diagram, NH 15-12.

5. Oil and Gas Lease of Submerged Lands under the Outer Continental Shelf Lands Act, bearing serial number OCS-G
35805, effective July 1, 2016, by and between the United States of America, as lessor, and Walter Oil & Gas Corporation, as lessee,
covering all of Block 789, Ewing Bank, OCS Official Protraction Diagram, NH 15-12.
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Part 2: Easements

1. Pipeline Right-of-way (ROW) OCS-G 29303: a 200-foot wide and approximately 11.4 mile (60,197 feet) long corridor
associated with the 10 3/4-inch Pipeline Segment No. (PSN) 19315. The purpose of Pipeline ROW OCS-G 29303 is to maintain and
operate PSN 19315 and to transport oil from Platform A in Ewing Bank Area Block 834, through Ewing Bank Area Blocks 790, 746,
745, 701, through Grand Isle Block 120, to a 12-inch subsea tie-in with PSN 11433, at X= 2,596,570.62 and Y= 10,285,217.33, in Grand
Isle Area Block 115.

2. Pipeline Right-of-way (ROW) OCS-G 29304: a 200-foot wide and approximately 11.4 miles (60,192 feet) long corridor
associated with the 10 3/4-inch Pipeline Segment No. (PSN) 19319. The purpose of pipeline ROW OCS-G 29304 is to maintain and
operate PSN 19319 and to transport gas from Platform A in Ewing Bank Area Block 834, through Ewing Bank Area Blocks 790, 789,
745, through Grand Isle Area Block 120, to a subsea tie-in with PSN 11175, at X= 2,593,458.50 and Y= 10,282,579.10, in Grand Isle
Area Block 115.

Part 3: Wells

Surface
Lease

Surface
Block

Bottomhole
Lease

Bottomhole
Block Well Name API Well

Number
OCS-G
27982 EW 834 OCS-G 27982 EW 834 A001 ST00 BP00 608105010300

OCS-G
27982 EW 834 OCS-G 33140 EW 790 A002 ST00 BP00 608104015100

OCS-G
27982 EW 834 OCS-G 33140 EW 790 A003 ST00 BP00 608104015300

OCS-G
27982 EW 834 OCS-G 33177 MC 793 A004 ST00 BP00 608104015200

OCS-G
27982 EW 834 OCS-G 35805 EW 789 A006 ST00 BP00 608104015500

OCS-G
27982 EW 834 OCS-G 35805 EW 789 A007 ST00 BP00 608104015400

OCS-G
27982 EW 834 OCS-G 35805 EW 789 A007 ST00 BP01 608104015401

[End of Exhibit A]
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Exhibit A-1

Lease, Block and Depths O Fund S Fund T Fund V Fund W Fund A-1 Fund B-1 Fund Total
Gross Working Interests

2.070% 0.722% 0.344% 1.060% 0.110% 0.364% 0.830% 5.5%
Net Revenue Interests

OCS-G 27982 (covering Ewing Bank 834)
record title as to the NE/4, N/2 NW/4
and N/2 SE/4 NW/4 of Block 834,
Ewing Bank, as to depths from the
surface down to 26,000' TVDSS.

1.701540%0.593484%0.275200% 0.871320%0.090420%0.291200%0.682260%4.505424%

record title as to the NE/4, N/2 NW/4
and N/2 SE/4 NW/4 of Block 834,
Ewing Bank, as to depths below
26,000' TVDSS.

1.728450%0.602870%0.279672% 0.885100%0.091850%0.295932%0.693050%4.576924%

record title as to the SE/4, S/2 N/2
SW/4 and S/2 SW/4 of Block 834,
Ewing Bank, as to all depths.

1.728450%0.602870%0.279672% 0.885100%0.091850%0.295932%0.693050%4.576924%

operating rights as to the
SW/4 NW/4, S/2 SE/4 NW/4 and
N/2 N/2 SW/4 of Block 834, Ewing
Bank, as to depths from the surface
of the earth down to 8,600' TVDSS.

1.728450%0.602870%0.279672% 0.885100%0.091850%0.295932%0.693050%4.576924%

operating rights as to the
SW/4 NW/4, S/2 SE/4 NW/4 and
N/2 N/2 SW/4 of Block 834, Ewing
Bank, as to depths from 9,701' to
99,999' TVDSS.

1.728450%0.602870%0.279670% 0.885100%0.091850%0.295930%0.693050%4.576924%

OCS-G 33140 (covering Ewing Bank 790)
record title as to SW1/4 SW1/4,
S1/2 SE1/4 SW1/4,
S1/2 SW1/4 SE1/4 and
NW1/4 SE1/4 SW1/4 of Block 790,
Ewing Bank, as to depths from the
surface down to 26,000' TVDSS.

1.572165%0.548359%0.253700% 0.805070%0.083545%0.268450%0.630385%4.161674%

record title as to all of Block 790,
Ewing Bank, as to depths below
99,999' TVDSS.

1.599075%0.557745%0.265052% 0.818850%0.084975%0.280462%0.641175% 4.247334%
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Lease, Block and Depths O Fund S Fund T Fund V Fund W Fund A-1 Fund B-1 Fund Total
OCS-G 33177 (covering Mississippi Canyon 793)
record title as to W/2 W/2 NW/4 of
Block 793, Mississippi Canyon, as
depths from the surface down to
26,000' TVDSS.

1.642982%0.573059%0.273037% 0.841334%0.087308%0.288911% 0.658780%4.365410%

record title as to E/2 W/2 NW/4 and
E/2 NW/4 of Block 793, Mississippi
Canyon, as depths from the surface
down to 26,000' TVDSS.*

1.669892%0.582445%0.277509% 0.855114% 0.088738%0.293643%0.669570%4.436910%

record title as to all remaining
portions and depths of Block 793,
Mississippi Canyon.

1.669892%0.582445%0.277509% 0.855114% 0.088738%0.293643%0.669570%4.436910%

OCS-G 33707 (covering Ewing Bank 835)
record title as to the North 7,800 feet
of Block 835, Ewing Bank, as to
depths from the surface down to
26,000' TVDSS.

1.642982%0.573059%0.266157% 0.841334%0.087308%0.281631%0.658780%4.351250%

record title as to all remaining
portions and depths of Block 835,
Ewing Bank.

1.669892%0.582445%0.270629% 0.855114% 0.088738%0.286363%0.669570%4.422750%

OCS-G 35805 (covering Ewing Bank 789)
record title as to SE/4 of Block 789,
Ewing Bank, as to depths from the
surface down to 26,000' TVDSS.*

1.654975%0.586625%0.279500% 0.861250%0.089375%0.295750%0.674375%4.468750%

record title as to all remaining
portions and depths of Block 789,
Ewing Bank

1.654975%0.586625%0.279500% 0.861250%0.089375%0.295750%0.674375%4.468750%

* Effective March 1, 2018 and subject to approval by BSEE of the second amendment to the Unit Agreement, each Seller’s
net revenue interests as to these portions of these two leases will also be subject to a proportionate share of a 1.3% of 8/8ths overriding
royalty interest in favor of Fieldwood Energy LLC.

[End of Exhibit A-1]
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Exhibit A-2

Scheduled Contracts

Part 1: Chain-of-Title assignments

1. Assignment of Record Title Interest in Federal OCS Oil and Gas Lease (for the EW 834 RT) from Walter Oil & Gas
Corporation to Ridgewood Energy Corporation (with Assignment of Record Title Interest between the same parties attached thereto),
filed with the BOEMRE on August 9, 2010 and approved by the BOEMRE on August 19, 2010 effective March 1, 2010. [The attached
Assignment of Record Title Interest was also filed September 21, 2010 at Conveyance Book 1830, Page 404, Instrument No. 1099167 of
the conveyance records of Lafourche Parish, Louisiana.]

2. Assignment of Record Title Interest in Federal OCS Oil and Gas Lease (for OCS-G 33707) from Walter Oil & Gas
Corporation to Ridgewood Energy Corporation (with Assignment of Record Title Interest between the same parties attached thereto),
filed with the BOEMRE on August 9, 2010 and approved by the BOEMRE on August 19, 2010 effective May 1, 2010. [The attached
Assignment of Record Title Interest was also filed September 21, 2010 at Conveyance Book 1830, Page 408, Instrument No. 1099168 of
the conveyance records of Lafourche Parish, Louisiana.]

3. Assignment of Operating Rights Interest in Federal OCS Oil and Gas Lease (for the Deep EW 834 OR) from Walter Oil
& Gas Corporation to Ridgewood Energy Corporation (with Assignment of Operating Rights Interest between the same parties attached
thereto), filed with the BOEMRE on September 13, 2010 and approved by the BOEMRE on September 22, 2010 effective March 1,
2010. [The attached Assignment of Operating Rights Interest was also filed September 21, 2010 at Conveyance Book 1830, Page 412,
Instrument No. 1099169 of the conveyance records of Lafourche Parish, Louisiana.]

4. Assignment of Operating Rights Interest (for the Shallow EW 834 OR) dated effective March 1, 2010 from Walter Oil &
Gas Corporation to Hall-Houston Exploration III, L.P., filed with the BOEMRE on October 12, 2010 and filed on November 4, 2010 at
Conveyance Book 1834, Page 628, Instrument No. 1101780 of the conveyance records of Lafourche Parish, Louisiana.

5. Assignment of Overriding Royalty Interest (for the EW 834 RT, the Deep EW 834 OR, the Shallow EW 834 OR and
OCS-G 33707) dated October 11, 2010 but effective August 1, 2010 from Hall-Houston Exploration III, L.P. to South River Investments,
Inc., David B. Shomette and Scott D. Coe, filed with the BOEMRE on October 22, 2010 and filed on July 24, 2013 at Conveyance Book
1933, Page 865, Instrument No. 1160812 of the conveyance records of Lafourche Parish, Louisiana.

6. Assignment of Record Title Interest in Federal OCS Oil and Gas Lease (for the EW 834 RT) from Walter Oil & Gas
Corporation to Hall-Houston Exploration III, L.P. (with Assignment of Record Title Interest between the same parties attached thereto),
filed with the BOEMRE on November 2, 2010 and approved by the BOEMRE on November 16, 2010 effective March 1, 2010.
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7. Assignment of Operating Rights Interest in Federal OCS Oil and Gas Lease (for the Deep EW 834 OR) from Walter Oil &
Gas Corporation to Hall-Houston Exploration III, L.P. (with Assignment of Operating Rights Interest between the same parties attached
thereto), filed with the BOEMRE on November 2, 2010 and approved by the BOEMRE on November 16, 2010 effective March 1, 2010.

8. Assignment of Shallow Operating Rights Interest (for the Shallow EW 834 OR) dated effective August 1, 2010 from Hall-
Houston Exploration III, L.P. to Ridgewood Energy Corporation, filed with the BOEMRE on November 4, 2010 and filed on November
15, 2010 at Conveyance Book 1835, Page 516, Instrument No. 1102380 of the conveyance records of Lafourche Parish, Louisiana.

9. Assignment of Record Title Interest in Federal OCS Oil and Gas Lease (for the EW 834 RT) from Hall-Houston
Exploration III, L.P. to Ridgewood Energy Corporation (with Assignment and Bill of Sale dated October 12, 2010 but effective August
1, 2010 between the same parties attached thereto), filed with the BOEMRE on November 29, 2010 and approved by the BOEMRE
on December 16, 2010 effective August 1, 2010. [The attached Assignment and Bill of Sale was also filed on November 15, 2010 at
Conveyance Book 1835, Page 509, Instrument No. 1102379 of the conveyance records of Lafourche Parish, Louisiana.]

10. Assignment of Operating Rights Interest in Federal OCS Oil and Gas Lease (for the Deep EW 834 OR) from Hall-
Houston Exploration III, L.P. to Ridgewood Energy Corporation (with Assignment and Bill of Sale dated October 12, 2010 but effective
August 1, 2010 between the same parties attached thereto), filed with the BOEMRE on November 29, 2010 and approved by the
BOEMRE on December 16, 2010 effective August 1, 2010. [The attached Assignment and Bill of Sale was also filed on November 15,
2010 at Conveyance Book 1835, Page 509, Instrument No. 1102379 of the conveyance records of Lafourche Parish, Louisiana.]

11. Assignment of Record Title Interest in Federal OCS Oil and Gas Lease (for OCS-G 33707) from Walter Oil & Gas
Corporation to Hall-Houston Exploration III, L.P. (with Assignment of Record Title Interest between the same parties attached thereto),
filed with the BOEMRE on February 11, 2011 and approved by the BOEMRE on March 4, 2011 effective May 1, 2010. [The attached
Assignment of Record Title Interest was also filed on November 21, 2011 at Conveyance Book 1259, Page 534, File No. 2011-00004952
of the conveyance records of Plaquemines Parish, Louisiana.]

12. Assignment of Record Title Interest in Federal OCS Oil and Gas Lease (for OCS-G 33707) from Hall-Houston
Exploration III, L.P. to Ridgewood Energy Corporation (with Assignment and Bill of Sale dated October 15, 2010 but effective August 1,
2010 between the same parties attached thereto), filed with the BOEMRE on March 16, 2011 and approved by the BOEMRE on March
31, 2011 effective August 1, 2010.
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13. Assignment of Shallow Operating Rights Interest (for the Shallow EW 834 OR) dated effective October 12, 2010 from
Ridgewood Energy Corporation to Ridgewood Energy O Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy Q Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy S Fund,
LLC, Ridgewood Energy T Fund, LLC and Ridgewood Energy V Fund, LLC, filed with the BOEMRE on April 22, 2011.

14. Assignment of Shallow Operating Rights Interest (for the Shallow EW 834 OR) dated effective October 12, 2010 from
Ridgewood Energy Corporation to Ridgewood Energy W Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy Y Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy A-1 Fund,
LLC, Ridgewood Energy B-1 Fund, LLC and Ridgewood Energy Gulf of Mexico Oil and Gas Fund, LLC,, filed with the BOEMRE on
April 22, 2011.

15. Assignment of Record Title Interest in Federal OCS Oil and Gas Lease (for the EW 834 RT) from Ridgewood Energy
Corporation to Ridgewood Energy W Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy Y Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy A-1 Fund, LLC, Ridgewood
Energy B-1 Fund, LLC and Ridgewood Energy Gulf of Mexico Oil and Gas Fund, LLC (with Assignment of Oil and Gas Leases between
the same parties attached thereto), filed with the BOEMRE on May 17, 2011 and approved by the BOEMRE on July 14, 2011 effective
August 1, 2010. [The attached Assignment of Oil and Gas Leases was also filed on May 9, 2011 at Conveyance Book 1851, Page 137,
Instrument No. 1112143 of the conveyance records of Lafourche Parish, Louisiana.]

16. Assignment of Record Title Interest in Federal OCS Oil and Gas Lease (for the EW 834 RT) from Ridgewood Energy
Corporation to Ridgewood Energy O Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy Q Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy S Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy
T Fund, LLC and Ridgewood Energy V Fund, LLC (with Assignment of Oil and Gas Leases between the same parties attached thereto),
filed with the BOEMRE on May 17, 2011 and approved by the BOEMRE on July 14, 2011 effective August 1, 2010. [The attached
Assignment of Oil and Gas Leases was also filed on May 9, 2011 at Conveyance Book 1851, Page 130, Instrument No. 1112142 of the
conveyance records of Lafourche Parish, Louisiana.]

17. Assignment of Operating Rights Interest in Federal OCS Oil and Gas Lease (for the Deep EW 834 OR) from Ridgewood
Energy Corporation to Ridgewood Energy W Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy Y Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy A-1 Fund, LLC,
Ridgewood Energy B-1 Fund, LLC and Ridgewood Energy Gulf of Mexico Oil and Gas Fund, LLC (with Assignment of Oil and Gas
Leases between the same parties attached thereto), filed with the BOEMRE on May 17, 2011 and approved by the BOEMRE on July
14, 2011 effective August 1, 2010. [The attached Assignment of Oil and Gas Leases was also filed on May 9, 2011 at Conveyance Book
1851, Page 137, Instrument No. 1112143 of the conveyance records of Lafourche Parish, Louisiana.]

18. Assignment of Operating Rights Interest in Federal OCS Oil and Gas Lease (for the Deep EW 834 OR) from Ridgewood
Energy Corporation to Ridgewood Energy O Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy Q Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy S Fund, LLC, Ridgewood
Energy T Fund, LLC and Ridgewood Energy V Fund, LLC (with Assignment of Oil and Gas Leases between the same parties attached
thereto), filed with the BOEMRE on May 17, 2011 and approved by the BOEMRE on July 14, 2011 effective August 1, 2010. [The
attached Assignment of Oil and Gas Leases was also filed on May 9, 2011 at Conveyance Book 1851, Page 130, Instrument No. 1112142
of the conveyance records of Lafourche Parish, Louisiana.]
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19. Assignment of Record Title Interest in Federal OCS Oil and Gas Lease (for OCS-G 33707) from Ridgewood Energy
Corporation to Ridgewood Energy W Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy Y Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy A-1 Fund, LLC, Ridgewood
Energy B-1 Fund, LLC and Ridgewood Energy Gulf of Mexico Oil and Gas Fund, LLC (with Assignment of Oil and Gas Leases between
the same parties attached thereto), filed with the BOEMRE on May 17, 2011 and approved by the BOEMRE on June 10, 2011 effective
May 1, 2010. [The attached Assignment of Oil and Gas Leases was also filed on May 9, 2011 at Conveyance Book 1851, Page 137,
Instrument No. 1112143 of the conveyance records of Lafourche Parish, Louisiana.]

20. Assignment of Record Title Interest in Federal OCS Oil and Gas Lease (for OCS-G 33707) from Ridgewood Energy
Corporation to Ridgewood Energy O Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy Q Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy S Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy
T Fund, LLC and Ridgewood Energy V Fund, LLC (with Assignment of Oil and Gas Leases between the same parties attached thereto),
filed with the BOEMRE on May 17, 2011 and approved by the BOEMRE on June 10, 2011 effective May 1, 2010. [The attached
Assignment of Oil and Gas Leases was also filed on May 9, 2011 at Conveyance Book 1851, Page 130, Instrument No. 1112142 of the
conveyance records of Lafourche Parish, Louisiana.]

21. Assignment of Record Title Interest in Federal OCS Oil and Gas Lease (for OCS-G 33177) from BP Exploration &
Production Inc. to Walter Oil & Gas Corporation (with Exhibit “A” between the same parties attached thereto), filed with the BOEM on
August 10, 2012 and approved by the BOEM on October 2, 2012 effective August 8, 2012.

22. Assignment of Operating Rights Interest in Federal OCS Oil and Gas Lease (for the operating rights in OCS-G 33140
as to the SW/4 SW/4, S/2 SE/2 SW/4 and S/2 SW/4 SE/4 of Block 790, Ewing Bank, limited to depths from 17,000' SSTVD down to
and including 21,400' SSTVD (the “Prior EW 790 OR”)) from Noble Energy, Inc. to Walter Oil & Gas Corporation (with Assignment
of Operating Rights in Oil and Gas Lease between the same parties attached thereto), filed with the BOEM on December 27, 2012 and
approved by the BOEM on February 14, 2013 effective January 15, 2010.

23. Assignment of Record Title Interest in Federal OCS Oil and Gas Lease (for OCS-G 33177) from Walter Oil & Gas
Corporation to Ridgewood Energy O Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy Q Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy S Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy
T Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy V Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy W Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy Y Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy
A-1 Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy B-1 Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy Gulf of Mexico Oil and Gas Fund, L.P. and ILX Prospect Beta,
LLC (with Assignment of Leasehold Interest between the same parties attached thereto), filed with the BOEM on January 16, 2013 and
approved by the BOEM on January 29, 2013 effective August 8, 2012. [The attached Assignment of Leasehold Interest was also filed
on February 4, 2013 at Conveyance Book 1289, Page 18, File No. 2013-00000595 of the conveyance records of Plaquemines Parish,
Louisiana.]

24. Assignment of Overriding Royalty Interest dated effective January 15, 2010 from the Sellers, Walter and others to Noble
Energy, Inc. (for certain portions of OCS-G 27982), filed with the BOEM on January 31, 2013.
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25. Assignment of Operating Rights Interest in Federal OCS Oil and Gas Lease (for the Prior EW 790 OR) from Walter Oil
& Gas Corporation to Ridgewood Energy O Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy Q Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy S Fund, LLC, Ridgewood
Energy T Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy V Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy W Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy Y Fund, LLC, Ridgewood
Energy A-1 Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy B-1 Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy Gulf of Mexico Oil and Gas Fund, L.P. and ILX Prospect
Beta, LLC (with Assignment of Leasehold Interest between the same parties attached thereto), filed with the BOEM on February 28,
2013 and approved by the BOEM on March 15, 2013 effective January 15, 2010. [The attached Assignment of Leasehold Interest was
also filed on March 22, 2013 at Conveyance Book 1920, Page 592, Instrument No. 1152711 of the conveyance records of Lafourche
Parish, Louisiana.]

26. Assignment of Overriding Royalty Interest dated May 9, 2013 but effective August 1, 2010 by the Sellers (and others)
to Hall-Houston Exploration III, L.P., South River Trust, David B. Shomette and Scott D. Coe (for the Prior EW 790 OR), filed with the
BOEM on June 4, 2013 and filed June 10, 2013 at Conveyance Book 1928, Page 344, Instrument No. 1157685 of the conveyance records
of Lafourche Parish, Louisiana.

27. Assignment of Overriding Royalty Interest dated September 30, 2013 but effective August 1, 2010 by Hall-Houston
Exploration III, L.P., South River Trust, David B. Shomette and Scott D. Coe to the Sellers (and others) (for the Prior EW 790 OR), filed
with the BOEM on November 6, 2013 and filed on November 15, 2013 at Conveyance Book 1948, Page 579, Instrument No. 1167694
of the conveyance records of Lafourche Parish, Louisiana.

28. Assignment of Operating Rights Interest in Federal OCS Oil and Gas Lease (for the Prior EW 790 OR) from Ridgewood
Energy O Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy Q Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy S Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy T Fund, LLC, Ridgewood
Energy V Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy W Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy Y Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy A-1 Fund, LLC,
Ridgewood Energy B-1 Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy Gulf of Mexico Oil and Gas Fund, L.P. and ILX Prospect Beta, LLC to Walter
Oil & Gas Corporation, filed with the BOEM on July 1, 2014 and approved by the BOEM on June 10, 2015 effective January 15, 2010.

29. Assignment of Record Title Interest in Federal OCS Oil and Gas Lease (for OCS-G 33140) from Noble Energy, Inc. to
Walter Oil & Gas Corporation (with Assignment of Record Title and Overriding Royalty Interest in Oil and Gas Lease between the same
parties attached thereto), filed with the BOEM on July 1, 2014 and approved by the BOEM on June 12, 2015 effective January 15, 2010.
[The attached Assignment of Record Title and Overriding Royalty Interest in Oil and Gas Lease was also filed on August 4, 2014 at
Conveyance Book 1323, Page 453, File No. 2014-00003151 of the conveyance records of Plaquemines Parish, Louisiana and on August
4, 2014 at Conveyance Book 1974, Page 667, Instrument No. 1182372 of the conveyance records of Lafourche Parish, Louisiana.]

30. Assignment of Overriding Royalty Interest in Oil and Gas Lease dated effective January 15, 2010 from Walter to Noble
Energy, Inc. (for certain portions of OCS-G 33140), filed with the BOEM by Walter on June 29, 2016 and by Noble Energy, Inc. on
August 4, 2016 and filed July 28, 2016 at Conveyance Book 1362, Page 826, File No. 2016-00003099 of the conveyance records of
Plaquemines Parish, Louisiana.
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31. Assignment of Overriding Royalty Interest dated August 17, 2016 but effective August 1, 2010 from the Sellers (and
others) to Hall-Houston Exploration III, L.P., South River Trust, David B. Shomette and Scott D. Coe (for certain portions of OCS-G
33140), filed with the BOEM on August 19, 2016 and filed on September 2, 2016 at Conveyance Book 2046, Page 615, Instrument No.
1225710 of the conveyance records of Lafourche Parish, Louisiana.

32. Assignment of Record Title Interest in Federal OCS Oil and Gas Lease (for OCS-G 33140) from Walter Oil & Gas
Corporation to Ridgewood Energy O Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy Q Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy S Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy
T Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy V Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy W Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy Y Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy
A-1 Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy B-1 Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy Gulf of Mexico Oil and Gas Fund, L.P. and ILX Prospect Beta,
LLC (with Partial Assignment of Record Title Interest between the same parties attached thereto), filed with the BOEM on August 26,
2016 and approved by the BOEM on September 13, 2016 effective January 15, 2010.

33. Assignment of Record Title Rights Interest in Federal OCS Oil and Gas Lease (for OCS-G 35805) from Walter Oil & Gas
Corporation to Ridgewood Energy O Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy Q Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy S Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy
T Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy V Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy W Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy Y Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy
A-1 Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy B-1 Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy Gulf of Mexico Oil and Gas Fund, L.P. and ILX Prospect Beta,
LLC (with Partial Assignment of Record Title Interest between the same parties attached thereto), filed with the BOEM on December
15, 2016 and approved by the BOEM on December 29, 2016 effective July 1, 2016. [The Partial Assignment of Record Title Interest was
also filed on December 14, 2016 at Conveyance Book 2056, Page 479, Instrument No. 1231475 of the conveyance records of Lafourche
Parish, Louisiana.]

34. Assignment of Overriding Royalty Interest in Oil and Gas Leases dated effective January 15, 2010 from the Sellers,
Buyers and others to Noble Energy, Inc. (for various portions of OCS-G 27982, OCS-G 33177 and OCS-G 33707), filed with the BOEM
on February 21, 2017 in its lease files for OCS-G 27982 and OCS-G 33177.

35. Assignment of Shallow Overriding Royalty Interest dated effective August 1, 2010 from Walter Oil & Gas Corporation
to the Sellers and others (for the Shallow EW 834 OR), executed contemporaneously with this Agreement and to filed with the BOEM in
its lease files for OCS-G 27982.

36. Act of Clarification among Hall-Houston Exploration III, L.P., South River Trust, David B. Shomette, Janet Shomette,
Scott D. Coe and Rosanne Coe dated effective August 1, 2010, delivered contemporaneously herewith and to be filed in the BOEM lease
files for OCS-G 27982, OCS-G 33140 and OCS-G 33707 and in the conveyance records of Lafourche Parish, Louisiana (the “Hall-
Houston Group Clarification”).

37. Act of Correction and Clarification among the Sellers and others (including Hall-Houston Exploration III, L.P., South
River Trust, David B. Shomette et ux. and Scott D. Coe et ux.) dated effective August 1, 2010, delivered contemporaneously herewith
and to be filed with the BOEM in its lease files for OCS-G 27982, OCS-G 33140 and OCS-G 33707 and in the conveyance records of
Lafourche Parish, Louisiana (the “Hall-Houston ORRI Allocation”).
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38. Act of Correction and Clarification among Sellers, Buyers and others dated effective March 1, 2010, delivered
contemporaneously herewith and to be filed in the BOEM lease files for OCS-G 27982, OCS-G 33140 and OCS-G 33707 and in the
conveyance records of Lafourche Parish, Louisiana (the “Walter ORRI Allocation”).

Part 2: other Contracts

39. Farmout and Co-Development Agreement dated effective January 15, 2010, by and between Noble Energy, Inc. and
Walter Oil & Gas Corporation covering portions of OCS-G 27982 (Ewing Bank 834) and OCS-G 33140 (Ewing Bank 790), as amended
by First Amendment to Farmout and Co-Development Agreement dated effective September 1, 2011, as further amended by Second
Amendment to Farmout and Co-Development Agreement dated effective September 1, 2012, as further amended by Third Amendment
to Farmout and Co-Development Agreement dated effective November 1, 2013, as further amended by Fourth Amendment to Farmout
and Co-Development Agreement dated effective March 1, 2015 (the “Noble Farmout Agreement”).

40. Participation Agreement dated effective February 1, 2010 between Walter Oil & Gas Corporation and Ridgewood Energy
Corporation (as to, among other things, OCS-G 27982 (Ewing Bank 834) and a portion of OCS-G 33140 (Ewing Bank 790)).

41. Participation Agreement dated effective February 1, 2010 between Walter Oil & Gas Corporation and Hall-Houston
Exploration III, L.P. (as to, among other things, a portion of OCS-G 33140 (Ewing Bank 790)).

42. Offshore Operating Agreement dated effective February 1, 2010 between Walter Oil & Gas Corporation, as Operator, and
Hall-Houston Exploration III, L.P., Ridgewood Energy Corporation, Royal Offshore, LLC and Gordy Oil Company, as Non-Operators
(a Memorandum of Operating Agreement and Financing Statement dated effective February 1, 2010 for which was filed on August 14,
2012 with the BOEM in its lease files for OCS-G 27982 and OCS-G 33140, on August 14, 2012 at Conveyance Book 3001, Page 434,
Instrument No. 11238553 in the conveyance records of Jefferson Parish, Louisiana and at Mortgage Book 4541, Page 477, Instrument No.
11238554 of the mortgage records of Jefferson Parish, Louisiana and on August 13, 2012 under File No. 2012-00003746 at Conveyance
Book 1275, Page 630, Mortgage Book 595, Page 391 and UCC File No. 38-12-1043 of the public records of Plaquemines Parish,
Louisiana), as ratified and amended by Ratification and Amendment of Operating Agreement dated effective December 15, 2011, as
ratified and amended by letter agreement dated November 10, 2015, as amended by Amendment to Offshore Operating Agreement dated
effective as of February 1, 2010, as amended by letter agreement dated June 25, 2015 as amended by letter agreement dated June 28,
2016 and as amended by letter agreement dated January 11, 2017 (collectively, the “Operating Agreement”).

43. Letter Agreement dated effective September 14, 2010 between Hall-Houston Exploration III, L.P. and Ridgewood
Energy Corporation.
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44. Purchase and Sale Agreement entered into on October 12, 2010, but effective as of August 1, 2010, by and between
Hall-Houston Exploration III, L.P., as Seller, and Ridgewood Energy Corporation, as Buyer.

45. That certain letter agreement dated effective as of May 7, 2014, by and between Walter Oil & Gas Corporation and Gordy
Oil Company, Ridgewood Energy O Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy S Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy V Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy
W Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy Y Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy B-1 Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy Q Fund, LLC, Ridgewood
Energy T Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy A-1 Fund, LLC and Ridgewood Energy Gulf of Mexico Oil and Gas Fund, L.P. related to
authorization for expenditure to lease platform rig H&P 203 (“Rig”) and perform modifications to the Rig for operations in the EW 834
(Coelacanth) Field.

46. Drilling Unit Rental Agreement for Offshore Operations dated June 2, 2014, by and between Helmerich & Payne
International Drilling Co. and Walter Oil & Gas Corporation.

47. Platform Labor Services Contract (Options) dated June 2, 2014, by and between Walter Oil and Gas Corporation and
Helmerich & Payne International Drilling Co. for Platforms EW 834 and ST 311.

48. Unit Agreement for Outer Continental Shelf Exploration, Development, and Production Operations on the Ewing Bank
Block 834 Unit (Portions of Ewing Bank Blocks 790, 834, 835 and Mississippi Canyon Block 793) (Contract No. 754315005) dated
effective November 1, 2014 between Walter Oil & Gas Corporation, as Operator and Working Interest Owner, and Ridgewood Energy O
Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy Q Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy S Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy T Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy
V Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy W Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy Y Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy A-1 Fund, LLC, Ridgewood
Energy B-1 Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy Gulf of Mexico Oil and Gas Fund, L.P., ILX Prospect Beta, LLC, Houston Energy Deepwater
Ventures VII, LLC, Gordy Oil Company and Noble Energy, Inc., as Working Interest Owners, approved by BSEE on April 15, 2015
effective November 1, 2014, as amended by First Amendment to Unit Agreement for Outer Continental Shelf Exploration, Development,
and Production Operations on the Ewing Bank Block 834 Unit (Portions of Ewing Bank Blocks 790, 834, 835 and Mississippi Canyon
Block 793) (Contract No. 754315005) dated effective April 1, 2016 (amending article13.3), filed with the BSEE on April 12, 2016 and
approved by BSEE on July 20, 2016 effective April 1, 2016 (collectively, the “Unit Agreement”).*

* The parties to the Unit Agreement have executed a Second Amendment to the Ewing Bank 834 Unit Agreement
dated effective March 1, 2018 and submitted same to BSEE on or about June 20, 2018 for its approval.

49. Unit Operating Agreement dated effective November 1, 2014 between Walter Oil & Gas Corporation, as Operator, and
Ridgewood Energy O Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy Q Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy S Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy T Fund, LLC,
Ridgewood Energy V Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy W Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy Y Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy A-1 Fund,
LLC, Ridgewood Energy B-1 Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy Gulf of Mexico Oil and Gas Fund, L.P., ILX Prospect Beta, LLC, Houston
Energy Deepwater Ventures VII, LLC, Gordy Oil Company and Noble Energy, Inc., as Non-Operators.
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50. Stipulation for Noble Energy, Inc.’s Executions of the EW 834 Unit Agreement and the EW 834 Unit Operating
Agreement dated effective December 1, 2014.

51. Production Handling, Gathering and Operating Services Agreement for Mississippi Canyon Block 794 (“Claiborne”) at
Ewing Bank Block 834 “A” Platform (“Host”) and through lateral lines by and between Walter Oil & Gas Corporation, Houston Energy
Deepwater Venture VII, LLC, Gordy Oil Company, Ridgewood Energy O Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy Q Fund, LLC, Ridgewood
Energy S Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy T Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy V Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy W Fund, LLC, Ridgewood
Energy Y Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy A-1 Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy B-1 Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy Gulf of Mexico Oil
and Gas Fund, L.P. and ILX Prospect Beta, LLC, as host owners and lateral line owners and LLOG Exploration Offshore L.L.C., LLOG
Exploration & Production Company, L.L.C., Beacon Offshore Energy Operating LLC, Red Willow Offshore, LLC, CL&F Offshore LLC,
Ridgewood Claiborne, LLC and ILX Prospect Claiborne, LLC, as producers, dated effective as of December 12, 2016, as amended by
that certain First Amendment to Production Handling, Gathering and Operating Services Agreement dated effective February 10, 2017,
as further amended by that certain Second Amendment to Production Handling, Gathering and Operating Services Agreement dated
effective as of February 10, 2017, as further amended by that certain Third Amendment to Production Handling, Gathering and Operating
Services Agreement dated effective as of March 9, 2017.

[End of Exhibit A-2]
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Exhibit A-3

Burdens[*]

For OCS-G 27982 (Ewing Bank 834)

1. the lessor’s royalty of 12.5% for such Lease.

2. the 0.8% of 8/8ths overriding royalty interest in the EW 834 RT, as reserved by that Assignment of Record Title Interest
dated effective March 1, 2010 from Walter Oil & Gas Corporation to Ridgewood Energy Corporation (attached as Exhibit “A” to that
Assignment of Record Title Interest in Federal OCS Oil and Gas Lease between the same parties for the EW 834 RT, filed with the
BOEMRE on August 9, 2010 and approved by the BOEMRE on August 19, 2010 effective March 1, 2010), as clarified by the Walter
ORRI Allocation. [The Assignment of Record Title Interest was also filed September 21, 2010 at Conveyance Book 1830, Page 404,
Instrument No. 1099167 of the conveyance records of Lafourche Parish, Louisiana.]*

* The interests of each Seller bear the following corresponding undivided percentage of this overriding royalty
interest (for a combined 0.191680% of 8/8ths): O Fund, 0.08280% of 8/8th; S Fund, 0.02888% of 8/8ths; T Fund, none; V Fund,
0.04240% of 8/8th; W Fund, 0.00440% of 8/8th; A-1 Fund, none; and B-1 Fund, 0.03320% of 8/8th.

3. the 0.8% of 8/8ths overriding royalty in the Deep EW 834 OR, as reserved by that Assignment of Operating Rights Interest
dated effective March 1, 2010 from Walter Oil & Gas Corporation to Ridgewood Energy Corporation (attached as Exhibit “A” to that
Assignment of Operating Rights Interest in Federal OCS Oil and Gas Lease between the same parties for the Deep EW 834 OR, filed
with the BOEMRE on September 13, 2010 and approved by the BOEMRE on September 22, 2010 effective March 1, 2010), as clarified
by the Walter ORRI Allocation. [The Assignment of Operating Rights Interest was also filed September 21, 2010 at Conveyance Book
1830, Page 412, Instrument No. 1099169 of the conveyance records of Lafourche Parish, Louisiana.]*

* The interests of each Seller bear the following corresponding undivided percentage of this overriding royalty
interest (for a combined 0.191680% of 8/8ths): O Fund, 0.08280% of 8/8th; S Fund, 0.02888% of 8/8ths; T Fund, none; V Fund,
0.04240% of 8/8th; W Fund, 0.00440% of 8/8th; A-1 Fund, none; and B-1 Fund, 0.03320% of 8/8th.

4. the 0.8% of 8/8ths overriding royalty in the Shallow EW 834 OR, as reserved by that Assignment of Shallow Operating
Rights dated effective August 1, 2010 as to an undivided 20% of 8/8ths of the Shallow EW 834 OR from Walter Oil & Gas Corporation to
Sellers (and others), executed contemporaneously with this Agreement and to filed with the BOEM in its lease files for OCS-G 27982.*

* Except as otherwise noted in this Exhibit A-3, the Transferred Interest of each Seller bears the following corresponding undivided
percentage of each Burden: O Fund, 2.070% of 8/8th; S Fund, 0.722% of 8/8th; T Fund, 0.344% of 8/8th; V Fund, 1.060% of 8/8th; W
Fund, 0.110% of 8/8th; A-1 Fund, 0.364%; and B-1 Fund, 0.830% of 8/8th.
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* The interests of each Seller bear the following corresponding undivided percentage of this overriding royalty
interest (for a combined 0.191680% of 8/8ths): O Fund, 0.08280% of 8/8th; S Fund, 0.02888% of 8/8ths; T Fund, none; V Fund,
0.04240% of 8/8th; W Fund, 0.00440% of 8/8th; A-1 Fund, none; and B-1 Fund, 0.03320% of 8/8th.

5. the 0.525% of 8/8ths overriding royalty interest in all oil, gas, and other hydrocarbons produced, saved, and sold from
the Shallow EW 834 OR, as reserved by that Assignment of Operating Rights Interest dated effective March 1, 2010 from Walter Oil &
Gas Corporation to Hall-Houston Exploration III, L.P., filed with the BOEMRE on October 12, 2010 and filed on November 4, 2010 at
Conveyance Book 1834, Page 628, Instrument No. 1101780 of the conveyance records of Lafourche Parish, Louisiana, as clarified by the
Walter ORRI Allocation.*

* The interests of each Seller bear the following corresponding undivided percentage of this overriding royalty
interest (for a combined 0.029736% of 8/8th): O Fund, none; S Fund, none; T Fund, 0.014448% of 8/8th; V Fund, none; W
Fund, none; A-1 Fund, 0.015288% of 8/8th; and B-1 Fund, none.

6. the 0.5250% of 8/8ths overriding royalty interest in the EW 834 RT, as reserved by that Assignment of Record Title
Interest dated effective March 1, 2010 from Walter Oil & Gas Corporation to Hall-Houston Exploration III, L.P. (attached as Exhibit “A”
to that Assignment of Record Title Interest in Federal OCS Oil and Gas Lease between the same parties for the EW 834 RT, filed with
the BOEMRE on November 2, 2010 and approved by the BOEMRE on November 16, 2010 effective March 1, 2010), as clarified by the
Walter ORRI Allocation.*

* The interests of each Seller bear the following corresponding undivided percentage of this overriding royalty
interest (for a combined 0.029736% of 8/8th): O Fund, none; S Fund, none; T Fund, 0.014448% of 8/8th; V Fund, none; W
Fund, none; A-1 Fund, 0.015288% of 8/8th; and B-1 Fund, none.

7. the 0.5250% of 8/8ths overriding royalty interest in the Deep EW 834 OR, as reserved by that Assignment of Operating
Rights Interest dated effective March 1, 2010 from Walter Oil & Gas Corporation to Hall-Houston Exploration III, L.P. (attached as
Exhibit “A” to that Assignment of Operating Rights Interest in Federal OCS Oil and Gas Lease between the same parties for the Deep
EW 834 OR, filed with the BOEMRE on November 2, 2010 and approved by the BOEMRE on November 16, 2010 effective March 1,
2010), as clarified by the Walter ORRI Allocation.*

* The interests of each Seller bear the following corresponding undivided percentage of this overriding royalty
interest (for a combined 0.029736% of 8/8th): O Fund, none; S Fund, none; T Fund, 0.014448% of 8/8th; V Fund, none; W
Fund, none; A-1 Fund, 0.015228% of 8/8th; and B-1 Fund, none.

8. the 2% of 12.5% of 6/6ths overriding royalty interest payable out of all oil, gas, casinghead gas and associated
substances produced, saved and marketed from the EW 834 RT, the Deep EW 834 OR and the Shallow EW 834 OR, as granted by that
Assignment of Overriding Royalty Interest dated October 11, 2010 but effective August 1, 2010 from Hall-Houston Exploration III, L.P.
to South River Investments, Inc., David B. Shomette and Scott D. Coe, filed with the BOEMRE on October 22, 2010 and filed on July
24, 2013 at Conveyance Book 1933, Page 865, Instrument No. 1160812 of the conveyance records of Lafourche Parish, Louisiana, as
clarified by the Hall-Houston Clarification and the Hall-Houston ORRI Allocation.*
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* The interests of each Seller bear the following corresponding undivided percentage of this overriding royalty
interest (for a combined 0.014160% of 8/8th): O Fund, none; S Fund, none; T Fund, 0.00688% of 8/8th; V Fund, none; W Fund,
none; A-1 Fund, 0.00728% of 8/8th; and B-1 Fund, none.

9. the 1.3% of 6/6ths overriding royalty interest in and to all oil, gas, other hydrocarbons, and all other minerals produced,
saved and sold from

the NE/4 NE/4, NW/4 NE/4 and N/2 NE/4 NW/4 of Block 834, Ewing Bank, from 17,000' SS TVD down to and
including 21,400' SS TVD,

as granted by that Assignment of Overriding Royalty Interest dated effective January 15, 2010 from the Sellers, Walter and others to
Noble Energy, Inc., filed with the BOEM on January 31, 2013.

10. the 1.3% of 8/8ths overriding royalty interest in all oil and gas produced, saved and sold from

Block 834, Ewing Bank, insofar and only insofar as such Lease covers the NE/4 NE/4, NW/4 NE/4 and N/2 NE/
4N W/4 of Block 834 of Ewing Bank and further limited to those depths from the surface down to 17,000' TVDSS and
from 21,400' TVDSS down to 26,000' TVDSS and the S/2 NE/4, NW/4 NW/4, N/2 SE/4 NW/4 and S/2 NE/4 NW/4
from the surface down to 26,000' TVDSS,

as granted by that Assignment of Overriding Royalty Interest in Oil and Gas Leases dated effective January 15, 2010 from the Sellers,
Buyers and others to Noble Energy, Inc., filed with the BOEM on February 21, 2017 in its lease files for OCS-G 27982 and OCS-G
33177.

For OCS-G 33140 (Ewing Bank 790)

11. the lessor’s royalty of 18.75% for such Lease.

12. the 1.3% of 8/8ths overriding royalty interest in all oil and gas produced, saved and sold from

Block 790, Ewing Bank, insofar and only insofar as such Lease covers the SW/4 SW/4; S/2 SE/4 SW/4; S/2 SW/4 SE/
4; and NW/4 SE/4 SW/4 of Block 790 of Ewing Bank and further limited to those depths from the surface down to
26,000' TVDSS,

(the “Shallow EW 790 Depths”), as granted by that Assignment of Overriding Royalty Interest in Oil and Gas Lease dated effective
January 15, 2010 from Walter to Noble Energy, Inc., filed with the BOEM by Walter on June 29, 2016 and by Noble Energy, Inc. on
August 4, 2016 and filed July 28, 2016 at Conveyance Book 1362, Page 826, File No. 2016-00003099 of the conveyance records of
Plaquemines Parish, Louisiana.
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13. the 2.0% of 12.5% of 6/6ths overriding royalty in and to all, oil, gas, other hydrocarbons, and all other minerals
produced, saved and sold from the Shallow EW 790 Depths, as granted by that Assignment of Overriding Royalty Interest dated August
17, 2016 but effective August 1, 2010 from the Sellers (and others) to Hall-Houston Exploration III, L.P., South River Trust, David B.
Shomette and Scott D. Coe, filed with the BOEM on August 19, 2016 and filed on September 2, 2016 at Conveyance Book 2046, Page
615, Instrument No. 1225710 of the conveyance records of Lafourche Parish, Louisiana, as clarified by the Hall-Houston Clarification
and the Hall-Houston ORRI Allocation.*

* The interests of each Seller bear the following corresponding undivided percentage of this overriding royalty
interest (for a combined 0.014160% of 8/8th): O Fund, none; S Fund, none; T Fund, 0.00688% of 8/8th; V Fund, none; W Fund,
none; A-1 Fund, 0.00728% of 8/8th; and B-1 Fund, none.

14. the 1.325% of 8/8ths overriding royalty interest in such Lease, as reserved in that Partial Assignment of Record Title
Interest dated effective January 15, 2010 from Walter Oil & Gas Corporation to Ridgewood Energy O Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy Q
Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy S Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy T Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy V Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy
W Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy Y Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy A-1 Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy B-1 Fund, LLC, Ridgewood
Energy Gulf of Mexico Oil and Gas Fund, L.P. and ILX Prospect Beta, LLC (attached as Exhibit “A” to that Assignment of Record Title
Interest in Federal OCS Oil and Gas Lease between the same parties, filed with the BOEM on August 26, 2016 and approved by the
BOEM on September 13, 2016 effective January 15, 2010), as clarified by the Walter ORRI Allocation.*

* The interests of each Seller bear the following corresponding undivided percentage of this overriding royalty
interest (for a combined 0.221416% of 8/8th): O Fund, 0.082800% of 8/8th; S Fund, 0.028880% of 8/8ths; T Fund, 0.014448%;
V Fund, 0.042400% of 8/8th; W Fund, 0.004400% of 8/8th; A-1 Fund, 0.015288%; and B-1 Fund, 0.033200% of 8/8th.

For OCS-G 33177 (Mississippi Canyon 793)

15. the lessor’s royalty of 18.75% for such Lease.

16. the 0.188144% of 8/8ths overriding royalty interest in such Lease, as reserved in that Assignment of Leasehold Interest
dated effective August 8, 2012 from Walter Oil & Gas Corporation to Ridgewood Energy O Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy Q Fund,
LLC, Ridgewood Energy S Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy T Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy V Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy W Fund,
LLC, Ridgewood Energy Y Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy A-1 Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy B-1 Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy
Gulf of Mexico Oil and Gas Fund, L.P. and ILX Prospect Beta, LLC (attached as Exhibit “A” to that Assignment of Record Title Interest
in Federal OCS Oil and Gas Lease between the same parties, filed with the BOEM on January 16, 2013 and approved by the BOEM
on January 29, 2013 effective August 8, 2012), as clarified by the Walter ORRI Allocation. [The Assignment of Leasehold Interest was
also filed on February 4, 2013 at Conveyance Book 1289, Page 18, File No. 2013-00000595 of the conveyance records of Plaquemines
Parish, Louisiana.]*

* The interests of each Seller bear the following corresponding undivided percentage of this overriding royalty
interest (for a combined 0.031840% of 8/8ths): O Fund, 0.011983% of 8/8th; S Fund, 0.004180% of 8/8ths; T Fund, 0.001991%
of 8/8th; V Fund, 0.006136% of 8/8th; W Fund, 0.000637% of 8/8th; A-1 Fund, 0.002107% of 8/8th; and B-1 Fund, 0.004805%
of 8/8th.
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17. the 1.3% of 8/8ths overriding royalty interest in all oil and gas produced, saved and sold from

Block 793, Mississippi Canyon, insofar and only insofar as such Lease covers the W/2 W/2 NW/4 of Block 793 of
Mississippi Canyon and further limited to those depths from the surface down to 26,000' TVDSS,

as granted by that Assignment of Overriding Royalty Interest in Oil and Gas Leases dated effective January 15, 2010 from the Sellers,
Buyers and others to Noble Energy, Inc., filed with the BOEM on February 21, 2017 in its lease files for OCS-G 27982 and OCS-G
33177.*

* The parties to the Unit Agreement have executed a Second Amendment to the Ewing Bank 834 Unit Agreement
dated effective March 1, 2018 and submitted same to BSEE on or about June 20, 2018 for its approval. Upon its approval
but effective March 1, 2018, Fieldwood Energy LLC (as successor in interest to Noble Energy, Inc. under the Noble Farmout
Agreement assignment) will be also be entitled to a 1.3% of 8/8ths overriding royalty interest in all oil and gas produced, saved
and sold from this same block insofar as such Lease covers the E/2 W/2 NW/4 and E/2 NW/4 of this block and further limited
to those depths from the surface down to 26,000' TVDSS.

For OCS-G 33707 (Ewing Bank 835)

18. the lessor’s royalty of 18.75% for such Lease.

19. the 0.115781% overriding royalty interest in such Lease, as reserved in that Assignment of Record Title Interest dated
effective May 1, 2010 from Walter Oil & Gas Corporation to Ridgewood Energy Corporation (attached as Exhibit “A” to that Assignment
of Record Title Interest in Federal OCS Oil and Gas Lease from Walter Oil & Gas Corporation to Ridgewood Energy Corporation for
OCS-G 33707, filed with the BOEM on August 9, 2010 and approved by the BOEM on August 19, 2010 effective May 1, 2010), as
clarified by the Walter ORRI Allocation. [The Assignment of Record Title Interest was also filed September 21, 2010 at Conveyance
Book 1830, Page 408, Instrument No. 1099168 of the conveyance records of Lafourche Parish, Louisiana.]*

* The interests of each Seller bear the following corresponding undivided percentage of this overriding royalty
interest (for a combined 0.027741% of 8/8ths): O Fund, 0.011983% of 8/8th; S Fund, 0.004180% of 8/8ths; T Fund, none;
V Fund, 0.006136% of 8/8th; W Fund, 0.000637% of 8/8th; A-1 Fund, none; and B-1 Fund, 0.004805% of 8/8th.

20. the 0.072363% overriding royalty interest in such Lease, as reserved in that Assignment of Record Title Interest
dated effective May 1, 2010 from Walter Oil & Gas Corporation to Hall-Houston Exploration III, L.P. (attached as Exhibit “A” to that
Assignment of Record Title Interest in Federal OCS Oil and Gas Lease from Walter Oil & Gas Corporation to Hall-Houston Exploration
III, L.P. for OCS-G 33707, filed with the BOEM on February 11, 2011 and approved by the BOEM on March 4, 2011 effective May 1,
2010) , as clarified by the Walter ORRI Allocation.*
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* The interests of each Seller bear the following corresponding undivided percentage of this overriding royalty
interest (for a combined 0.004099% of 8/8th): O Fund, none; S Fund, none; T Fund, 0.001991% of 8/8th; V Fund, none; W
Fund, none; A-1 Fund, 0.002107% of 8/8th; and B-1 Fund, none.

21. the 2% of 12.5% of 6/6ths overriding royalty interest payable out of all oil, gas, casinghead gas and associated
substances produced, saved and marketed from such Lease, as granted by that Assignment of Overriding Royalty Interest dated October
11, 2010 but effective August 1, 2010 from Hall-Houston Exploration III, L.P. to South River Investments, Inc., David B. Shomette and
Scott D. Coe, filed with the BOEMRE on October 22, 2010 and filed on July 24, 2013 at Conveyance Book 1933, Page 865, Instrument
No. 1160812 of the conveyance records of Lafourche Parish, Louisiana, as clarified the Hall-Houston Clarification and the Hall-Houston
ORRI Allocation.*

* The interests of each Seller bear the following corresponding undivided percentage of this overriding royalty
interest (for a combined 0.014160% of 8/8th): O Fund, none; S Fund, none; T Fund, 0.00688% of 8/8th; V Fund, none; W Fund,
none; A-1 Fund, 0.00728% of 8/8th; and B-1 Fund, none.

22. the 1.3% of 8/8ths overriding royalty interest in all oil and gas produced, saved and sold from

Block 835, Ewing Bank, insofar and only insofar as such Lease covers the North 7,800' of Block 835 of Ewing Bank
and further limited to those depths from the surface down to 26,000' TVDSS,

as granted by that Assignment of Overriding Royalty Interest in Oil and Gas Leases dated effective January 15, 2010 from the Sellers,
Buyers and others to Noble Energy, Inc., filed with the BOEM on February 21, 2017 in its lease files for OCS-G 27982 and OCS-G
33177.

For OCS-G 35805 (Ewing Bank 789)

23. the lessor’s royalty of 18.75% for such Lease.

24. The parties to the Unit Agreement have executed a Second Amendment to the Ewing Bank 834 Unit Agreement dated
effective March 1, 2018 and submitted same to BSEE on or about June 20, 2018 for its approval. Upon its approval but effective March
1, 2018, Fieldwood Energy LLC (as successor in interest to Noble Energy, Inc. under the Noble Farmout Agreement) will be entitled to
a 1.3% of 8/8ths overriding royalty interest in all oil and gas produced, saved and sold from

Block 789, Ewing Bank, insofar and only insofar as such Lease covers the SE/4 of Block 789 of Ewing Bank and
further limited to those depths from the surface down to 26,000' TVDSS,

[End of Exhibit A-3]
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Exhibit B

Allocated Values

Properties O Fund S Fund T Fund V Fund W Fund A-1 Fund B-1 Fund Total
Gross Working Interest 2.07% 0.722% 0.344% 1.06% 0.11% 0.364% 0.83% 5.50000%

OCS-G 27982 (Ewing Bank 834) $4,279,311 $1,492,591 $711,151 $2,191,338 $227,403 $752,497 $1,715,859 $11,370,150
OCS-G 33140 (Ewing Bank 790) $10,082,556 $3,516,718 $1,675,555 $5,163,048 $535,788 $1,772,971 $4,042,764 $26,789,400
OCS-G 33177 (Mississippi Canyon
793) $558,900 $194,940 $92,880 $286,200 $29,700 $98,280 $224,100 $1,485,000

OCS-G 33707 (Ewing Bank 835) $314,847 $109,816 $52,322 $161,226 $16,731 $55,364 $126,243 $836,550
OCS-G 35805 (Ewing Bank 789) $3,394,386 $1,183,936 $564,091 $1,738,188 $180,378 $596,887 $1,361,034 $9,018,900

TOTAL $18,630,000 $6,498,000 $3,096,000 $9,540,000 $990,000 $3,276,000 $7,470,000 $49,500,000

[End of Exhibit B]
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Exhibit C

Assignment and Bill of Sale

This Assignment and Bill of Sale (this “Assignment”) is executed on August 10, 2018 (the “Closing Date”) but effective as of
January 1, 2018, at 7:00 a.m., Central Time Zone (the “Effective Time”) by and among Ridgewood Energy O Fund, LLC, Ridgewood
Energy S Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy T Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy V Fund, LLC, Ridgewood Energy W Fund, LLC, Ridgewood
Energy A-1 Fund, LLC and Ridgewood Energy B-1 Fund, LLC, each a Delaware limited liability company with a mailing address of 14
Philips Parkway, Montvale, New Jersey 07645, (each a “Seller” and collectively the “Sellers”) on the one hand and Walter Oil & Gas
Corporation, a Texas corporation, (“Walter”) and Gordy Oil Company, a Texas corporation, (“Gordy”) (each a “Buyer” and collectively
the “Buyers”) on the other hand.

For good and valuable cause and consideration, the receipt and sufficiency are hereby acknowledged, each Seller does hereby
sell, assign, transfer and deliver to Buyer, and Buyer hereby purchases and accepts from such Seller, effective as of the Effective Time
an undivided one-half of such Seller’s Transferred Interest, where the term “Transferred Interests” with respect to a Seller means the
following undivided interest (expressed as a percentage on an 8/8ths basis with respect to the Properties) in and to the Properties:

(i) Ridgewood Energy O Fund, LLC - 2.070%
(ii) Ridgewood Energy S Fund, LLC - 0.722%
(iii) Ridgewood Energy T Fund, LLC - 0.344%
(iv) Ridgewood Energy V Fund, LLC - 1.060%
(v) Ridgewood Energy W Fund, LLC - 0.110%
(vi) Ridgewood Energy A-1 Fund, LLC - 0.364%
(vii) Ridgewood Energy B-1 Fund, LLC - 0.830%

The term “Transferred Interest” with respect to a Seller also includes without limitation such Seller’s undivided net revenue interests in
the Leases as set forth in Exhibit A-1 to the Agreement (as defined below). This assignment is made and accepted subject to the following
provisions.

1. This Assignment is made subject to the Purchase and Sale Agreement signed contemporaneously herewith effective as
of the Effective Time by and between Sellers and Buyers relating to the Properties (as defined below) and Transferred Interests (the
“Agreement”). In the event of any conflict between this Assignment and the Agreement, the Agreement shall control. However, Sellers
and Buyers acknowledge and agree that nothing in the Agreement limits, expands or otherwise modifies the definition or scope of the
Properties and Transferred Interests as set forth above in this Assignment. Capitalized terms used but not defined in this Assignment shall
have the meanings set forth in the Agreement.

2. As used this Assignment, the following terms have the following meanings: The term “Properties” means the following
assets (less and except the Excluded Assets):
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(a) All of the oil, gas, other Hydrocarbon and mineral leases (or portions thereof) described in Part 1 of Exhibit A
hereto (collectively, the “Leases”); all subleases, working interests, record title interests, operating rights interests, royalty
interests, overriding royalty interests, production payments, net profit interests, reversionary interests, carried interest, rights to
take royalties in-kind and all other interests of any kind or character in Hydrocarbons in place and the leasehold estates created
thereby, (together with all other mineral interests of every nature) related to any Leases or any lands covered by the Leases or
lands pooled or unitized with any portions of any Lease; and all corresponding interests in and to all the property and rights of
any nature that arise by Law or otherwise and are incident to any of the foregoing, including all rights in any pooled or unitized
acreage by virtue of the Leases having been pooled into such pools or units; all production from any pool or unit allocated to any
such lands; and all interests in any wells within any pool or unit associated with any such lands; and all reversionary interests,
convertible interests and net profits interests applicable to any Lease or any such lands (collectively, “Leasehold Interests”);

(b) all units (whether formed by voluntary agreement or under the rules, regulations, orders or other official acts of
any Governmental Entity having appropriate jurisdiction) to the extent they relate to any or all of the Leasehold Interests or any
lands covered thereby or pooled or unitized with any portion thereof (collectively, the “Units”);

(c) all wells and wellbores (whether producing, plugged and abandoned, shut-in, injection, disposal, water supply
or otherwise) located in whole or in part on any lands covered by or subject to any Leasehold Interest or Unit (including the
wellbores described in Part 3 of Exhibit A hereto) (the “Wells”);

(d) all easements, rights-of-way, servitudes, surface leases, subsurface leases, other interests in production of
Hydrocarbons and similar rights and privileges directly related to or used in connection with any or all of the Leasehold Interests,
Units and Wells (including those described in Part 2 of Exhibit A hereto) (collectively, the “Easements”);

(e) all movable property, improvements, appurtenances, fixtures, platforms, caissons, facilities, umbilicals,
gathering lines, flow lines, injection lines, pipelines, tanks, boilers, buildings, machinery, equipment (surface and downhole),
inventory and vessels to the extent the same are situated upon or used or held for use in connection with any or all of the
Leasehold Interests, Units, Wells or Easements (collectively, the “Equipment”);

(f) all of the presently existing and valid farm-out contracts, farm-in contracts, balancing contracts, operating
agreements, areas of mutual interest, unit agreements, unit operating agreements, pooling or unit orders and other contracts,
agreements and instruments, to the extent they relate to any or all of the Leasehold Interests, Units, Wells, Easements, Equipment
or any lands covered or subject to by any Leasehold Interests, Units or Easements (collectively, the “Lands”) or the production
of oil, gas or other Hydrocarbon and non-Hydrocarbon substances attributable thereto (including those described on Exhibit A-2
hereto (the “Scheduled Contracts”)) (collectively with the contracts described in described in clauses (a), (b) and (d) above, the
“Contracts”);

(g) all Hydrocarbons produced at or after the Effective Time (and all Hydrocarbons in storage (or otherwise present
in any Equipment as line fill or otherwise) at or after the Effective Time) that are attributable to any Leasehold Interests,
Units, Wells or Easements; and all imbalances as of the Effective Time with respect to all Hydrocarbons produced from or
attributable to any Leasehold Interests, Units, Wells or Easements (the “Imbalances”) and all rights and benefits associated with
any Imbalances;
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(h) all environmental and other governmental (whether federal, state or local) permits, licenses, orders,
authorizations, franchises and related instruments or rights relating to the ownership, operation, production or use of any or all
of the foregoing assets (collectively, the “Permits”);

(i) all records, files, documents, information and data (including without limitation production records, well
records, severance Tax records, lease files and accounting records) directly related to any or all of the foregoing assets
(collectively, excluding any Excluded Assets, the “Records”);

(j) all Claims (whether for adjustments, refunds, in warranty or otherwise) (i) accruing at or after the Effective
Time to the extent attributable to any or all of the foregoing assets and/or (ii) to the extent attributable to any of the Assumed
Liabilities; and

(k) all accounts receivable for which the Purchase Price is adjusted pursuant to Section 1.7 of the Agreement (as
defined below) and all Claims and rights under Liens related thereto.

The term “Claims” shall include claims, demands, causes of action, Liabilities, damages and judgments of any kind or character and all
costs, expenses, fines, penalties and fees in connection therewith, including attorney’s fees. The term “Governmental Entity” means any
governmental authority or entity, including any agency, board, bureau, commission, court, municipality, official, department, subdivision
or instrumentality thereof, or any arbitrator or arbitration panel. The term “Hydrocarbons” means all of the oil, liquid hydrocarbons, gas
and any and all other liquid or gaseous hydrocarbons, as well as their respective constituent products (including condensate, casinghead
gas, distillate and natural gas liquids) and, to the extent useful for the exploration for and production of the foregoing, any other minerals
produced in association therewith (including elemental sulfur, helium, carbon dioxide and other non-hydrocarbon substances produced in
association with any of the above described items). The term “including” means including without limitation. The term “Law” means all
laws, statutes, common law, rules, codes, regulations, restrictions, ordinances, orders, decrees, approvals, directives, judgments, rulings,
injunctions, writs, awards and decrees of, or issued or entered by, all Governmental Entities.

3. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Assignment, the Assets and Transferred Interests do not include the
following (the “Excluded Assets”):

(a) all credits, refunds, accounts, instruments and general intangibles attributable to any Properties with respect to
any period of time prior to the Effective Time;

(b) all Claims of Sellers for refunds of, and all rights of Sellers to loss carry forwards or to receive funds from any
Governmental Entity with respect to, (i) ad valorem, severance, production or other Taxes attributable to any period prior to the
Effective Time, (ii) income or franchise Taxes or (iii) any Taxes attributable to the other Excluded Assets; and all Claims of
Sellers for such other refunds, and rights thereto, for amounts paid (including refunds of amounts paid under any gas gathering
or transportation agreement) in connection with any Properties and attributable to the period prior to the Effective Time;
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(c) all proceeds, income and revenues (and any security or other deposits made) attributable to (i) any Properties for
any period prior to the Effective Time or (ii) any other Excluded Assets;

(d) all of Sellers’ proprietary computer software, technology, patents, trade secrets, copyrights, names, trademarks,
logos and other intellectual property;

(e) all of Sellers’ rights and interests in geological and geophysical data that Sellers cannot transfer without the
consent of or payment to any Third Party and have been identified in writing to Buyers before the Closing Date and for which
Sellers cannot obtain such consent with reasonable commercial efforts;

(f) all documents and instruments of Sellers (i) that contain markings designating them as protected under the
attorney-client privilege; or (ii) prepared by or for counsel;

(g) all data and other information that cannot be disclosed or assigned to Buyers as a result of confidentiality or
similar arrangements under agreements with Persons unaffiliated with Sellers that Sellers have identified in writing to Buyers
before the Closing Date and for which Sellers cannot obtain a waiver with reasonable commercial efforts;

(h) all audit rights arising under any of the Contracts or otherwise with respect to any period prior to the Effective
Time or to any of the Excluded Assets;

(i) all corporate, partnership and limited liability company financial and income tax records of Sellers;

(j) all contracts and agreements that are subject to material restrictions for the transfer of a Seller’s right therein to
Buyers and have been identified in writing by Sellers to Buyers before the Closing Date and for which Sellers cannot obtain a
consent or waiver with reasonable commercial efforts;

(j) all rights, Claims, and benefits of Sellers under or with respect to any Contract that are attributable to periods
prior to the Effective Time;

(k) all rights and interests of Sellers (i) under any policy or agreement of insurance or indemnity, (ii) under any
bond or (iii) to any insurance or condemnation proceeds or awards to the extent arising, in each case, from acts, omissions or
events related to, or damage to or destruction of, the Properties occurring prior to the Effective Time;

(l) all amounts due or payable to Sellers as adjustments to insurance premiums related to the Properties with respect
to any period prior to the Effective Time;

(m) all proceeds, income, revenues or other benefits not otherwise enumerated above, as well as any security or
other deposits made, to the extent attributable to (i) the Transferred Interest for any period prior to the Effective Time, or (ii) any
other Excluded Assets;
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(n) the following undivided interests (expressed as percentages on an 8/8ths basis) in and to the Properties, which
undivided interests Sellers are retaining: as to Ridgewood Energy O Fund, LLC, 2.93%; as to Ridgewood Energy S Fund, LLC,
1.778%; as to Ridgewood Energy T Fund, LLC, 1.656%; as to Ridgewood Energy V Fund, LLC, 1.940%, as to Ridgewood
Energy W Fund, LLC, 2.890%, as to Ridgewood Energy A-1 Fund, LLC 1.636%; and as to Ridgewood Energy B-1 Fund, LLC
2.170%; and

(o) those agreements listed on Exhibit E hereto.

4. EACH SELLER CONVEYS TITLE TO ITS TRANSFERRED INTERESTS TO BUYERS WITHOUT ANY
WARRANTY OF TITLE, EXPRESS, STATUTORY OR IMPLIED, NOT EVEN FOR RETURN OF THE PURCHASE PRICE,
except that each Seller shall warrant and defend title to such Seller’s Transferred Interest unto Buyers (and their respective successors
and assigned) against (a) every Person whomsoever lawfully claiming or to claim the same or any part thereof by, through or under such
Seller, but not otherwise, subject, however, to the Permitted Encumbrances and the other matters set forth in the Agreement and (b) any
overriding royalty interest, reversionary interest or other burden of any kind to such Seller’s Transferred Interest other than those Burdens
set forth on Exhibit A-3 to the Agreement.

5. EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY PROVIDED OTHERWISE IN THE SPECIAL WARRANTY OR THE AGREEMENT,
BUYERS ACKNOWLEDGE THAT, EXCEPT FOR PURPOSES OF SELLERS’ INDEMNITY OBLIGATIONS UNDER THE
AGREEMENT AND OTHER MATTERS AS TO WHICH SELLERS HAVE REPRESENTED AND WARRANTED OR OTHERWISE
AGREED, SELLERS HAVE NOT MADE, AND SELLERS HEREBY EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS AND NEGATES, ANY
COVENANT, REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, RELATING TO THE CONDITION OF ANY
EQUIPMENT (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, (i) ANY IMPLIED OR EXPRESS WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY,
(ii) ANY IMPLIED OR EXPRESS WARRANTY OF FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, (iii) ANY IMPLIED OR EXPRESS
WARRANTY OF CONFORMITY TO MODELS OR SAMPLES OF MATERIALS, (iv) ANY RIGHTS OF BUYERS UNDER
APPROPRIATE STATUTES TO CLAIM DIMINUTION OF CONSIDERATION OR RETURN OF THE PURCHASE PRICE, (v) ANY
IMPLIED OR EXPRESS WARRANTY OF FREEDOM FROM PATENT OR TRADEMARK INFRINGEMENT, (vi) ANY IMPLIED
OR EXPRESS WARRANTY OF FREEDOM FROM REDHIBITORY VICES OR DEFECTS OR OTHER VICES OR DEFECTS,
WHETHER KNOWN OR UNKNOWN, AND (vii) ANY AND ALL IMPLIED WARRANTIES EXISTING UNDER APPLICABLE
LAW NOW OR HEREAFTER IN EFFECT IT BEING THE EXPRESS INTENTION OF SELLERS AND BUYERS THAT THE
TRANSFERRED INTEREST WITH RESPECT TO THE EQUIPMENT SHALL BE CONVEYED TO BUYERS AS IS AND IN
THEIR PRESENT CONDITION AND STATE OF REPAIR. EACH BUYER REPRESENT TO SELLERS THAT SUCH BUYER HAS
MADE OR CAUSED TO BE MADE SUCH INSPECTIONS WITH RESPECT TO THE EQUIPMENT AS SUCH BUYER DEEMS
APPROPRIATE AND SUCH BUYER WILL ACCEPT ITS SHARE OF THE TRANSFERRED INTEREST WITH RESPECT TO THE
EQUIPMENT AS IS, IN THEIR PRESENT CONDITION AND STATE OF REPAIR.
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6. Each Buyer assumes an undivided-one half of all obligations of the Farmee under that Farmout and Co-Development
Agreement dated effective January 15, 2010, by and between Noble Energy, Inc. and Walter Oil & Gas Corporation covering portions
of OCS-G 27982 (Ewing Bank 834) and OCS-G 33140 (Ewing Bank 790) (as amended by First Amendment to Farmout and Co-
Development Agreement dated effective September 1, 2011, as further amended by Second Amendment to Farmout and Co-Development
Agreement dated effective September 1, 2012, as further amended by Third Amendment to Farmout and Co-Development Agreement
dated effective November 1, 2013, as further amended by Fourth Amendment to Farmout and Co-Development Agreement dated
effective March 1, 2015) INSOFAR AND ONLY INSOFAR AS such obligations relate to the Transferred Interests.

7. Sellers and Buyers dispense and release each undersigned notary public from the production of any tax receipts or
certificates of mortgage in connection with this Assignment.

8. This Assignment may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original
instrument, but all of which together shall constitute but one and the same agreement. This Assignment may be attached as an exhibit to
one or more BOEM-0150 or BOEM-0151 forms; any such attachment (together with this Assignment) shall not be intended to convey to
Buyers any more than the Transferred Interests.

[remainder of page intentionally blank; signature page follows]
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STATE OF TEXAS COUNTY OF HARRIS THUS DONE AND SIGNED on the Execution Date by each Seller (appearing through its duly authorized Secretary, Daniel V. Gulino) in the presence of me, the undersigned Notary Public in and for the foregoing jurisdiction, and the undersigned competent witnesses, who sign their names below together with each Seller and me, Notary, after a due reading of the whole. WITNESSES to all signatures on this page: Ridgewood Energy O Fund, LLC Ridgewood Energy S Fund, LLC Ridgewood Energy T Fund, LLC Ridgewood Energy V Fund, LLC Signature: Ridgewood Energy W Fund, LLC Ridgewood Energy A-1 Fund, LLC Name printed: Ridgewood Energy B-1 Fund, LLC Signature: By: /s/ Daniel V. Gulino Name printed: Name: Daniel V. Gulino Title: Secretary NOTARY PUBLIC, State of Texas Full name printed: Commission No. My commission expires . [SEAL] [Signature Page to Purchase and Sale Agreement] STATE OF TEXAS COUNTY OF HARRIS THUS DONE AND SIGNED on the Execution Date by Walter in the presence of me, the undersigned Notary Public in and for the foregoing jurisdiction, and the undersigned competent witnesses, who sign their names below together with Walter and me, Notary, after a due reading of

the whole. WITNESSES to all signatures on this page: Walter Oil & Gas Corporation By: /s/ Daniel V. Gulino Signature: Name: Daniel V. Gulino Name printed: Title: Secretary Signature: Name printed: NOTARY PUBLIC, State of Texas Full name printed: Commission No. My commission expires . [SEAL] [Signature Page to Purchase and Sale Agreement] STATE OF TEXAS COUNTY OF HARRIS THUS DONE AND SIGNED on the Execution Date by Gordy in the presence of me, the undersigned Notary Public in and for the foregoing jurisdiction, and the undersigned competent witnesses, who sign their names below together with Gordy and me, Notary, after a due reading of the whole. WITNESSES to all signatures on this page: Gordy Oil Company By: /s/ Thomas R. Speck Signature: Name: Thomas R. Speck Name printed: Title: Vice President Signature: Name printed: NOTARY PUBLIC, State of Texas Full name printed: Commission No. My commission expires . [SEAL] [Signature Page to Purchase and Sale Agreement] Andrew M. Adams Chad Elias General Counsel Fritz L. Spencer, III Ann M Hebert 11038209 07-16-2022 Ann M. Hebert 11038209 07-16-2022
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Exhibit A to Assignment and Bill of Sale
by and between Ridgewood Energy O Fund, LLC and others as Sellers
and Walter Oil & Gas Corporation and Gordy Oil Company as Buyers

[same as Exhibit A to the Agreement]

[End of Exhibit A]
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Exhibit A-2 to Assignment and Bill of Sale
by and between Ridgewood Energy O Fund, LLC and others as Sellers
and Walter Oil & Gas Corporation and Gordy Oil Company as Buyers

[same as Exhibit A-2 to the Agreement]

[End of Exhibit A-2]
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Exhibit E to Assignment and Bill of Sale
by and between Ridgewood Energy O Fund, LLC and others as Sellers
and Walter Oil & Gas Corporation and Gordy Oil Company as Buyers

[same as Exhibit E to the Agreement]

[End of Exhibit E]
[End of Assignment]
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Exhibit D

TREASURY REGULATION CERTIFICATE

Section 1445 of the Internal Revenue Code provides that a transferee of a U.S. real property interest must withhold tax if the
transferor is a foreign person. To inform Walter Oil & Gas Corporation, a Texas corporation, and Gordy Oil Company, a Texas corporation
(“Transferees”), that withholding of tax is not required upon the disposition, for U.S. federal tax purposes, of U.S. real property interests
held separately by Ridgewood Energy O Fund, LLC; Ridgewood Energy S Fund, LLC; Ridgewood Energy T Fund, LLC; Ridgewood
Energy V Fund, LLC; Ridgewood Energy W Fund, LLC; Ridgewood Energy A-1 Fund, LLC; and Ridgewood Energy B-1 Fund, LLC,
each a Delaware limited liability company (each, a “Transferor”), each Transferor, for itself and not for any other Transferor, hereby
certifies to Transferees, for purposes of Section 1445 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, that:

1. Transferor is not a disregarded entity as defined in Treasury Regulation §1.1445-2(b)(2)(iii);

2. Transferor is not a foreign corporation, foreign partnership, foreign trust, or foreign estate (as those terms are defined in
the Internal Revenue Code and Income Tax Regulations);

3. Each Transferor’s U.S. employer identification number is as follows:

Ridgewood Energy O Fund, LLC - 76-0774429
Ridgewood Energy S Fund, LLC - 20-4077773
Ridgewood Energy T Fund, LLC - 27-0141421
Ridgewood Energy V Fund, LLC - 20-5941122
Ridgewood Energy W Fund, LLC - 26-0225130
Ridgewood Energy A-1 Fund, LLC - 01-0921132
Ridgewood Energy B-1 Fund, LLC - 27-0406555

4. Transferor’s principal mailing address is 14 Philips Parkway, Montvale, New Jersey 07645.

Each Transferor understands that this Treasury Regulation Certificate (this “Certificate”) may be disclosed to the Internal
Revenue Service by Transferees and that any false statement contained herein could be punished by fine, imprisonment, or both. This
Certificate may be validly executed and delivered by facsimile or other electronic transmission.

[Remainder of Page Left Intentionally Blank]
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Under penalty of perjury, I declare that I have examined the contents of this Certificate and to the best of my knowledge and
belief it is true, correct, and complete.

Dated: August 10, 2018

TRANSFEROR:

Ridgewood Energy O Fund, LLC
Ridgewood Energy S Fund, LLC
Ridgewood Energy T Fund, LLC
Ridgewood Energy V Fund, LLC
Ridgewood Energy W Fund, LLC
Ridgewood Energy A-1 Fund, LLC
Ridgewood Energy B-1 Fund, LLC

By: /s/ Daniel V. Gulino
Daniel V. Gulino, Secretary

[End of Exhibit D]
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Exhibit E

Retained Liabilities

1. Conveyance of Overriding Royalty Interest dated March 21, 2017 from Ridgewood Energy A-1 Fund, LLC to Rahr
Energy Investments LLC, filed on April 20, 2017 with the BOEM and on April 10, 2017 at Conveyance Book 2067, Page 211, Instrument
No. 1237605 of the conveyance records of Lafourche Parish, Louisiana.

2. Act of Mortgage, Fixture Filing, Assignment of As-Extracted Collateral, Security Agreement and Financing Statement
dated April 23, 2013 by Ridgewood Energy A-1 Fund to Rahr Energy Investments, LLC, filed on May 30, 2013 at Mortgage Book 4576,
Page 244, Instrument No. 11326439 of the mortgage records of Jefferson Parish, Louisiana and on May 17, 2013 at Mortgage Book 620,
Page 146, File No. 2013-00002221 of the mortgage records of Plaquemines Parish, Louisiana.

3. Conveyance of Overriding Royalty Interest dated March 21, 2017 from Ridgewood Energy B-1 Fund, LLC to Rahr
Energy Investments LLC, filed on April 20, 2017 with the BOEM and on April 10, 2017 at Conveyance Book 2067, Page 227, Instrument
No. 1237606 of the conveyance records of Lafourche Parish, Louisiana.

4. Act of Mortgage, Fixture Filing, Assignment of As-Extracted Collateral, Security Agreement and Financing Statement
dated April 23, 2013 by Ridgewood Energy B-1 Fund to Rahr Energy Investments, LLC, filed on May 30, 2013 at Mortgage Book 4576,
Page 245, Instrument No. 11326440 of the mortgage records of Jefferson Parish, Louisiana and on May 17, 2013 at Mortgage Book 620,
Page 175, File No. 2013-00002222 of the mortgage records of Plaquemines Parish, Louisiana.

5. Conveyance of Overriding Royalty Interest dated March 21, 2017 from Ridgewood Energy O Fund, LLC to Rahr Energy
Investments LLC, filed on April 20, 2017 with the BOEM and on April 10, 2017 at Conveyance Book 2067, Page 243, Instrument No.
1237607 of the conveyance records of Lafourche Parish, Louisiana.

6. Act of Mortgage, Fixture Filing, Assignment of As-Extracted Collateral, Security Agreement and Financing Statement
dated April 23, 2013 by Ridgewood Energy O Fund to Rahr Energy Investments, LLC, filed on May 30, 2013 at Mortgage Book 4576,
Page 238, Instrument No. 11326433 of the mortgage records of Jefferson Parish, Louisiana and on May 17, 2013 at Mortgage Book 619,
Page 848, File No. 2013-00002215 of the mortgage records of Plaquemines Parish, Louisiana.

7. Conveyance of Overriding Royalty Interest dated March 21, 2017 from Ridgewood Energy S Fund, LLC to Rahr Energy
Investments LLC, filed on April 20, 2017 with the BOEM and on April 10, 2017 at Conveyance Book 2067, Page 275, Instrument No.
1237609 of the conveyance records of Lafourche Parish, Louisiana.
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8. Act of Mortgage, Fixture Filing, Assignment of As-Extracted Collateral, Security Agreement and Financing Statement
dated April 23, 2013 by Ridgewood Energy S Fund to Rahr Energy Investments, LLC, filed on May 30, 2013 at Mortgage Book 4576,
Page 240, Instrument No. 11326435 of the mortgage records of Jefferson Parish, Louisiana and on May 17, 2013 at Mortgage Book 620,
Page 30, File No. 2013-00002217 of the mortgage records of Plaquemines Parish, Louisiana.

9. Conveyance of Overriding Royalty Interest dated March 21, 2017 from Ridgewood Energy T Fund, LLC to Rahr Energy
Investments LLC, filed on April 20, 2017 with the BOEM and on April 10, 2017 at Conveyance Book 2067, Page 291, Instrument No.
1237610 of the conveyance records of Lafourche Parish, Louisiana.

10. Act of Mortgage, Fixture Filing, Assignment of As-Extracted Collateral, Security Agreement and Financing Statement
dated April 23, 2013 by Ridgewood Energy T Fund to Rahr Energy Investments, LLC, filed on May 30, 2013 at Mortgage Book 4576,
Page 241, Instrument No. 11326436 of the mortgage records of Jefferson Parish, Louisiana and on May 17, 2013 at Mortgage Book 620,
Page 88, File No. 2013-00002219 of the mortgage records of Plaquemines Parish, Louisiana.

11. Conveyance of Overriding Royalty Interest dated March 21, 2017 from Ridgewood Energy V Fund, LLC to Rahr Energy
Investments LLC, filed on April 20, 2017 with the BOEM and on April 10, 2017 at Conveyance Book 2067, Page 307, Instrument No.
1237611 of the conveyance records of Lafourche Parish, Louisiana.

12. Act of Mortgage, Fixture Filing, Assignment of As-Extracted Collateral, Security Agreement and Financing Statement
dated April 23, 2013 by Ridgewood Energy V Fund to Rahr Energy Investments, LLC, filed on May 30, 2013 at Mortgage Book 4576,
Page 242, Instrument No. 11326437 of the mortgage records of Jefferson Parish, Louisiana and on May 17, 2013 at Mortgage Book 620,
Page 117, File No. 2013-00002220 of the mortgage records of Plaquemines Parish, Louisiana.

13. Conveyance of Overriding Royalty Interest dated March 21, 2017 from Ridgewood Energy W Fund, LLC to Rahr Energy
Investments LLC, filed on April 20, 2017 with the BOEM and on April 10, 2017 at Conveyance Book 2067, Page 323, Instrument No.
1237612 of the conveyance records of Lafourche Parish, Louisiana.

14. Act of Mortgage, Fixture Filing, Assignment of As-Extracted Collateral, Security Agreement and Financing Statement
dated April 23, 2013 by Ridgewood Energy W Fund to Rahr Energy Investments, LLC, filed on May 30, 2013 at Mortgage Book 4576,
Page 243, Instrument No. 11326438 of the mortgage records of Jefferson Parish, Louisiana and on May 17, 2013 at Mortgage Book 620,
Page 59, File No. 2013-00002218 of the mortgage records of Plaquemines Parish, Louisiana.

[End of Exhibit “E”]
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Schedule 2.01(j)

Consents

1. the consent of Fieldwood Energy LLC (as successor in interest to Noble Energy, Inc.) with respect to the Noble Farmout
Agreement.

[End of Schedule 2.01(j)]

Schedule 2.01(k)

Preferential Rights

1. the preferential rights in favor of the parties to the Operating Agreement.

[End of Schedule 2.01(k)]

Schedule 2.01(l)

Lawsuits

1. the lawsuit filed by Gulf Marine Fabricators, LP under Docket No. 62-910 in the 25th Judicial District Court for the Parish
of Plaquemines, State of Louisiana.

[End of Schedule 2.01(l)]

[End of Agreement]

Schedules
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EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION

I, Robert E. Swanson, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Ridgewood Energy W Fund, LLC;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect
to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this
report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: August 14, 2018

/s/ ROBERT E. SWANSON
Name: Robert E. Swanson

Title: Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
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EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION

I, Kathleen P. McSherry, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Ridgewood Energy W Fund, LLC;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect
to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this
report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: August 14, 2018

/s/ KATHLEEN P. MCSHERRY
Name: Kathleen P. McSherry

Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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EXHIBIT 32

CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Ridgewood Energy W Fund, LLC (the “Fund”) for the period ended June
30, 2018, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof, (the “Report”), each of the undersigned officers of
the Fund hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. (section) 1350, as adopted pursuant to (section) 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
that to the best of their knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Fund.

Dated: August 14, 2018 /s/ ROBERT E. SWANSON
Name: Robert E. Swanson
Title: Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

Dated: August 14, 2018 /s/ KATHLEEN P. MCSHERRY
Name: Kathleen P. McSherry
Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

A signed original of this written statement or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature that
appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement has been provided to the Fund and will be retained by the
Fund and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request. The foregoing certification is being furnished
solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is not being filed as part of this report or as a separate disclosure document.
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6 Months EndedDocument and Entity
Information - shares Jun. 30, 2018 Aug. 14, 2018

Document And Entity Information Abstract
Document Type 10-Q
Amendment Flag false
Document Period End Date Jun. 30, 2018
Entity Registrant Name Ridgewood Energy W Fund LLC
Entity Central Index Key 0001409947
Current Fiscal Year End Date --12-31
Document Fiscal Year Focus 2018
Document Fiscal Period Focus Q2
Entity Filer Category Smaller Reporting Company
Entity Common Stock, Shares Outstanding 332.2918
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UNAUDITED
CONDENSED BALANCE

SHEETS - USD ($)
$ in Thousands

Jun. 30, 2018 Dec. 31, 2017

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 3,762 $ 2,056
Salvage fund 37 1,623
Production receivable 820 1,175
Other current assets 72
Total current assets 4,619 4,926
Salvage fund 2,423 699
Oil and gas properties:
Proved properties 44,586 42,646
Less: accumulated depletion and amortization (26,205) (23,119)
Total oil and gas properties, net 18,381 19,527
Total assets 25,423 25,152
Current liabilities:
Due to operators 1,226 1,072
Accrued expenses 32 46
Current portion of long-term borrowings 2,932 3,051
Asset retirement obligations 37 1,623
Other current liabilities 60 60
Total current liabilities 4,287 5,852
Long-term borrowings 4,345 5,411
Asset retirement obligations 1,986 385
Total liabilities 10,618 11,648
Commitments and contingencies (Note 5)
Members' capital:
Distributions (7,964) (7,964)
Retained earnings 9,408 8,730
Manager's total 1,444 766
Capital contributions (625 shares authorized; 332.2918 issued and outstanding) 65,965 65,965
Syndication costs (7,823) (7,823)
Distributions (48,463) (48,463)
Retained earnings 3,682 3,059
Shareholders' total 13,361 12,738
Total members' capital 14,805 13,504
Total liabilities and members' capital $ 25,423 $ 25,152
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UNAUDITED
CONDENSED BALANCE
SHEETS (Parenthetical) -

shares

Jun. 30, 2018 Dec. 31, 2017

Statement of Financial Position [Abstract]
Shares authorized 625 625
Shares issued 332.2918 332.2918
Shares outstanding 332.2918 332.2918
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3 Months Ended 6 Months EndedUNAUDITED
CONDENSED

STATEMENTS OF
OPERATIONS - USD ($)

$ in Thousands

Jun. 30, 2018 Jun. 30, 2017 Jun. 30, 2018 Jun. 30, 2017

Revenue
Oil and gas revenue $ 2,642 $ 1,862 $ 5,954 $ 3,901
Expenses
Depletion and amortization 1,508 1,872 3,086 3,585
Management fees to affiliate (Note 3) 225 225 450 450
Operating expenses 349 355 683 735
General and administrative expenses 50 50 98 93
Total expenses 2,132 2,502 4,317 4,863
Income (loss) from operations 510 (640) 1,637 (962)
Interest expense, net (168) (234) (336) (468)
Net income (loss) 342 (874) 1,301 (1,430)
Manager Interest
Net income 288 169 678 363
Shareholder Interest
Net income (loss) $ 54 $ (1,043) $ 623 $ (1,793)
Net income (loss) per share $ 163 $ (3,137) $ 1,875 $ (5,393)
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6 Months EndedUNAUDITED
CONDENSED

STATEMENTS OF CASH
FLOWS - USD ($)

$ in Thousands

Jun. 30,
2018

Jun. 30,
2017

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income (loss) $ 1,301 $ (1,430)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Depletion and amortization 3,086 3,585
Accretion expense 13 58
Amortization of debt discounts and deferred financing costs 70
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Decrease in production receivable 355 175
Decrease in other current assets 72 137
(Decrease) increase in due to operators (121) 22
Decrease in accrued expenses (14) (132)
Net cash provided by operating activities 4,692 2,485
Cash flows from investing activities
Capital expenditures for oil and gas properties (1,663) (2,484)
Increase in salvage fund (138) (1)
Net cash used in investing activities (1,801) (2,485)
Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of long-term borrowings (1,185)
Net cash used in financing activities (1,185)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,706
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 2,056 2,794
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period 3,762 2,794
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Cash paid for interest, net of amounts capitalized 340 526
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing activities
Due to operators for accrued capital expenditures for oil and gas properties $ 1,025 $ 238
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6 Months EndedOrganization and Summary
of Significant Accounting

Policies Jun. 30, 2018

Organization, Consolidation
and Presentation of
Financial Statements
[Abstract]
Organization and Summary of
Significant Accounting
Policies

1. Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Organization
The Ridgewood Energy W Fund, LLC (the “Fund”), a Delaware limited liability company, was
formed on May 17, 2007 and operates pursuant to a limited liability company agreement (the
“LLC Agreement”) dated as of June 15, 2007 by and among Ridgewood Energy Corporation
(the “Manager”) and the shareholders of the Fund, which addresses matters such as the authority
and voting rights of the Manager and shareholders, capitalization, transferability of membership
interests, participation in costs and revenues, distribution of assets and dissolution and winding
up. The Fund was organized to primarily acquire interests in oil and gas properties located in the
United States offshore waters of Texas, Louisiana and Alabama in the Gulf of Mexico.

The Manager has direct and exclusive control over the management of the Fund’s operations.
The Manager performs, or arranges for the performance of, the management, advisory and
administrative services required for the Fund’s operations. Such services include, without
limitation, the administration of shareholder accounts, shareholder relations, the preparation,
review and dissemination of tax and other financial information and the management of the Fund’s
investments in projects. In addition, the Manager provides office space, equipment and facilities
and other services necessary for the Fund’s operations. The Manager also engages and manages
contractual relations with unaffiliated custodians, depositories, accountants, attorneys, corporate
fiduciaries, insurers, banks and others as required. See Notes 3, 4 and 5.

Basis of Presentation
These unaudited interim condensed financial statements have been prepared by the Fund’s
management in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America (“GAAP”) and in the opinion of management, contain all adjustments (consisting of only
normal recurring adjustments) necessary to present fairly the Fund’s financial position, results
of operations and cash flows for the periods presented. Certain information and note disclosures
normally included in annual financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP have been
omitted in these unaudited interim condensed financial statements. The results of operations,
financial position, and cash flows for the periods presented herein are not necessarily indicative of
future financial results. These unaudited interim condensed financial statements should be read in
conjunction with the Fund’s December 31, 2017 financial statements and notes thereto included
in the Fund’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (“2017 Annual Report”) filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”). The year-end condensed balance sheet data was derived from
audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2017, but does not include all annual
disclosures required by GAAP.

Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenue and expense during the reporting period. On an ongoing basis, the Manager
reviews its estimates, including those related to the fair value of financial instruments, depletion
and amortization, determination of proved reserves, impairment of long-lived assets and asset
retirement obligations. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
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The Fund has provided discussion of significant accounting policies in Note 1 of “Notes to
Financial Statements” – “Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies”
contained in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” within its 2017 Annual
Report. There have been no significant changes to the Fund’s significant accounting policies
during the three and six months ended June 30, 2018, except as noted below for revenue
recognition. See Note 2. “Revenue Recognition” for discussion of the Fund’s updated accounting
policies related to revenue recognition for revenue from contracts with customers.

Asset Retirement Obligations
For oil and gas properties, there are obligations to perform removal and remediation activities
when the properties are retired. Upon the determination that a property is either proved or
dry, a retirement obligation is incurred. The Fund recognizes the fair value of a liability for
an asset retirement obligation in the period incurred. Plug and abandonment costs associated
with unsuccessful projects are expensed as dry-hole costs. Annually, or more frequently if an
event occurs that would dictate a change in assumptions or estimates underlying the obligations,
the Fund reassesses its asset retirement obligations to determine whether any revisions to the
obligations are necessary. The Fund maintains a salvage fund to provide for the funding of future
asset retirement obligations.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
The Fund reviews the carrying value of its oil and gas properties for impairment whenever events
and circumstances indicate that the recorded carrying value of the assets may not be recoverable.
Impairments are determined by comparing estimated future net undiscounted cash flows to the
carrying value of the assets at the time of the review. If the carrying value exceeds the estimated
future net undiscounted cash flows, the carrying value of the asset is written down to estimated
fair value, which is determined using a valuation technique that considers both market and income
approaches and using Level 3 inputs. The fair value determinations require considerable judgment
and are sensitive to change. Different pricing assumptions, reserve estimates or discount rates
could result in a different calculated impairment.

There were no impairments of oil and gas properties during each of the three and six months ended
June 30, 2018 and 2017. Fluctuations in oil and natural gas prices may impact the fair value of the
Fund’s oil and gas properties. If oil and natural gas prices decline, even if only for a short period
of time, it is possible that impairments of oil and gas properties will occur.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued accounting guidance on
revenue recognition (“New Revenue Standard”), which provides for a single five-step model to be
applied to all revenue contracts with customers. In July 2015, the FASB issued a deferral of the
effective date of the New Revenue Standard to 2018, with early adoption permitted in 2017. In
March 2016, the FASB issued accounting guidance, which clarifies the implementation guidance
on principal versus agent considerations in the New Revenue Standard. In April 2016, the FASB
issued guidance on identifying performance obligations and licensing and in May 2016, the FASB
issued final amendments which provided narrow scope improvements and practical expedients
related to the implementation of the New Revenue Standard. The New Revenue Standard may
be applied either retrospectively or through the use of a modified-retrospective method. Under
the New Revenue Standard, the revenue associated with the Fund’s existing contracts will be
recognized in the period that control of the related commodity is transferred to the customer, which
is generally consistent with the Fund’s previous revenue recognition model. The Fund adopted the
New Revenue Standard using the modified retrospective method on January 1, 2018. See Note 2.
“Revenue Recognition” for the required disclosures related to the impact of adopting this guidance
and a discussion of the Fund’s updated policies related to revenue recognition for revenue from
contracts with customers.
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6 Months EndedRevenue Recognition Jun. 30, 2018
Revenue Recognition
Revenue Recognition 2. Revenue Recognition

The Fund adopted the New Revenue Standard on January 1, 2018 using the modified retrospective
method for all new contracts entered into after January 1, 2018 and all existing contracts for which
revenues have not been recognized under the previous revenue guidance as of December 31, 2017.
Although the Fund did not identify changes to its revenue recognition that resulted in a cumulative
adjustment to retained earnings on January 1, 2018, the adoption of the accounting guidance
resulted in enhanced disclosures related to revenue recognition policies, the Fund’s performance
obligations and significant judgments used in applying the New Revenue Standard.

Revenue from Contracts with Customers
Oil and gas revenues are recognized at the point when control of oil and natural gas is transferred
to the customers. Natural gas liquid (“NGL”) sales are included within gas sales. The Fund’s oil
and natural gas generally is sold to its customers at prevailing market prices based on an index
in which the prices are published, adjusted for pricing differentials, quality of the oil and pipeline
allowances.

Oil and Gas Revenue
Generally, the Fund sells oil and natural gas under two types of agreements, which are common in
the oil and gas industry. In the first type of agreement, or a netback agreement, the Fund receives
a price, net of pricing differentials as well as transportation expense incurred by the customer, and
the Fund records revenue at the wellhead at the net price received where control transfers to the
customer. In the second type of agreement, the Fund delivers oil and natural gas to the customer
at a contractually agreed-upon delivery point where the customer takes control. The Fund pays
a third-party to transport the oil and natural gas and receives a specific market price from the
customer net of pricing adjustments. The Fund records the transportation expense within operating
expenses in the statements of operations.

Under the Fund’s natural gas processing contracts, the Fund delivers natural gas to a midstream
processing company at the inlet of the midstream processing company’s facility. The midstream
processing company gathers and processes the natural gas and remits the proceeds to the Fund
for the sale of NGLs. In this type of arrangement, the Fund evaluates whether it is the principal
or agent in the transaction. For those contracts where the Fund concluded that it is the principal
and the ultimate third-party purchaser is the customer, the Fund recognizes revenue on a gross
basis, with transportation, gathering and processing fees recorded as an expense within operating
expenses in the statements of operations.

In certain instances, the Fund may elect to take its residue gas and NGLs in-kind at the tailgate
of the midstream company’s processing plant and subsequently market such volumes. Through its
marketing process, the Fund delivers the residue gas and NGLs to the ultimate third-party customer
at a contractually agreed-upon delivery point and receives a specified market price from the
customer. In this arrangement, the Fund recognizes revenue when control transfers to the customer
at the delivery point based on the market price received from the customer. The transportation,
gathering and processing fees are recorded as expense within operating expenses in the statements
of operations.

The Fund assesses the performance obligations promised in its oil and natural gas contracts
based on each unit of oil and natural gas that will be transferred to its customer because each
unit is capable of being distinct. The Fund satisfies its performance obligation when control
transfers at a point in time when its customer is able to direct the use of, and obtain substantially
all of the benefits from, the oil and natural gas delivered. Under each of the Fund’s oil and
natural gas contracts, contract prices are variable and based on an index in which the prices
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are published, which fluctuate as a result of related industry variables, adjusted for pricing
differentials, quality of the oil and pipeline allowances. The use of index-based pricing with
predictable differentials reduces the level of uncertainty related to oil and gas prices. Additionally,
any variable consideration is not constrained. Payments are received in the month following the
oil and natural gas production month. Adjustments that occur after delivery, such as quality bank
adjustments, are reflected in revenue in the month payments are received.

Transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations
Under the Fund’s oil and natural gas contracts, each unit of oil and natural gas represents a separate
performance obligation, therefore, future volumes are wholly unsatisfied and the transaction price
related to the remaining performance obligations is the variable index-based price attributable to
each unit of oil and natural gas that is transferred to the customer.

Contract balances
The Fund invoices customers once its performance obligations have been satisfied, at which point
the payment is unconditional. Accordingly, the Fund’s oil and natural gas contracts do not give
rise to contract assets or liabilities under the New Revenue Standard. The receivables related to the
Fund’s oil and gas revenue are included within “Production receivable” on the balance sheets.

Prior period performance obligations
The Fund records oil and gas revenue in the month production is delivered to its customers.
However, settlement statements for residue gas and NGLs sales may not be received for 30
to 60 days after the date production is delivered. As a result, the Fund is required to estimate
the amount of production delivered to the purchaser and the price that will be received for the
sale of the residue gas and NGLs. The Fund records the differences between its estimates and
the actual amounts received in the month that the payment is received from the customer. The
Fund has an estimation process for revenue and related accruals, and any identified difference
between its revenue estimates and actual revenue historically have not been significant. There was
no material revenue recognized in the current period from performance obligations satisfied in
previous periods.
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6 Months EndedRelated Parties Jun. 30, 2018
Related Party Transactions
[Abstract]
Related Parties 3. Related Parties

Pursuant to the terms of the LLC Agreement, the Manager is entitled to receive an annual
management fee, payable monthly, of 2.5% of total capital contributions, net of cumulative dry-
hole and related well costs incurred by the Fund, however, the Manager is permitted to waive the
management fee at its own discretion. Therefore, the management fee may be temporarily waived
to accommodate the Fund’s short-term commitments. Management fees during each of the three
and six months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 were $0.2 million and $0.5 million, respectively.

The Manager is also entitled to receive 15% of the cash distributions from operations made by the
Fund. The Fund did not pay distributions during the three and six months ended June 30, 2018 and
2017.

The Fund utilizes Beta Sales and Transport, LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Manager, to
facilitate the transportation and sale of oil and natural gas produced from the Beta Project.

At times, short-term payables and receivables, which do not bear interest, arise from transactions
with affiliates in the ordinary course of business.

The Fund has working interest ownership in certain oil and natural gas projects, which are also
owned by other entities that are likewise managed by the Manager.
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6 Months EndedCredit Agreement - Beta
Project Financing Jun. 30, 2018

Debt Disclosure [Abstract]
Credit Agreement - Beta
Project Financing

4. Credit Agreement – Beta Project Financing

On June 1, 2018, the Fund and other participating funds managed by the Manager, Rahr Energy
Investments LLC, as administrative agent and lender (and other lenders that may become a
party thereto, collectively “Lenders”), entered into a third amendment (the “Third Amendment”),
effective as of September 1, 2018 (“Third Amendment Effective Date”), to the certain credit
agreement, dated as of November 27, 2012 (as amended by the first amendment to credit
agreement, dated September 30, 2016, and the second amendment to credit agreement and
reaffirmation of waiver, dated September 15, 2017, the “Existing Credit Agreement”, and as
amended by the Third Amendment, the “Credit Agreement”).

The Third Amendment extends the loan maturity from December 31, 2020 to December 31, 2022,
revises the interest rate and requires a monthly payment amount based on a fixed percentage of
the Fund’s Net Revenue, as defined in the Credit Agreement, derived from the Beta Project. The
fixed percentage and interest rate will be determined based on the Fund’s ratio of outstanding
debt to working interest ownership in the Beta Project. Beginning on September 1, 2018 up to
and including March 31, 2019, the Fund’s fixed percentage will be at a rate that is based on the
ratio of outstanding debt to working interest determined at that time, as scheduled in the Credit
Agreement. Beginning on April 1, 2019 and each April 1st thereafter, the Fund’s fixed percentage
will be the greater of (i) the rate determined on September 1, 2018 or (ii) the Fixed Reassessment
Percentage, as defined in the Credit Agreement. The Fixed Reassessment Percentage is determined
annually and will be based on the Fund’s ratio of its outstanding debt as of the reassessment date
relative to 80% of third-party reserve engineers’ proved plus probable future undiscounted cash
flows attributable to the Beta Project through the maturity of the loan. Beginning on the Third
Amendment Effective Date and thereafter until the loan is repaid in full, in no event later than
December 31, 2022, the loan will bear interest at a rate that is based on the ratio of outstanding
debt to working interest determined at that time, as scheduled in the Credit Agreement.

The Fund reviewed the terms of the Third Amendment and determined that the conditions
have been met, pursuant to Accounting Standard Codification 470-50 Debt: Modification and
Extinguishments (“ASC 470-50”) guidance, to treat the Third Amendment as a debt
extinguishment in a non-troubled debt restructuring. Pursuant to ASC 470-50 guidance, the new
debt instrument shall be initially recorded at fair value and a gain or loss on extinguishment of debt
will be recognized.

As of June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the Fund had borrowings of $7.3 million and $8.5
million, respectively, under the Existing Credit Agreement. The loan may be prepaid by the Fund
without premium or penalty.

There were no unamortized debt discounts and deferred financing costs as of June 30, 2018 and
December 31, 2017. Amortization expense during the three and six months ended June 30, 2017
of $35 thousand and $0.1 million, respectively, were expensed and included on the statements of
operations within “Interest expense, net”. There were no such amounts recorded during the three
and six months ended June 30, 2018.

As of June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, there were no accrued interest costs outstanding.
Interest costs incurred during each of the three months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 of $0.2
million were expensed and included on the statements of operations within “Interest expense, net”.
Interest costs incurred during the six months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 of $0.3 million and
$0.4 million, respectively, were expensed and included on the statements of operations within
“Interest expense, net”.
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As additional consideration to the Lenders, the Fund has agreed to convey an overriding royalty
interest (“ORRI”) in its working interest in the Beta Project to the Lenders. The Third Amendment
fixes the Fund’s ORRI assigned to the Lenders at 8.16%. Such ORRI will not become payable to
the Lenders until January 1, 2023. The Existing Credit Agreement contains customary covenants,
with which the Fund was in compliance as of June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017.
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6 Months EndedCommitments and
Contingencies Jun. 30, 2018

Commitments and
Contingencies Disclosure
[Abstract]
Commitments and
Contingencies

5. Commitments and Contingencies

Capital Commitments
As of June 30, 2018, the Fund’s estimated capital commitments related to its oil and gas properties
were $5.4 million (which include asset retirement obligations for the Fund’s projects of $3.1
million), of which $1.4 million is expected to be spent during the next twelve months, primarily
related to the continued development of the Beta Project. Future results of operations and cash
flows are dependent on the continued successful development and the related production of oil and
gas revenues from the Beta Project.

Based upon its current cash position and its current reserve estimates, the Fund expects cash flow
from operations to be sufficient to cover its commitments, borrowing repayments and ongoing
operations. Reserve estimates are projections based on engineering data that cannot be measured
with precision, require substantial judgment, and are subject to frequent revision. However, if
cash flow from operations is not sufficient to meet the Fund’s commitments, the Manager will
temporarily waive all or a portion of the management fee as well as provide short-term financing
to accommodate the Fund’s short-term commitments if needed.

Environmental and Governmental Regulations
Many aspects of the oil and gas industry are subject to federal, state and local environmental laws
and regulations. The Manager and operators of the Fund’s properties are continually taking action
they believe appropriate to satisfy applicable federal, state and local environmental regulations.
However, due to the significant public and governmental interest in environmental matters related
to those activities, the Manager cannot predict the effects of possible future legislation, rule
changes, or governmental or private claims. As of June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, there
were no known environmental contingencies that required adjustment to, or disclosure in, the
Fund’s financial statements.

Oil and gas industry legislation and administrative regulations are periodically changed for a
variety of political, economic, and other reasons. Any such future laws and regulations could result
in increased compliance costs or additional operating restrictions, which could have a material
adverse effect on the Fund’s operating results and cash flows. It is not possible at this time to
predict whether such legislation or regulation, if proposed, will be adopted as initially written, if at
all, or how legislation or new regulation that may be adopted would impact the Fund’s business.

BOEM Notice to Lessees on Supplemental Bonding
On July 14, 2016, the Bureau of Ocean Energy Management (“BOEM”) issued a Notice to Lessees
(“NTL”) that discontinued and materially replaced existing policies and procedures regarding
financial security (i.e. supplemental bonding) for decommissioning obligations of lessees of
federal oil and gas leases and owners of pipeline rights-of-way, rights-of use and easements
on the Outer Continental Shelf (“Lessees”). Generally, the new NTL (i) ended the practice
of excusing Lessees from providing such additional security where co-lessees had sufficient
financial strength to meet such decommissioning obligations, (ii) established new criteria for
determining financial strength and additional security requirements of such Lessees, (iii) provided
acceptable forms of such additional security and (iv) replaced the waiver system with one of
self-insurance. The new rule became effective as of September 12, 2016; however on January 6,
2017, the BOEM announced that it was suspending the implementation timeline for six months in
certain circumstances. On June 22, 2017, the BOEM announced that the implementation timeline
extension will remain in effect pending the completion of its review of the new NTL. The Fund, as
well as other industry participants, are working with the BOEM, its operators and working interest
partners to determine and agree upon the correct level of decommissioning obligations to which
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they may be liable and the manner in which such obligations will be secured. The impact of the
NTL, if enforced without change or amendment, may require the Fund to fully secure all of its
potential abandonment liabilities to the BOEM’s satisfaction using one or more of the enumerated
methods for doing so. Potentially this could increase costs to the Fund if the Fund is required to
obtain additional supplemental bonding, fund escrow accounts or obtain letters of credit.

Insurance Coverage
The Fund is subject to all risks inherent in the oil and natural gas business. Insurance coverage
as is customary for entities engaged in similar operations is maintained, but losses may occur
from uninsurable risks or amounts in excess of existing insurance coverage. The occurrence of an
event that is not insured or not fully insured could have a material adverse impact upon earnings
and financial position. Moreover, insurance is obtained as a package covering all of the entities
managed by the Manager. Depending on the extent, nature and payment of claims made by the
Fund or other entities managed by the Manager, yearly insurance coverage may be exhausted and
become insufficient to cover a claim by the Fund in a given year.
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6 Months EndedSubsequent Events Jun. 30, 2018
Subsequent Events
[Abstract]
Subsequent Events 6. Subsequent Events

On August 10, 2018, the Fund entered into a purchase and sale agreement (“PSA”) to sell a portion
of the Fund’s working interest in the Beta Project to Walter Oil & Gas Corporation and Gordy Oil
Company (collectively the “Buyers”) with an effective date of January 1, 2018. Certain other funds
managed by the Manager were also parties to the PSA. The Fund has a 3.0% working interest in
the Beta Project and sold a 0.11% working interest to the Buyers for a total purchase price of $1.0
million in cash, subject to purchase price and customary post-closing adjustments. The transaction
closed on August 10, 2018 and the Fund received $0.9 million in cash, which included preliminary
purchase price adjustments primarily related to the net cash flows from the effective date to the
closing date.

The net carrying value of the working interest sold as of the closing date was approximately $0.7
million and the related asset retirement obligation was approximately $12 thousand. A gain to the
Fund of approximately $0.3 million will be recognized in third quarter 2018, subject to customary
post-closing adjustments. The proceeds from the sale are required to be utilized to repay a portion
of the Existing Credit Agreement.

In conjunction with the sale and the repayment of the existing agreement, on August 10, 2018,
the Fund and other participating funds managed by the Manager, entered into a fourth amendment
(the “Fourth Amendment”) effective as of September 1, 2018 (“Fourth Amendment Effective
Date”), to the Credit Agreement. The Fourth Amendment principally reduces the schedule of fixed
percentage depending on the Fund’s ratio of outstanding debt to working interest ownership, which
is the basis for the calculation of the monthly payment amount, and amends the interest calculation.
The Fund is currently evaluating the impact of the Fourth Amendment on its financial statements.
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6 Months EndedOrganization and Summary
of Significant Accounting

Policies (Policy) Jun. 30, 2018

Organization, Consolidation
and Presentation of
Financial Statements
[Abstract]
Basis of Presentation Basis of Presentation

These unaudited interim condensed financial statements have been prepared by the Fund’s
management in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America (“GAAP”) and in the opinion of management, contain all adjustments (consisting of only
normal recurring adjustments) necessary to present fairly the Fund’s financial position, results
of operations and cash flows for the periods presented. Certain information and note disclosures
normally included in annual financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP have been
omitted in these unaudited interim condensed financial statements. The results of operations,
financial position, and cash flows for the periods presented herein are not necessarily indicative of
future financial results. These unaudited interim condensed financial statements should be read in
conjunction with the Fund’s December 31, 2017 financial statements and notes thereto included
in the Fund’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (“2017 Annual Report”) filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”). The year-end condensed balance sheet data was derived from
audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2017, but does not include all annual
disclosures required by GAAP.

Use of Estimates Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenue and expense during the reporting period. On an ongoing basis, the Manager
reviews its estimates, including those related to the fair value of financial instruments, depletion
and amortization, determination of proved reserves, impairment of long-lived assets and asset
retirement obligations. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

Asset Retirement Obligations Asset Retirement Obligations
For oil and gas properties, there are obligations to perform removal and remediation activities
when the properties are retired. Upon the determination that a property is either proved or
dry, a retirement obligation is incurred. The Fund recognizes the fair value of a liability for
an asset retirement obligation in the period incurred. Plug and abandonment costs associated
with unsuccessful projects are expensed as dry-hole costs. Annually, or more frequently if an
event occurs that would dictate a change in assumptions or estimates underlying the obligations,
the Fund reassesses its asset retirement obligations to determine whether any revisions to the
obligations are necessary. The Fund maintains a salvage fund to provide for the funding of future
asset retirement obligations.

Impairment of Long-Lived
Assets

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
The Fund reviews the carrying value of its oil and gas properties for impairment whenever events
and circumstances indicate that the recorded carrying value of the assets may not be recoverable.
Impairments are determined by comparing estimated future net undiscounted cash flows to the
carrying value of the assets at the time of the review. If the carrying value exceeds the estimated
future net undiscounted cash flows, the carrying value of the asset is written down to estimated
fair value, which is determined using a valuation technique that considers both market and income
approaches and using Level 3 inputs. The fair value determinations require considerable judgment
and are sensitive to change. Different pricing assumptions, reserve estimates or discount rates
could result in a different calculated impairment.

There were no impairments of oil and gas properties during each of the three and six months ended
June 30, 2018 and 2017. Fluctuations in oil and natural gas prices may impact the fair value of the
Fund’s oil and gas properties. If oil and natural gas prices decline, even if only for a short period
of time, it is possible that impairments of oil and gas properties will occur.
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Recent Accounting
Pronouncements

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued accounting guidance on
revenue recognition (“New Revenue Standard”), which provides for a single five-step model to be
applied to all revenue contracts with customers. In July 2015, the FASB issued a deferral of the
effective date of the New Revenue Standard to 2018, with early adoption permitted in 2017. In
March 2016, the FASB issued accounting guidance, which clarifies the implementation guidance
on principal versus agent considerations in the New Revenue Standard. In April 2016, the FASB
issued guidance on identifying performance obligations and licensing and in May 2016, the FASB
issued final amendments which provided narrow scope improvements and practical expedients
related to the implementation of the New Revenue Standard. The New Revenue Standard may
be applied either retrospectively or through the use of a modified-retrospective method. Under
the New Revenue Standard, the revenue associated with the Fund’s existing contracts will be
recognized in the period that control of the related commodity is transferred to the customer, which
is generally consistent with the Fund’s previous revenue recognition model. The Fund adopted the
New Revenue Standard using the modified retrospective method on January 1, 2018. See Note 2.
“Revenue Recognition” for the required disclosures related to the impact of adopting this guidance
and a discussion of the Fund’s updated policies related to revenue recognition for revenue from
contracts with customers.
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3 Months Ended 6 Months EndedRelated Parties (Details) -
USD ($)

$ in Thousands
Jun. 30,

2018
Jun. 30,

2017
Jun. 30,

2018
Jun. 30,

2017
Related Party Transactions [Abstract]
Annual management fee percentage rate 2.50% 2.50%
Annual management fees paid to Fund Manager $ 225 $ 225 $ 450 $ 450
Percentage of total distributions allocated to Fund
Manager 15.00% 15.00%
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3 Months Ended 6 Months EndedCredit Agreement - Beta
Project Financing (Details) -

USD ($)
$ in Thousands

Jun. 30,
2018

Jun. 30,
2017

Jun. 30,
2018

Jun. 30,
2017

Dec. 31,
2017

Debt Disclosure [Abstract]
Credit agreement, maturity date Dec. 31,

2022
Long-term borrowings $ 7,300 $ 7,300 $ 8,500
Unamortized debt discounts and deferred
financing costs
Amortization of financing costs $ 35 $ 100
Accrued interest
Interest expense $ 200 $ 200 $ 300 $ 400
Overriding royalty interest 8.16% 8.16%
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6 Months
EndedCommitments and

Contingencies (Details)
$ in Thousands Jun. 30, 2018

USD ($)
Commitments and Contingencies Disclosure [Abstract]
Commitments for the drilling and development of investment properties $ 5,400
Commitments for asset retirement obligations included in estimated capital commitments 3,100
Commitments for the drilling and development of investment properties expected to be incurred
in the next 12 months $ 1,400
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1 Months EndedSubsequent Events (Details)
- Subsequent Event

[Member] - Beta Project
[Member]

$ in Thousands

Aug. 10, 2018
USD ($)

Working interest percentage 3.00%
Working interest acquired by buyers 0.11%
Total purchase price $ 1,000
Cash received 900
Carrying value 700
Asset retirement obligation 12
Future Quarter [Member]
Gain on sale $ 300
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